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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC FORM 17-A, ASAMENDED

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION

SECTION 141 OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES

1. For the fiscal year ended: DECEMBER 31. 2010

2. SEC Identification Number: CS200811530

3. BIRTax Identification No.: 007-085-191-000

4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

5. Province, Country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: PHILIPPINES

6. Industry Classification Code: |~ 1 (SEC Use Only)

7. Address of principal office Postal Code

6th Floor. NAC Centre. 143 Dcla Rosa Street. 1229

Legaspi Village, Makati City

8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: +63 2 892 6669 / +63 2 892 4177

9. Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report.

Not Applicable

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of the RSA

Title of Each Class

Common Stock

Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding

and Amount of Debt Outstanding

1.339.831.828 Shares

Long-term Debt Php 1.544.250.848

11. Arc any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange.

YesfX] No [ ]

Ifyes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:

PHILIPPINE STOCK EXCHANGE Common Stock

12. Check whether the issuer:

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17. j thereunder or

Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule ll(a)-l thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of The Corporation

Code of the Philippines during tho preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that the

registrant was required to file such reports);

Yes [X] No | ]

(h) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days.

Yes [X] No [ ]

13. State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant.

As of December 31, 2010, 362,471,758 shares with a market price of PI 6.30 or an aggregate amount

of P5,908,289,655 were held by non-affiliates.
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PART I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

Item 1. BusinessA. Corporate ProfileNickel Asia Corporation (the Company) was originally formed and operated as a British Virgin Islands(BVI) company (referred to herein as “NAC BVI”) in 2006 by combining Hinatuan Mining Corporation(HMC; which owned majority stakes in Taganito Mining Corporation (TMC) and Cagdianao MiningCorporation (CMC)) and Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (RTN) under a single corporate umbrellaand senior management team.  On July 24, 2008, we registered Nickel Asia Corporation (referred to in thisparagraph as “NAC Philippines”) with the Philippine SEC and in March 2009, pursuant to a plan of mergerbetween NAC Philippines and NAC BVI, we reorganized to make NAC Philippines the holding company ofNAC BVI’s subsidiaries.The Company owns four operating mines, all of which are located in the southern half of the Philippines.RTN was incorporated in 1969 to develop the nickel ore deposits discovered at the Rio Tuba mine site in1967. It was granted rights over the Rio Tuba property in 1970 and commenced mining in 1975. RTNmade its first commercial shipment in 1977.HMC was incorporated in 1979 and was granted rights over the Taganaan property in 1980. Developmentof the property commenced in 1981 and the first commercial shipment from the Taganaan mine wasmade in 1982. The size of the property was expanded in 1983 with the acquisition of additional claims onadjacent properties.  HMC temporarily suspended operations at the Taganaan mine from April 2001 toJanuary 2006 due to depletion of high-grade saprolite ore reserves.In 2001, HMC acquired the right to mine the saprolite ore at the South Dinagat mine and undertook tostockpile the limonite ore for Pacific Nickel Philippines, Inc., the owner of the property.  HMC haltedoperations at the South Dinagat mine in October 2007 due to substantial depletion of saprolite orereserves. HMC acquired the rights over the Taganito and Manicani properties in 1986 and 1987,respectively.TMC was incorporated and acquired the Taganito property from HMC in 1987. The first commercialshipments from the Taganito and Manicani mines were made in 1989 and 1992, respectively. Operationsat the Manicani mine were halted in 1994 due to low nickel prices and, with the exception of a briefperiod of operation in 2001 and three shipments from existing stockpiles in 2004 and 2005, the mine hasbeen inactive since then.CMC was incorporated in 1997 and acquired the right to operate the Cagdianao mine in 1998.B. Business Overview
Principal Products and ServicesWe are one of the largest global suppliers of lateritic nickel ore, and the largest nickel mining company inthe Philippines, where we accounted for over one-half of the country’s nickel ore exports in 2009.  At eachof our mines at our Rio Tuba, Taganito, Cagdianao and Taganaan sites, we are able to employ a low-costopen pit mining method, without the need for explosives, chemicals or complex waste handling, to extracttwo types of nickel ore: limonite ore, which occurs at the upper layer of the deposit and generally consistsof lower nickel and higher iron content; and saprolite ore, which is generally found beneath the limonitelayer and typically consists of higher nickel and lower iron content.  Since we began commercialoperations in 1977 through 2010, we have delivered over 60 million WMT of saprolite ore and limoniteore to our customers.  As of December 31, 2010, our mines had proved and probable saprolite orereserves of 41.3 million WMT with an average grade of 1.80% nickel, and proved and probable limoniteore reserves (including stockpiles) of 178.4 million WMT with an average grade of 1.12% nickel, in eachcase as estimated in accordance with the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code (PMRC).
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We supply different grades of saprolite ore and limonite ore to multiple customers, which use the ore toproduce intermediate products for the manufacture of stainless steel and for the production of nickelcathodes.  Our margins on sales of nickel ore vary depending on the type and grade of nickel ore that wesell, with high-grade saprolite ore providing higher margins than low-grade saprolite ore and limoniteore.We sell our nickel ore to the following customers:
 Pacific Metals Co. Ltd. (PAMCO). We sell all of our high-grade saprolite ore and a portion of our low-grade saprolite ore to PAMCO under long-term supply agreements.  PAMCO is the largest ferronickelproducer in Japan. We have been selling saprolite ore to PAMCO since 1977.
 Chinese customers. We sell a portion of our low-grade saprolite and both high- and low-gradelimonite ore to Chinese customers, primarily DH Kingstone, a major Chinese trading company; andBaosteel Resources, a leading Chinese steel producing company.  Our Chinese customers use our orefor the production of NPI, which is a substitute for traditional ferronickel products used in theproduction of stainless steel.
 Coral Bay Nickel Corporation (CBNC). We sell low-grade limonite ore from our Rio Tuba mine to theadjacent Coral Bay HPAL facility under a long-term supply agreement. The facility is owned by CBNC,which is a subsidiary of Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. Ltd. (SMM), a Japan-based refiner of copper, gold,nickel, and zinc.  We have a 6% effective equity interest in CBNC.Prior to 2005, the Company focused primarily on sales of high-grade saprolite ore and stockpiled much ofthe limonite ore that we removed as overburden to access the saprolite ore.  However, since thecommencement of NPI production in China and the completion of the Coral Bay HPAL facility in 2005, wehave developed a second major revenue stream through our sales of limonite ore to Chinese customersand to CBNC.  In June 2009, the Coral Bay HPAL facility’s design capacity was doubled to 20,000 tonnes ofcontained nickel per year, further increasing our limonite ore sales to CBNC.To further expand the Company’s sales of limonite ore and increase our exposure to downstream nickelprocessing, we have partnered with SMM and Mitsui and have commenced construction of a new HPALfacility adjacent to our Taganito mine.Additionally, the Company also generates revenue from the sale of limestone and providing contractualservices to CBNC.
The following table summarizes percentages of our revenues by year and region for the past three
fiscal years:

Year
Japan China Philippines (CBNC) Total

Saprolite Limonite Total Saprolite Limonite Total Saprolite Limonite Total Saprolite Limonite Total
2010 34% 34% 30% 16% 46% 20% 20% 64% 36% 100%
2009 35% - 35% 19% 26% 44% - 21% 21% 54% 46% 100%
2008 64% - 64% 14% 7% 21% - 15% 15% 79% 21% 100%

CompetitionWe compete with both domestic Philippine nickel ore suppliers and foreign nickel ore suppliers(primarily from Indonesia) in world nickel ore markets. Domestic competitors are CTP Construction &Mining, Toledo Mining, and Platinum Group Metals Corp, while foreign competitors mainly include PTAneka Tambang.Geographic area in which we compete (Information and data provided by CRU Strategies):
Nickel consumption in China—Nickel Pig Iron (NPI) production began in China in early 2005, as a quickresponse to a shortage of nickel and increasing nickel prices due to rising demand. China had a largenumber of small, obsolete blast furnaces (smaller than 200m3), built to produce pig iron, which thegovernment had ordered to be closed down for environmental reasons. However, small ferroalloy blastfurnaces of 100-200m3 were still allowed to operate. The Chinese began to use these blast furnaces tosmelt low grade laterite ores, imported mainly from the Philippines, New Caledonia and Indonesia.
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A distinctive feature of the NPI industry in China is that the equipment to manufacture NPI was readilyavailable in the form of small-scale blast furnaces redundant to the needs of China’s modern-day steelindustry. When the London Metal Exchange (LME) cash price for nickel fell approximately 37% (innominal terms) between the second and third quarters of 2007, an additional stage of refining was addedby some NPI producers, which enabled a slightly higher nickel content product to be produced. NPIproduction from the BF process has a nickel content of around 2-8%. Since then some NPI producers havesupplemented such plants by installing EAF and sinter units to produce a low grade FeNi, which is alsoproduced from the higher-grade nickel laterite imported ores, with up to 15% contained nickel.Nickel consumption in China totaled 460,000 tonnes in 2009, with 339,000 tonnes consumed in theproduction of stainless steel. Before 2000, the demand for nickel in China was almost entirely for theproduction of copper-nickel alloys and other applications outside the stainless steel industry. However,since that time there has been very fast growth in the production of stainless steel in China, initially forexport but increasingly for domestic consumption. China’s growing NPI production capabilities andincreasing appetite for stainless steel for domestic consumption have made China the fastest growingnational market for nickel in the world. China is the only country in the world which produces NPI.
Nickel consumption in Japan—Japan does not possess any nickel resources and therefore does not have adomestic nickel mining industry. However, Japan plays an important role in the global nickel industry. In2009, primary nickel consumption was 128,100 tonnes or 10% of global consumption. Japan imports allits nickel requirements for further processing via long-term contracts as well as its own stakes in nickelmining operations overseas. In 2009 nearly 60% of Japan’s nickel ore and concentrate imports came fromIndonesia and approximately 25% came from the Philippines.Demand for nickel comes from the stainless steel industry in Japan. During the period 2007 to 2009, themarket share of austenitic stainless steel (containing nickel) production in Japan rose from 58.1% to62.7%, indicating a decline in non-nickel containing 400 series grades at the height of the global economicdownturn. However, Japanese production of 400 series stainless steel is expected to rise significantlyfrom 2010 onwards. Japanese stainless steel producers have been developing new 400 series grades ofstainless steel, prompted by high nickel prices in recent years. They appear to be quite successful indeveloping these grades, which are said to have similar properties to more conventional 300 seriesgrades but are less costly due to the lack of nickel. However, the market is expected to remain focused onthe 300 series grade, which is forecast to account for 54.8% of Japan’s stainless steel production in 2010.There may be potential for NPI in the Japanese stainless steel sector. In 2007 there were reports of onemill importing NPI from China and using it in production, although these imports have been for trialpurposes and not in large quantities. Japanese stainless steel producers continue to look for ways toreduce costs. The current free iron and chromium contained in NPI could provide a wider market for NPIoutside of China, such as Japan.Japan is by far the largest producer of FeNi, with Nippon Yakin, PAMCO and SMM producing 59,000tonnes combined in 2009. The majority of this production is exported to China for use in refined nickelproduction. PAMCO was the third largest FeNi producer in 2009 (32,000 tonnes), bested only by CerroMatoso in Colombia (52,000 tonnes) and Eramet’s Doniambo plant in New Caledonia (38,000 tonnes).Nickel Trade (Information and data provided by CRU Strategies)
Trade of nickel ore and concentrates—China’s production of refined nickel depends on both domestic oreproduction and imported raw material. However, domestic output of nickel ore is limited. Jinchuan,China’s largest nickel producer reports to have a maximum production capacity of 80,000 tonnes peryear. Therefore, further growth in Chinese refined nickel output depends on the availability of rawmaterial imports. In 2009, the country imported 16.5 million WMT of nickel ore and concentrates, a 34%increase on 2008.Looking forward to 2012, China and Japan will remain dependent on imported nickel ore. In China, nickeldemand is forecast to be consistently larger than domestic mine production, and no large-scale newmines are to be built or expansions of existing capacity to come on-stream, leaving Chinese consumers of
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nickel ore largely dependent on imports. In the future, Chinese and Japanese nickel refineries willcontinue to seek new opportunities overseas to secure supplies. Indeed, last year Jinchuan took acontrolling stake in Zambia’s Munali mine, although no known shipments of concentrates have takenplace thus far.China and Japan accounted for an estimated 90% of total nickel ore and concentrate imports, whileIndonesia and the Philippines accounted for about 95% of world nickel ore and concentrate exports in2009. Looking forward to 2012, this trend is expected to continue.Outlook For Nickel (Information and data provided by CRU Strategies)
Supply/demand balances and inventories—2009 ended with demand for nickel slowing and amplesupplies and inventories at a high level. There have been some subtle changes to this picture so far in2010. World nickel demand is currently higher than it has been since the market downturn began in mid-2008 and production constrained by a strike at Vale Inco’s Canadian nickel mines and delays to newproject start-ups. As a result the nickel market moved from a surplus of 7,900 tonnes in the fourth quarterof 2009 to an estimated deficit of 31,500 tonnes in the second quarter of 2010. Inventories are still high,but are now following a downward trend, moving from 291,000 tonnes in the fourth quarter of 2009 toan estimated 249,800 tonnes by the close of the second quarter of 2010.World demand is expected to pick up speed again in the next few months, and to register year-on-yeargrowth of 11.8% in 2010. Meanwhile, production will also grow, on the back of capacity reactivations inparticular, but at a reduced rate of 4.2%. The result will be a market deficit of approximately 55,700tonnes for 2010, which should allow further reductions in industry inventories. Nevertheless, atapproximately fourteen (14) weeks at year-end 2010, the inventory/consumption ratio will still remainrelatively high by historical standards. The average inventory/consumption ratio between 2000 and 2009was approximately eleven (11) weeks. The next two years should also see growth in demand outpace theexpansion in production. Market deficits of around 44,400 tonnes and 36,000 tonnes are thereforeforecast for 2011 and 2012 respectively and the stock/consumption ratio should be reduced to a low ofapproximately eight (8) weeks by the end of 2012.Stainless steel production will continue to be the key to demand for primary nickel. The ultimatedeterminant of nickel demand is the final demand for stainless steel in finished products. Nickel demandis also affected by the drive to economize on nickel use in final products. High prices and supplydifficulties have been a recurrent concern for end-users. The extent to which the stainless steel sectoruses nickel is reflected in the austenitic ratio. This ratio fell to 73% in 2007, one of the lowest on record,due more to the replacement of nickel-containing stainless steels with lower nickel content grades than adeparture from the use of nickel-containing stainless steels altogether. Non-nickel containing grades ofstainless steel may currently be experiencing a boost due to higher nickel prices thus far in 2010.However, the longer-term shift is smaller as their current share of the world market has not shifted far, atnearly 25% in 2009, from where it was in the 1990s.
Prices—The LME nickel cash price reached $23.67/pound ($52,197/tonne) in May 2007, which ishistorically the highest the price had ever reached. However, by December 2007 the price had dropped toan average of $11.79/pound ($25,992/tonne) and peaked again in March 2008, at an average of$14.16/pound ($31,225/tonne).With the onset of the global financial downturn in mid-2008, the LME nickel cash price slid back to$4.40/pound ($9,696/tonne) by December 2008. While prices sporadically rallied for most of 2009, theyearly average cash price for 2009 was more than 60% lower than that of 2007.In 2010, as market fundamentals have started to improve, sentiment has become gradually more upbeatand funds and speculators have once again entered the market looking to buy nickel on the back of amore optimistic outlook for the metal. The involvement of investors in the market can cause additionalvolatility, as they often buy up large volumes of inventory when prices are expected to rise. Thecombination of these factors drove the LME cash price higher and, as a result, ending the year at a price of$11.32/pound ($24,950/tonne).
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In 2011 and 2012, the nickel market is expected to remain in deficit, leading to a more substantialreduction in inventories. The downward trend in inventories is expected to lead to a furtherimprovement in prices and we expect LME cash nickel to average $11.31/pound ($24,934/tonne) in 2011and $11.86/pound ($26,147/tonne) in 2012.Key Strengths of the Company
Profitability underpinned by low cost production—The foundation of our business is our ability to operateprofitably through the commodity price cycle because of our low costs. We rank favorably in terms ofmining costs when compared to other nickel mining companies.  There are a number of factors thataccount for our low cost position:
 We benefit from favorable geologic conditions at all of our four mines. Our lateritic nickel depositsare near-surface, blanket-like layered deposits with minimal overburden and generally five (5) tothirty (30) meters thick, enabling us to conduct simple open-pit mining using trucks and loaderswithout blasting, the use of chemicals or complex waste handling.
 Historically, there was generally no market for our limonite ore, which needs to first be extracted inorder to mine the more valuable saprolite ore. There was also no market for lower grades of saproliteore. Limonite ore was then regarded as overburden and placed in stockpiles, while we undertookselective mining of high-grade saprolite ore, leading to relatively high mining costs. Since 2005, wehave found customers for our limonite ore with the development of the China NPI market and thecommissioning of the Coral Bay HPAL facility. Since 2008, we have also experienced increasingdemand from our customers for our low-grade saprolite ore. Our ability to sell limonite ore ratherthan place it in stockpiles as waste, and our ability to sell lower grades of saprolite ore allows us tomine in a more efficient manner and reduces the unit cost per WMT of nickel ore that we mine, thusimproving our profitability. The anticipated commencement of commercial operations of theTaganito HPAL facility in 2013 is expected to add an additional outlet for our limonite ore.
 On average, the nickel deposits at our four operating mines are located within three to sevenkilometers from the applicable tidewater loading area, enabling easy hauling and transportation bybarges and LCTs to our customers’ ships. We own ten barges and seven landing craft transport (LCTs)and lease additional barges and LCTs as needed. The short hauling distance from our miningoperations to our loading facilities substantially contributes to our favorable cost position.
 Because our lateritic nickel deposits are near surface and relatively shallow, the rehabilitation of ourmining areas is a straightforward process. The process generally involves re-contouring of the minedareas, replacing the overburden and planting foliage. We undertake progressive rehabilitation of ourmined areas in order to spread costs, and the nature of our deposits results in a relativelymanageable level of rehabilitation costs.
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and SuppliesThe main supplies that we require to operate our business include diesel fuel, tires and spare parts forour mining equipment. We buy diesel fuel from Petron Corporation and heavy mining equipment such astrucks and excavators from two manufacturers, Volvo and Komatsu, through their Philippine distributors.In addition, we lease barges for use at our Taganaan and Cagdianao sites during the shipping season. Webelieve that there are a number of alternative suppliers for all of our requirements.
Related Party TransactionsAll sales to, and purchases from, related parties are made at prevailing market prices. Outstandingyearend balances pertain to the extension and receipt of, and advances to and from, related parties. Forfurther information, such as outstanding advance balances, see note 32 to our audited consolidatedfinancial statements. These balances are unsecured, short-term and interest-free, and settlement occursin cash.
Nickel Ore Supply Agreements with PAMCO—We are party to nickel ore supply agreements with PAMCO.PAMCO has a 1.49% ownership interest in the Company and also owns 36% of our subsidiary, RTN, and33.5% of our subsidiary, TMC.
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Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC—We are party to a nickel ore supply agreement with CBNC. Wehave an effective 6% equity interest in CBNC.
Service Agreements with CBNC—RTN has entered into various service agreements with CBNC pertainingto tailings dam construction and materials handling, among other things.
Other Receivables from SMM—SMM indirectly owns 26% of our outstanding equity securities. As ofDecember 31, 2010, we had receivables from SMM amounting to P=58.1 million with respect toreimbursable costs and expenses advanced to SMM by us.
Funding Commitment with SMM—RTN’s long-term debt was incurred to complete infrastructure projectsto support the development of the Coral Bay HPAL facility. These projects included the causeway, trestlesand dolphins in the Rio Tuba foreshore and offshore areas.
CBNC Stockholder Agreement—On July 1, 2002, RTN, along with the other stockholders of CBNC, agreed tomake loans to CBNC or guarantee the repayment of CBNC’s loans obligation in accordance with thefinancial requirements of CBNC, in proportion to their shareholding ratio in CBNC. RTN owns 10% ofCBNC’s outstanding capital stock.In a separate agreement dated October 22, 2002, SMM, which owns 54% of CBNC, agreed to assumeRTN’s obligation to make loans to, or guarantee the repayment of, CBNC’s loans obligations. RTN, inconsideration for this agreement, pays SMM an annual guarantee fee of 1% of CBNC’s outstanding loansobligation. The guarantee fee is recorded as part of “General and administrative expenses” in ourconsolidated statement of income.
Taganito HPAL Stockholders’ Agreement—On September 15, 2010, NAC, SMM and Mitsui and Co., Ltd(Mitsui) executed the Taganito HPAL Nickel Stockholders Agreement, pursuant to which the partiesformed a joint venture company, Taganito HPAL Nickel, to build and operate a plant in BarangayTaganito, Claver, Surigao del Norte for the purpose of producing and selling nickel-cobalt mixed sulfide tobe used for the production electrolytic nickel and electrolytic cobalt.Pursuant the Taganito HPAL Nickel Stockholders Agreement, SMM granted Taganito HPAL Nickel a non-exclusive license of technology owned by SMM to produce the Products and has undertaken to providetechnical assistance to Taganito HPAL Nickel. NAC has undertaken to cause TMC to supply Taganito HPALNickel with nickel ore and limestone and to further cause TMC to make available to Taganito HPAL Nickelthe use of the land and infrastructure necessary for the production of the Products while Mitsui shallassist Taganito HPAL Nickel in procuring materials and equipment necessary for the mine’s operations.The Taganito HPAL Nickel Stockholders Agreement shall terminate upon the dissolution of TaganitoHPAL Nickel.
Royalties

 Government royalties. Because the Taganito, Cagdianao, Taganaan and South Dinagat mines arelocated within the Surigao Mineral Reservation, we are obliged to pay the Philippine government aroyalty of 5% of our gross revenue from sales of ore from each mine.
 Excise tax. An excise tax of 2% of gross revenue on all export sales is payable to the Philippinegovernment. Our sales to the Coral Bay HPAL facility constitute export sales.
 Claim owner royalties. We operate the Cagdianao mine and operated South Dinagat mine underoperating agreements with the claim owners, East Coast and Pacific Nickel, respectively. Under theseagreements we have the right to operate the mine, subject to the payment of a royalty to the claimowner, which is 8.75% of gross revenue from the Cagdianao mine and 12.5% of gross revenue fromthe South Dinagat mine. We made one shipment of saprolite ore from our South Dinagat mine in2008and subsequently suspended operations at the site due to substantial depletion of the mine’ssaprolite ore.
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 Royalties to indigenous groups. Because our Taganito mine is located on an indigenous culturalcommunity’s ancestral land, we are required to pay the indigenous community a royalty equal to 1%of gross revenue from sales from the Taganito mine.
Government Regulations and ApprovalTMC’s application on Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) denominated as APSA No. 73-XIIIfor its La Salle Exploration project, and RTN’s application on MPSA denominated as AMA IVB-144A andAMA IVB-144B for its Bulanjao project are all under review and pending approval with the Department ofEnvironment and Natural Resources (DENR)-Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB).A Deed of Assignment was executed by HMC for the transfer of MPSA 012-92-VIII to SMNRC which wassubmitted to the MGB VIII Regional Office on September 2010 and was endorsed by the same to the MGBCentral Office for further evaluation and final approval on 2nd quarter of 2011.Extension of the exploration period for the Libjo property was applied for and approved by the MGBCentral Office on December 2010, adding another two years for CMC to conduct exploration.
Exploration and Development
Nickel ResourcesWe have an extensive portfolio of exploration properties and an exploration program encompassing bothbrownfield exploration, which consists of work at our existing operations to extend resources and toupgrade resources to reserves; and greenfield exploration, which involves exploring and delineatingnickel lateritic deposits in our existing properties. We own more than one hundred (100) drilling unitsthat have been designed specifically for drilling near surface lateritic deposits in a quick and economicalmanner. We also have an experienced pool of geologists and laboratories at each of our mine sites toconduct assaying of samples as required.The following table sets forth a summary description of our exploration properties.

Mine Location Ownership
MPSA/Operating

Agreement
Bulanjao Palawan island RTN Mining lease contract thatcovers 3,604.5 hectares
Manicani Island of Manicani Samar Nickel MPSA covers 1,165hectares and expires in2017
Kepha Surigao del Norte TMC Operating agreement thatcovers 6,980.75 hectaresand expires in 2032
La Salle Surigao del Norte TMC Operating agreement thatcovers 6,824 hectares andexpires in 2034
Libjo Province of Dinagat CMC Operating agreement thatcovers 4,226.27 hectaresand expires in 2017
Ludgoron Province Surigao delNorte and Surigao del Sur TMC Operating agreement thatcovers 3,248.06 hectaresand expires in 2032
South Dinagat Nonoc Island, Surigao City HMC Operating agreement thatcovers 215 hectares andexpires in 2011

Description of our Exploration Projects
Bulanjao—The Bulanjao property is held by RTN. It has a total area of 3,604.5 hectares and is situatedimmediately west of RTN’s mining operations. Our rights to the property are governed by a mining leasecontract. The conversion of the mining lease contract to an MPSA has been delayed for several years dueto restrictions on mineral development within the core and restricted zones declared by the PalawanCouncil for Sustainable Development (PCSD). The Municipality of Bataraza, where the Bulanjao property
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is located, has reclassified the mineralized areas within the said core and restricted zones into a MineralDevelopment zone, thus opening the area to mineral development. As a result, we expect to receiveapproval of an MPSA with respect to this property after PCSD approval of its SEP Clearance.During the years 1984 to 1992, we conducted mining on a portion of the property known as SouthernBulanjao and extracted and sold a total of 220,551 wet metric ton (WMT) of saprolite ore with an averagegrade of 2.21% nickel. We also extracted and stockpiled a total of 167,354 WMT of limonite ore in orderto access the saprolite.The Bulanjao deposit trends northwards to an area named Central Bulanjao, situated more than akilometer from Southern Bulanjao. We have conducted step-out drilling throughout the length of theCentral Bulanjao deposit and calculate measured and indicated resources of 7.5 million WMT of saproliteore with an average grade of 1.88% nickel and 19.2 million WMT of limonite ore with an average grade of1.01% nickel.It is our intention to recommence drilling on Southern Bulanjao and Central Bulanjao as soon as we enterinto an MPSA with respect to the properties.
Manicani—The Manicani property is held by our subsidiary Samar Nickel Mining Resources Corporation(Samar Nickel). It has a total area of 1,165 hectares and is situated in Eastern Samar. Our rights to theproperty are governed by an MPSA that was entered into by HMC in 1992 and subsequently assigned toSamar Nickel. The application for the Deed of Assignment from HMC to Samar Nickel was submitted tothe MGB VIII Regional Office on September 2010 and will be endorsed by the same to the MGB CentralOffice for further evaluation and final approval.We conducted mining at the Manicani site between 1992 and 1994 and extracted and sold a total of63,176 WMT of saprolite ore with an average grade of 2.45% nickel from the site. We suspended miningat the site in December 1994 because low prevailing nickel prices made mining the site uneconomical. Wemade shipments from stockpiles in 2001 and 2004. In 2004 a regional Panel of Arbitrators rendered adecision recommending the cancellation of the MPSA on the grounds that we had violated certainapplicable environmental regulations. We disputed such allegations and our MPSA was upheld by theMines Adjudication Board of the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) inSeptember 2009.To date, there is work to be done before mining operations can be resumed. Currently, we are processingthe approval to extend the exploration period under the MPSA.  In connection with that, we have receivedthe necessary endorsement from the host community in the form of resolutions issued by the four (4)barangays comprising Manicani Island and likewise from the Municipality of Guiuan. Theseendorsements, along with various presentations to be made to the MGB of Region VIII and to thecommunity, shall be part of our compliance with the government regulations pertinent to the approval ofthe extension of the exploration period.Once the exploration period has been extended and we are allowed to resume operations, we shall beginour exploration activities. It is expected that we can commence drilling of the property in the 2nd quarterof 2011.
Kepha—The Kepha property is held by TMC. The property has a total area of 6,980.75 hectares and issituated in the province of Surigao del Norte, immediately southwest of our Taganito mine’s northernboundary. Our rights to the property are governed by an operating agreement that we entered into inFebruary 2007 with Kepha Mining Exploration Corp. Kepha Mining Exploration Corp. entered into anMPSA in June 2009, giving it the right to explore, develop and mine the property for an initial period oftwenty five (25) years.Under the terms of our operating agreement, TMC has the right to explore, develop and operate theproperty during the period of the MPSA in return for the payment of a royalty of 5% of gross revenues ofall metallic minerals sold from the property.
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We have conducted geological reconnaissance on the property and identified a lateritic zone on theeastern portion of the tenement. We intend to conduct follow-up exploration work and commence drillingin early 2011.
Ludgoron—The Ludgoron property is held by TMC. The property has a total area of 3,248.06 hectares andis situated in the province Surigao del Norte and Surigao del Sur. It shares a common boundary with theKepha property on the northeast of the property. Our rights to the property are governed by an operatingagreement that we entered into in August 2007 with Ludgoron Mining Corp. Ludgoron Mining Corp.entered into an MPSA in July 2007, giving it the right to explore, develop and mine the property for aninitial period of 25 years.Under the terms of the operating agreement, TMC has the right to explore, develop and operate theproperty during the period of the MPSA in return for the payment of a royalty of 5% on gross revenuesattributable to the property.We have conducted geological reconnaissance on the property and drilled 92 holes over an area of1,071 meters in the identified lateritic zones.
La Salle—The La Salle property is held by TMC. The property has a total area of 6,824 hectares and issituated in the province of Surigao del Norte. It shares a common boundary with the Kepha property onthe southwest side of the property. Our rights to the property are governed by an operating agreementthat we entered into with La Salle Mining Exploration Company in December 2006. La Salle MiningExploration Company's application for an MPSA is pending and TMC is responsible for completing therequirements for approval of the MPSA.Under the terms of the operating agreement, TMC will have the right to expire, develop and operate theproperty once the MPSA is approved, in return for the payment of a royalty of 5% on gross revenues of allmetallic minerals sold from the property and P10.00 per metric ton of limestone extracted and sold fromthe property.We have identified a limestone deposit within the property and determined that the quality of thelimestone is adequate for use in the proposed Taganito HPAL plant. We plan to conduct a feasibility studyto determine the feasibility of mining and delivering the limestone to the Taganito HPAL plant.We have also identified a nickel lateritic deposit on the southwestern portion of the property near theboundary with the Kepha property and intend to conduct further exploration work on this deposit.
Libjo—The Libjo property is held by CMC. The property has a total area of 4,226.27 hectares and issituated in the province of Dinagat northwest of our Cagdianao mine. Our rights to the property aregoverned by an operating agreement that we entered into with East Coast Mineral Resources Co., Inc. inOctober 2004. East Coast Mineral Resources Co., Inc. entered into an MPSA in June 2007, giving it the rightto explore, develop and mine the property for an initial period of 25 years.Under the terms of the operating agreement, CMC has the right to explore, develop and operate theproperty during the period of the MPSA in return for the payment of a royalty of 5% of the gross revenuesattributable to the property, net of taxes.We have conducted geological reconnaissance on the property and drilled a total of 1,640 holes over anarea of 30,427 meters in the identified lateritic zones. We have calculated a measured and indicatedresource of 1.5 million WMT of saprolite ore with an average grade of 1.44% nickel and approximately17.9 million WMT of limonite ore with an average grade of 0.84% nickel.Extension of the exploration period for the property was applied for and approved by the MGB CentralOffice on December 2010, adding another two years for CMC to conduct exploration. The explorationprogram submitted has two phases: Phase I which is intended for the determination of additional nickelreserves and Phase II which is intended for the determination of chromite reserves in the property.
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Concurrently, confirmatory drilling which started in April 2011 was also conducted to verify the resultsfrom previous exploration conducted in the property. There are about thirteen (13) drill holes (randomlyspaced) for this activity and are expected to be drilled completely by early June. An estimated 1.4 milliontons of nickel reserve is expected from the results of confirmatory drilling with ore grade ranging from0.70% Ni to 2.0% Ni.
South Dinagat—The South Dinagat property is held by HMC. The property has a total area of 215 hectaresand is situated in Nonoc Island, Surigao City. Our rights to the property are governed by an operatingagreement that we entered into with Pacific Nickel Philippines, Inc. in October 2001 and an amendmentto the operating agreement that we entered into in September 2006. Pacific Nickel Philippines, Inc.entered into an amended MPSA in August 1997, giving it the right to explore, develop and mine theproperty for an initial period of 25 years.Under the terms of the operating agreement, HMC has the right to explore, develop and market saproliteore on the South Dinagat property through October 2011 in return for the payment of a royalty of 5% ofgross revenues attributable to the property net of 20% final withholding tax. We expect to determinewhether to request a renewal of the operating agreement depending on the results of our exploration atthe South Dinagat property.We conducted mining operation on the property between 2002 and 2007 and extracted and sold a total of856,500 WMT of saprolite ore with an average grade of 2.19% nickel. We temporarily suspended miningoperations in 2008 due to the depletion of the blocked ore reserve. We have since conducted exploratorydrilling and have drilled a total of 305 holes over an area of 5,639 meters.Confirmatory drilling at South Dinagat property started on December 28, 2010 with twenty one (21)holes drilled at twenty five (25) meters and fifty (50) meters spacing, drilling activities was completed inMarch 2011. Using the square block method for the computation of ore reserve, it was confirmed that anestimate of 280,000 tons of saprolite with ore grade of 1.65% Ni & 14,21% Fe can be mined for 2011.
Gold and Copper ResourcesThe Philippines, located within the so-called “Pacific Rim of Fire,” the circum-Pacific belt of volcanicactivity that hosts the bulk of the world’s gold and copper resources, is considered to be highly endowedwith these metals. Substantial quantities have been mined in the country since the pre-war era andworld-class deposits have been discovered. We believe that considerable exploration potential exists inareas that have not been explored or subjected to modern exploration techniques.Given this potential, our local knowledge and the experience of a number of our engineers and managerspreviously employed in gold and copper mining firms, we made a strategic decision to diversify into thesemetals as the opportunities arise. Based on this strategy, we entered into an agreement on August 2010 topurchase 100% of the outstanding shares of Cordillera Exploration Company Inc. (“CEXCI”) from AngloAmerican Exploration (Philippines), Inc., a subsidiary of Anglo American plc (“Anglo American”). The saleby Anglo American occurred on November 15, 2010, and was the result of a strategic worldwide reviewof its operations and projects that led to a decision to exit a number of countries, including thePhilippines.
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CEXCI was previously known as Newmont Philippines Inc. (“Newmont”) and was purchased by AngloAmerican in 2002 from Newmont USA Ltd. As part of the terms of our purchase, we have agreed toassume an obligation to make royalty payments to Newmont USA Ltd., which royalty has since been soldto Franco Nevada Corp., of 1% of net smelter returns; and contingent payments of $10 million payable atthe rate of $1 million per year from the date that that the first mine established on any of the propertiesachieves production of not less than 70% of design capacity.In describing its properties below in terms of geological findings, we have relied on detailed informationprovided to us by Anglo American. We have not independently verified this information.
Manmanok—The Manmanok property is located within the Municipality of Conner, province of Apayao. Itis the most advanced of the properties in terms of exploration work and covers an area of 7,802 hectares.CEXCI’s rights to the property are governed by an Exploration Permit (EP-004-2006-CAR), first granted inOctober 16, 2006 and subsequently renewed on March 4, 2009.Newmont carried out substantial early-stage exploration work in the late 1990s, which includedaeromagnetic/radiometric surveys and ground magnetic and induced polarization surveys. Newmontcategorized the area as containing a strong gold dominant multi-element anomaly, suggesting that theprospect may be derived from a porphyry-style and sedimentary rock hosted epithermal targets.Anglo American subsequently carried out further geological and geochemical work and conducted a fullinterpretation of the results, which indicate that the property is primarily gold-arsenic dominated withassociations of lead and zinc and weak copper, indicative of an intermediate epithermal to porphyry styleof mineralization. The main prospect covers an area of 60 square kilometers, defined by 17 anomaloussample sites.Based on the results of its exploration work, Anglo American believes that the property could contain ashallower sedimentary-hosted epithermal gold deposit and a deeper copper-gold porphyry style deposit.Anglo American identified four drilling targets and planned an initial 3,000 meter drilling programconsisting of four drill holes of depths between 400 to 800 meters to test three of these targets.Two drill holes were designed to investigate the main Manmanok gold anomaly which is associated withelevated levels of lead and zinc in soil samples, indicating an intrusive body that may host possibleporphyry mineralization. The target is also coincident with a moderate induced polarization chargeabilityand resistivity. The proposed third drill hole is located south of the main anomaly and was designed totest a further gold anomaly which is coincident with moderate induced polarization chargeability and lowresistivity. The fourth drill hole is located northwest of the main anomaly and is proposed to test anarsenic and molybdenum anomaly, which may indicate the upper portion of a porphyry system.Review of electronic data obtained from the geological and geochemical work done by Anglo Americanhad started on December 2010. Field verification of drilling targets and additional geologic andgeochemical work is scheduled 2nd quarter of 2011. An environmental baseline study is also marked forthe 2nd quarter of 2011.Renewal of the exploration permit for the Manmanok property was applied for on April 1, 2011 with thesubmission of the Two-year Exploration Work Program and Two-year Environmental Work Program toMGB Central office. Filing fee for the renewal was paid for the 7,802.44 hectares of the property atP= 60.00/hectare as prescribed in the mining regulations. A field verification will have to be done by MGBto evaluate the renewal application, with a fee which CExCI have also paid for on the same day of filing.Currently, we are waiting for the confirmation of the field verification schedule from the MGB Centraloffice.
Kutop—The Kutop property covers an area of 13,269 hectares and straddles the provinces of Abra andKalinga. CEXCI has submitted an application for an Exploration Permit denominated as EXPA-014. Theapplication is still being processed and undergoing further evaluation at the MGB Central Office.
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Newmont conducted exploration work on this property, consisting of geological and geochemical surveys.It did not conduct geophysical surveys.Anglo American’s interpretation of the results of the exploration work indicates a gold-dominant multi-element anomaly within the property. The source of the anomaly has been identified as a large zone ofquartz-calcite veining and stratiform replacements hosted by clay-pyrite altered sedimentary rocks. Thealteration zone has been delineated over a width of 500 meters and a vertical extent of about 250 meters.Anglo American believes that the prospect has potential for a bulk tonnage, low-sulphidation epithermalgold, and/or sediment hosted gold deposit.We intend to continue the application process for an Exploration Permit with respect to this property andto conduct additional exploration work on this property.
Mankayan—The Mankayan properties are bordered by three provinces, Benguet, Ilocos Sur andMountain Province, to the west, north and east. The district is prospective for porphyry and relatedepithermal systems. Known occurrences of advanced argillic alteration in a number of areas (e.g. Tadian,Kayan, Mainit, Tukucan) underscore the magmatic-hydrothermal activity in the district. LepantoConsolidated Mining Company has discovered gold and copper deposits near the southern boundary ofthe property and is currently mining the Victoria gold deposit.CEXCI has submitted an application for an Exploration Permit denominated as EXPA-43 covering an areaof 1,869 hectares. It has also submitted an application for a Financial or Technical Service Agreementdenominated as AFTA-08, covering an area of 67,000 hectares.  An application for area status andclearance was applied for both properties at MGB I Regional Office and MGB CAR Regional Office onNovember 2010. MGB CAR had declared the area cleared on April 15, 2010 while evaluation of the areastatus is still undergoing at MGB I.Two claims conflicts within portions of AFTA-08 are currently being, or have been, litigated in court.The first case is currently pending with the Supreme Court and pertains to an overlapping area of4,926 hectares. The adverse claimant, Diamond Drilling Corporation of the Philippines (“DDCP”), lost itsearlier cases at both the Mines Adjudication Board and the Court of Appeals, after which it filed an appealwith the Supreme Court, which appeal is now submitted for resolution. A motion for Oral Argument shallbe filed by CEXCI as a follow-up for the case against DDCP.The second case was filed by Shipside Inc. (“Shipside”) with the Mines Adjudication Board and pertainedto an overlapping area of 3,863 hectares. The case was decided against Shipside, which did not appeal thedecision. CEXCI intends to file a motion to execute the judgment.We intend to continue the application process for both permits.We spent approximately P=11.1 million, P=2.0 million and P=5.1 million on our exploration properties in2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Environment and RehabilitationWe adhere to the principles and practices of sustainable development. In addition, our mining operationsare subject to stringent and extensive environmental regulations. As such, we are deeply committed toimplementing best practices in managing the environmental impact of our operations, from explorationto rehabilitation. Upon cessation of our mining operations, we plan to restore our mining properties totheir pre-mining conditions or to develop alternative productive land uses for the benefit of the affectedcommunities.The Philippine Mining Act requires us to contribute 3%—5% of our direct mining and milling costs forthe implementation of the annual environmental protection and enhancement program. Activitiesundertaken under our annual environmental protection and enhancement program include amongothers: rehabilitation of mine disturbed areas, reforestation, construction and/or maintenance ofenvironmental facilities, solid waste management, hazardous waste management, air quality monitoringand water quality monitoring. In 2010, we spent approximately P=83.2 million on our environmental
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protection and enhancement program. We believe that our cost of compliance with environmental laws isnot material.Our compliance with ECC conditions and performance of its commitments under our annualenvironmental protection and enhancement program are subject to monitoring and evaluation of theMultipartite Monitoring Team (the “MMT”). The MMT is a multi-sector group headed by a representativefrom the Regional Mines and Geosciences Bureau (“MGB”) and representatives of local government units,other government agencies, non-government organizations, people’s organizations, the church sector andthe Company.Funds for mine rehabilitation and other environmental guarantee funds are established and deposited intrust funds, as required by the Philippine Mining Act. We have P=32.8 million maintained in such funds asof December 31, 2010. This amount complies with the minimum requirement under the law.Our Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan is currently being finalized and will take account ofan extension in the useful lives of our mines resulting from our anticipated future sales of limonite ore.We periodically book an accretion expense and corresponding provision for mine rehabilitation anddecommissioning. The basis for this expense/liability is our draft Mine Rehabilitation andDecommissioning Plan. As of December 31, 2010, we had a P=55.4 million provision for minerehabilitation and decommissioning. Upon approval of our Mine Rehabilitation and DecommissioningPlan by the MGB, we intend to review and, if necessary, adjust our provision for mine rehabilitation anddecommissioning. We will concurrently be required to deposit funds equal to the provision in aGovernment bank.SocialSocial development programs and the implementation thereto are well developed at all the mines and thescope and breadth of these programs are commendable. Anti-mining campaigns of small groups were notdisrupted of mining but contributed to further continuous improvement and responsible mining.
EmployeesAs at December 31, 2010 we had approximately 1,248 employees. Of these, approximately 628 areemployed in mining operations, including overburden removal. Approximately 274 are engaged invarious maintenance and ancillary functions and 346 are in administrative, technical and professionalroles, including our senior management.  We do not currently anticipate any significant increase ordecrease in the number or allocation of our employees over the next twelve months.
Head Office

NAC CMC HMC TMC RTN CEXCI LCSLC SNMRC TotalSenior Management 8 5 5 3 4 5 5 6 41Managers 8 1 - 3 1 1 1 - 15Supervisors 5 4 4 - 4 1 2 - 20Rank & File 15 4 - 9 9 - 1 - 38Total 36 14 9 15 18 7 9 6 114

Minesite
CMC HMC TMC RTN CEXCI SNMRC TotalSenior Management 1 1 1 - - - 3Managers 3 4 24 23 1 - 55Supervisors 30 43 40 94 - 1 208Rank & File 134 78 231 422 1 2 868

Total 168 126 296 539 2 3 1,134Labor conditions, including wages and benefits, are governed by Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBA)negotiated at the mine level. Rank and file employees at Rio Tuba, Taganito and Cagdianao minesites arerepresented by labor unions. Collective agreements generally have terms of five years, with a provisionfor wage renegotiation after three (3) years. The respective CBA’s of RTN and CMC expired onDecember 31, 2010 and will be renegotiated in 2011 while the CBA of TMC which expired onJanuary 31, 2010 has been renegotiated and renewed and shall be effective until January 31, 2015. We
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believe that our wages and conditions are among the best in the Philippine mining industry. We believethat our relations with employees and their unions are generally good.  The last strike at any of our minesoccurred in 1981.
Risks Related to Our Business and IndustryWe face a number of risks and the occurrence of any of these risks could have an adverse impact on ourbusiness, results of operations and financial condition:
Volatility of LME nickel prices—Our revenue is largely dependent on the world market price of nickel. Thesales price of saprolite ore that we sell to PAMCO and limonite ore that we sell to CBNC is correlated withthe world market price of nickel. The nickel price is subject to volatile price movements over time and isaffected by numerous factors that are beyond our control. These factors include global supply anddemand; expectations for the future rate of inflation; the level of interest rates; the strength of, andconfidence in, the U.S. dollar; market speculative activities; and global or regional political and economicevents, including changes in the global economy. A growing world nickel market and increased demandfor nickel worldwide have attracted new entrants to the nickel industry, spurred the development of newmines and expansion of existing mines in various regions, including Australia, Indonesia and NewCaledonia, and resulted in added production capacity throughout the industry worldwide. An increasingtrend in nickel prices since early 2003 have encouraged new or existing international nickel producers toexpand their production capacity. An increased rate of expansion and an oversupply of nickel in worldnickel markets in the future could reduce future nickel prices and the prices we receive under our nickelore supply agreements. If the sales price of our nickel ore falls below our production costs, we will sustainlosses and, if those losses continue, we may curtail or suspend some or all of our mining and explorationactivities. We would also have to assess the economic impact of any sustained lower nickel prices onrecoverability and, therefore, the cut-off grade and level of our nickel reserves and resources.
Nickel mining is subject to a number of inherent risks that are beyond our control—Our mining operationsare influenced by changing conditions that can affect production levels and costs for varying periods andas a result can diminish our revenues and profitability. Inclement or hazardous weather conditions, theinability to obtain equipment necessary to conduct our operations, increases in replacement or repaircosts, prices for fuel and other supplies, unexpected geological conditions and prolonged disruption ofproduction at our mines or transportation of our nickel ore to customers could have a significant impacton the productivity of our mines and our operating results.Other factors affecting the production and sale of our nickel ore that could result in increases in our costsand decreases in our revenues and profitability include:
 equipment failures and unexpected maintenance problems;
 interruption of critical supplies, including spare parts and fuel;
 earthquakes or landslides;
 environmental hazards;
 industrial accidents;
 increased or unexpected rehabilitation costs;
 work stoppages or other labor difficulties; and
 changes in laws or regulations, including permitting requirements, the imposition of additionaltaxes and fees and changes in the manner of enforcement of existing laws and regulations.The realization of any of these risks could result in damage to our mining properties, nickel oreproduction or transportation facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to our properties,the properties of others or the land or marine environments, delays in mining ore or in the transportationof ore, monetary losses and potential legal liability.

Changes in Chinese demand may negatively impact world nickel demand and prices—Approximately, 46%of our revenue in 2010 was derived from sales of nickel ore into China. The Chinese market has become asignificant source of global demand for commodities and China represented approximately 37% ofprimary nickel demand in 2009, according to CRU Strategies.
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China’s consumption of primary nickel has increased by more than 30% over the past two years,according to CRU Strategies. While this increase represents a significant business opportunity, ourexposure to China’s economy and economic policies has increased. Our exposure to the Chinese marketand our short-term supply agreements with Chinese customers have resulted in increased volatility inour business. In addition, increased Chinese demand for commodities has led to high volatility in thefreight rates for shipping our nickel ore. High freight rates can discourage customers outside thePhilippines from entering into long term supply agreements with us due to the unpredictability of futureshipping costs and can also affect the price Chinese customers are willing to pay for our nickel ore.China, in response to its increased demand for commodities, is increasingly seeking self-sufficiency in keycommodities, including nickel, through investments in nickel mining operations in other countries. Inaddition, nickel ore is used in the production of stainless steel and a slowdown in the stainless steelindustry in China, or China’s economic growth in general, could result in lower Chinese demand for ourproducts and therefore reduce our revenue.
A prolonged decrease in production by the Coral Bay HPAL facility or, once operational, the Taganito HPAL
facility—Approximately 20% of our revenue in 2010 was derived from sales of limonite ore to the CoralBay HPAL facility and we expect to be the sole supplier of limonite ore to the planned Taganito HPALfacility. CBNC, the owner of the Coral Bay HPAL facility, is only required to pay for limonite ore that isactually delivered to the plant and there are no minimum take-or-pay provisions in the ore supplyagreement governing our sales of ore to the facility. The ore supply agreement with the planned TaganitoHPAL facility will be subject to similar terms. In the event that the Coral Bay HPAL facility or, onceoperational, the Taganito HPAL facility, decreases production or experiences an unexpected prolongedshutdown, we would reduce the volume of limonite ore that we deliver to the applicable facility or ceasesuch deliveries altogether.
Our reserves may not be replaced, and failure to identify, acquire and develop additional reserves could have
an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition—Our sources of nickel oreare currently limited to the Rio Tuba, Taganito, Cagdianao and Taganaan mines. Our profitability dependssubstantially on our ability to mine, in a cost-effective manner, nickel ore that possesses the qualitycharacteristics desired by our customers. Because our reserves decline as we mine our nickel ore, ourfuture success and growth depend upon our ability to identify and acquire additional nickel ore resourcesthat are economically recoverable. We currently have seven mining exploration properties in thePhilippines and if we fail to define additional reserves on any of our existing or future properties, ourexisting reserves will eventually be depleted.
We face competition in selling nickel ore—We compete with both domestic Philippine nickel ore suppliersand foreign nickel ore suppliers in world nickel ore markets. We compete with other nickel ore suppliersprimarily on the basis of ore quality, price, transportation cost and reliability of supply.
Failure to obtain, sustain or renew our mineral agreements, operating agreements and other permits and
licenses necessary for our business—We rely on permits, licenses (including MPSAs), operating agreementswith third-party claim owners and land access agreements to conduct our mining operations.. The MPSAsand operating agreement with respect to our four operating mines expire at different times between2022 and 2034 and require renewal upon expiration. We believe that we currently hold or have appliedfor all necessary licenses, permits, operating agreements and land access agreements to carry on theactivities that we are currently conducting under applicable laws and regulations, licenses, permits,operating agreements and land access agreements. We may be required to prepare and present togovernment authorities data pertaining to the impact that any proposed exploration or production of oremay have on the environment, as well as efficient resource utilization and other factors our operationsmay influence. The process of obtaining environmental approvals, including the completion of anynecessary environmental impact assessments, can be lengthy, subject to public input and expensive.Regulatory authorities can exercise considerable discretion in the terms and the timing of permitissuance or whether a permit may be issued at all. Accordingly, the approvals we need for our miningoperations may not be issued or renewed or, if issued or renewed, may not be issued in a timely fashion,or may involve requirements that may be changed or interpreted in a manner which restricts our abilityto conduct our mining operations profitably.
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Furthermore, new laws or regulations, or changes in the enforcement or interpretation of existing laws orregulations, may require substantial increases in our equipment and operating costs in order to obtainapprovals required by, or to otherwise comply with the conditions imposed by, such new or revised lawsand regulations. The need to obtain such new or revised approvals or to comply with additionalconditions may also cause material delays or interruptions of one or more of our current or plannedoperations or developments or, to the extent such approvals or conditions cannot be obtained or met onan economical basis, the curtailment or termination of such operations or developments.In addition, the local governments where our mines or exploration properties are located may imposeadditional restrictions on our operations. For instance, the conversion of a mining lease to an MPSA forour Mt. Bulanjao exploration property has been pending for several years due to restrictions on miningabove a certain elevation imposed by the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development (the “PCSD”). TheMunicipality of Bataraza, where the Mt. Bulanjao property is located, has now received the endorsementfrom the PCSD to reclassify such area as open to mineral development, and we are in the process ofobtaining approval for our MPSA. Similarly, in 2004, a local panel of arbitrators rendered a decisionrecommending cancellation of the MPSA governing our Manicani mine on the grounds that the Manicanimine had violated environmental regulations. We disputed the specific allegations and our MPSA wasupheld by the Mines Adjudication Board of the DENR in September 2009. There can be no assurance thatany such circumstances that interrupt our current or planned operations will be successfully resolved inthe future.
Continued compliance with safety, health and environmental laws and regulations—We expend significantfinancial and managerial resources to comply with a complex set of environmental, health and safetylaws, regulations, guidelines and permitting requirements (for the purpose of this paragraph, collectivelyreferred to as “laws”) drawn from a number of different jurisdictions. We anticipate that we will berequired to continue to do so in the future as the recent trend towards stricter environmental laws islikely to continue. The possibility of more stringent laws or more rigorous enforcement or new judicialinterpretation of existing laws exists in the areas of worker health and safety, the disposition of waste, thedecommissioning and rehabilitation of mining sites and other environmental matters, each of which couldhave a material adverse effect on our exploration, operations or the cost or the viability of a particularproject. Our facilities operate under various operating and environmental permits, licenses and approvalsthat contain conditions that must be met and our right to continue operating our facilities is, in a numberof instances, dependent upon compliance with these conditions. Failure to meet certain of theseconditions could result in interruption or closure of exploration, development or mining operations ormaterial fines or penalties.
Changes in, or more aggressive enforcement of, laws and regulations could adversely impact our business—Mining operations and exploration activities are subject to extensive laws and regulations. These relate toproduction, development, exploration, exports, imports, taxes and royalties, labor standards, occupationalhealth, waste disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, mine decommissioning andrehabilitation, mine safety, toxic substances, transportation safety and emergency response and othermatters. Compliance with these laws and regulations involve substantial costs. It is possible that the costs,delays and other effects associated with these laws and regulations may impact our decision as towhether to continue to operate existing mines, refining and other facilities or whether to proceed withexploration or development of properties. Since legal requirements change from time to time, are subjectto interpretation and may be enforced to varying degrees in practice, we are unable to predict theultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or their effect on operations.For example, RTN provides materials handling and transportation services to CBNC, which involvetransporting materials for use at the Coral Bay HPAL facility from RTN’s piers to the Coral Bay HPALfacility. These materials include sulfuric acid and other substances that are or could become classified ashazardous substances. If any hazardous substances are found to have been released into the environmentby RTN, whether due to accidents, leakage or otherwise, we could be liable for the investigation andremoval of those substances, regardless of their source and time of release. The cost of any remediationactivities in connection with a spill or other release of such substances could be significant and could havean adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations—Our nickel ore sales are denominated in United States dollarswhile most of our costs are incurred in pesos. The appreciation of the peso against the United Statesdollar reduces our revenue in peso terms. Accordingly, fluctuation in exchange rates can have an impacton our financial results. Additionally, in the past we have invested in derivative instruments thatincreased in value as the peso appreciated relative to the U.S. dollar, and vice versa. While our currentpolicy is not to hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk or invest in this type of derivativeinstrument, we do, and may continue to, invest in U.S. dollar denominated portfolio investments.Appreciation of the peso relative to the U.S. dollar could result in a translation loss on our U.S. dollar-denominated assets.
Item 2. PropertiesBelow is a summary of the NAC Group’s mineral agreements and permits, mineral resources and reservesand processing facilities with respect to its mining operations.
Mining Properties and Permits

RIO TUBA NICKEL MINING CORPORATIONA. Rio Tuba mine
MPSA No. 114-98-IV covering beneficiated nickel mine—On June 4, 1998, RTN was issued a mineral andproduction sharing agreement by the DENR covering an area of 990 hectares, situated at Barangay RioTuba, Bataraza, Palawan, valid for 25 years, renewable for another 25 years subject to mutually agreedupon terms and conditions. However, under the Strategic Environmental Plan for Palawan Act (RepublicAct No. 7611), operations are currently prohibited within an area of 144 hectares classified as “core zone”which are required to be fully and strictly protected and maintained free of human disruption. Included inthe “core zone” are all types of natural forest, areas above 1,000 meters elevation, peaks of mountains orother areas with very steep gradients, and endangered habitats and habitats of endangered and rarespecies.The primary purpose of the MPSA is to provide for the sustainable development and commercialutilization of nickel, cobalt, chromite and other mineral deposits within the contract area, with allnecessary services, technology and financing to be furnished or arranged for by RTN under the terms ofsuch agreement. However, the MPSA does not grant RTN any title over the contract/mining area, withoutprejudice to RTN’s acquisition of land/surface rights under allowable modes of acquisition under the law.RTN is to undertake and execute, for and on behalf of the Government the sustainable mining operationsand is constituted as the exclusive entity to conduct mining operations in the contract area. The share ofthe Government is the excise tax on mineral products at the time of removal at the rate provided for inR.A. 7729, amending Section 151(a) of the NIRC, as amended, as well as other taxes, duties and fees leviedby existing laws. Currently, the excise tax is 2% of the actual market value of the gross output at the timeof removal.The provisions of the MPSA relating to environmental protection, mine safety and health require RTN tosecure an Environmental Compliance Certificate (“ECC”), an Environmental Protection and EnhancementProgram (“EPEP”), allocating at least ten percent (10%) of its total project cost for its initial environmentrelated capital expenditures, although this may be adjusted depending on the nature and scale ofoperations and technology to be employed in the Contract Area. RTN is also required to submit an annualEPEP every year, based on the approved EPEP, allocating three to five percent (3-5%) of its direct miningand milling cost for the same. RTN is also required to establish a Mine Rehabilitation Fund (“MRF”) basedon the financial requirements of the EPEP.Under the obligations of RTN as contractor, RTN is required to allocate royalty payment of not less thanone percent (1%) of the value of the gross output of the mineral(s) sold for development of technologyand the host and neighboring communities, and for the rights of existing indigenous tribal communitiesover their ancestral lands.
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MPSA No. 213-2005-IVB for Rio Tuba Nickel’s Limestone Quarry—On April 28, 2005, RTN was issuedanother MPSA for a total area of 84.5364 hectares in Bataraza, Palawan. This MPSA was also given avalidity of 25 years renewable for another 25 years subject to mutually agreed upon terms andconditions. This MPSA covers the Sitio Gotok limestone pit, whereby limestone is to be sold to CBNC andused at the Coral Bay HPAL facility.The terms and conditions of this MPSA mirror the terms of MPSA No. 114-98-IV granted to RTN, albeitcovering mining of limestone rather than nickel products.B. Bulanjao exploration
MPSA Application for expiring mining lease contracts—On June 17, 2003, RTN filed an application torenew and to convert into MPSAs 14 existing mining lease contracts which were due to expire in theperiod from June 2003 to August 2004. The application included six small mining blocks of new areaslocated within the said existing mining lease contracts.No operations are currently being conducted in these areas. The application remains pending.
SAMAR NICKEL MINING RESOURCES CORPORATION

MPSA No. 012-92-VIII—The Manicani mine is subject to an MPSA (No. 012-92-VIII) granted onAugust 13, 1992 for 1,165 hectares. It has a term of twenty five (25) years and is renewable for anotherterm not exceeding twenty five (25) years subject to mutually agreed upon terms and conditions.On November 13, 2002, the DENR issued a memorandum ordering the suspension of mining operationsin Manicani pending a conduct of investigation in view of the complaints of the Roman Catholic Bishop. Ina decision dated August 2, 2004, an arbitral panel of the Mines Adjudication Board, Mines andGeosciences Bureau, Region 8, the MPSA was ordered cancelled. The basis for the decision of the Boardwas a violation of the ECC with respect to dust pollution, reforestation and wastewater discharge. As aresult of the decision, mining operations in Manicani remain suspended. The mining operations werefound by the Board to be causing pollution of the seawater of Manicani Island. A Memorandum of Appealdated December 23, 2004 was filed by HMC and our MPSA was upheld by the Mines Adjudication Boardon September 4, 2009.
HINATUAN MINING CORPORATIONA. South Dinagat exploration
MPSA No. 072-97-XIII—The South Dinagat exploration property is subject to an amended MPSA (No. 072-97-XIII) dated August 7, 1997 owned by Pacific Nickel Philippines, Inc. (“PNPI”) that it acquired by virtueof a Deed of Assignment in its favor, with Philnico Mining and Industrial Corporation (“PMIC”) dated May2, 1997. The assignment was registered with the Mines and Geosciences Bureau on August 31, 1997. TheMPSA covers an area of approximately 25,000 hectares.
a. MPSA granted to PMIC/PNPI—Under the MPSA between the Philippine government and PNPI, theexploration period shall be two years from August 7, 1997, the effective date of the agreement, renewablefor the same period of time, but not to exceed a total of six years. PNPI applied for and was granted anextension of exploration permit for another two years and submitted an environmental work program forthe two-year extension as required in the MPSA. The MPSA is for a term of twenty five (25) years from theeffective date, renewable for another term not exceeding twenty five (25) years under the same termsand conditions, without prejudice to changes mutually agreed upon by the parties.
b. Memorandum of agreement with PNPI dated 18 October 2001—Pursuant to a Memorandum ofAgreement between PNPI and HMC dated October 18, 2001, PNPI granted to HMC for an initial term offive (5) years, its rights and obligations on part of the land (215 hectares) covered by the MPSA. TheMemorandum of Agreement was approved by the MGB of the DENR in an order datedSeptember 24, 2002. It provides that HMC is entitled to mine and sell to third parties the saprolite oreproduced from the South Dinagat exploration property, as an independent contractor, to undertake theexploration, development, and operation of the mineral property in consideration for a royalty equal to apercentage of the gross revenue from sales of ore from the mine, net of taxes and other specified amounts.
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The Memorandum of Agreement was renewed for another five years on August 4, 2006, which will expireon October 18, 2011.B. Taganaan mine
MPSA 246-2007-XIII—On July 25, 2007, HMC was granted an MPSA covering 773,7870 hectares ofmineral land in Talavera, Taganaan, Surigao del Norte within Parcel II of the Surigao Mineral Reservationfor a period of 25 years renewable for another 25 years subject to mutually agreed upon terms andconditions. The primary purpose of the MPSA is for the rational exploration and possible developmentand utilization for commercial purposes of nickel and other associated mineral deposits in the contractarea.
TAGANITO MINING CORPORATIONA. Taganito Mine
MPSA No. 266-2008-XIII—TMC was granted an MPSA on June 18, 2009 for a period of 25 years subject torenewal as may be mutually agreed upon. The MPSA covers an area of 4,862.7116 hectares located at theBarangays of Hayanggabon, Urbiztondo, Taganito and Cagdianao, Municipality of Claver, Province ofSurigao del Norte. The purpose of the MPSA is the development and commercial utilization of nickel andother associated mineral deposits in the mineral land.B. Kepha Exploration
MPSA No. 284-2009-XIII—On June 19, 2009, Kepha Mining Exploration Company was issued a MPSAcovering 6,980.75 hectares of mineral land situated in the Municipality of Claver, Province of Surigao delNorte within Parcel I of the Surigao Mineral Reservation. The MPSA was for a period of twenty five (25)years and renewable for another twenty five (25) years as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties.The terms and conditions of this MPSA mirror the terms of MPSA No. 266-2008-XIII granted to TMC.An Operating Agreement dated February 14, 2007 was executed by and between TMC and Kepha MiningExploration Company for a term of 25 years from February 14, 2007, whereby TMC shall maintain themining rights covering the mineral property in good standing for and on behalf of KMEC.C. Ludgoron Exploration
MPSA No. 247-2007-XIII—Ludgoron Mining Corporation was granted an MPSA on July 27, 2007 covering3,248.0626 hectares of mineral land situated at Pantukan, Carrascal, Surigao del Sur within Parcel I of theSurigao Mineral Reservation. The term of the MPSA is twenty five (25) years and renewable for anothertwenty five (25) years as may be agreed upon.The MPSA is for the purpose of rational exploration, development and commercial utilization of nickel,cobalt, iron and other associated mineral deposits in the contract area.On August 28, 2007 an Operating Agreement was executed between Ludgoron Mining Corporation andTMC whereby the latter shall maintain the mining rights of Ludgoron Mining Corporation covering theproperties and to maintain the same in good and current standing for and on behalf of Ludgoron MiningCorporation.D. La Salle ExplorationLa Salle Mining Exploration Company (LSMEC) filed an application for MPSA denominated as APSA No.000073-XIII covering 6,824 hectares of mineral land situated at Brgy. Sicosico, Municipality of Gigaquit,Surigao del Norte, Mindanao for the development of limestone deposits as mine.On December 18, 2006, LSMEC entered into an Operating agreement with TMC for a term of twenty five(25) years whereby TMC shall maintain the mining rights of LSMEC covering the aforesaid properties andto keep the rights in current and good standing for and on behalf of LSMEC.
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CAGDIANAO MINING CORPORATIONA. Cagdianao mine
MPSA No. 078- 97- XIII—On November 19, 1997, East Coast Mineral Resources Co., Inc. (“East Coast”) wasgranted an MPSA for a period of 25 years and renewable upon such terms and conditions as may bemutually agreed upon. The MPSA covers an area of 697.0481 hectares situated at Barangay Valencia,Municipality of Cagdianao, Province of Dinagat Islands.On the same date, a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) was executed between CMC, as Operator and EastCoast for a period of 10 years from the effectivity of the MOA whereby East Coast grants CMC theexclusive right to explore, develop and utilize the mineral property covered by the MPSA.B. Libjo Exploration
MPSA No. 233- 2007-XIII—East Coast was issued a MPSA on June 8, 2007 covering 4,266.2744 hectares ofmineral land in Libjo, Surigao del Norte for a period of 25 years and renewable for another 25 years. Thepurpose of the MPSA is for the initial rational exploration and possible development and utilization forcommercial purposes of chromite, nickel and other associated mineral deposits.On October 12, 2004, a Memorandum of Agreement was executed between East Coast and CMC for a termof ten (10) years from the approval of the MPSA, whereby East Coast granted CMC the exclusive right toexplore, develop, exploit and operate the mineral property subject of the MPSA.Mineral Resources and ReservesAs of December 31, 2010, the Company’s Total Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in accordance withPMRC are as follows:

Ore Class Tonnes(kWMT) Tonnes(kDMT) % Ni % Fe Contained Ni(kt)
Mineral ResourcesSaprolite Measured &Indicated 46,074 31,009 1.97 11.20 612Limonite Measured &Indicated 203,456 138,267 1.16 42.89 1,621
Ore Reserves Measured &Indicated 41,288 28,438 1.80 11.34 513Measured &Indicated 191,260 129,997 1.12 43.14 1,509

Processing FacilitiesCBNCFacility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Coral Bay HPAL nickel processing plantLocation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . In a Special Economic Zone adjacent to Rio Tuba mineOwnership. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rio Tuba (10%)Mitsui (18%)Sojitz Corp (18%)SMM (54%)Operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Commissioned in 2005 with design capacity of 10,000 tonnesper year of contained nickel. Capacity doubled to 20,000tonnes per year of contained nickel in June 2009Technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HPAL processSource of ore . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rio Tuba mineProduct . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Nickel-cobalt sulfide sold exclusively to SMMOur subsidiary, RTN, holds a 10% equity interest in CBNC, the Philippine’s first HPAL nickel processingplant. A consortium of Japanese companies led by SMM holds the remaining 90% equity interest. Theplant was constructed adjacent to the Rio Tuba mine in an area designated as a Special Economic Zone bythe Philippine Export Zone Authority. As such, CBNC enjoys tax incentives, including a tax holiday until
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2011 (an application to extend the tax holiday until 2012 is pending). All of the limonite ore required forthe plant is supplied by RTN from its extensive stockpile and from newly mined ore. RTN also supplieslimestone and undertakes certain materials handling and transportation services. The plant produces anickel sulphide precipitate containing approximately 57% nickel and 4% cobalt, which is sold exclusivelyto SMM for refining at its Niihama refinery. The facility uses proprietary SMM technology under a non-exclusive license.Taganito HPAL NickelFacility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Taganito HPAL nickel processing plantLocation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . In a Special Economic Zone adjacent to the Taganito mineOwnership. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . NAC (22.5%)SMM (62.5%)Mitsui (15)%Operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Scheduled to commence commercial operations at full capacityin August 2013 and expected to produce approximately30,000 tonnes of contained nickel in 2014, the first full year ofcommercial operations at full capacityTechnology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HPAL processInvestment cost/financing . . . . . US$1,420 million, to be majority debt-financed, withremaining balance to be equity-financed based on ownershipSource of ore . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Taganito MineProduct . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Nickel-cobalt sulphide to be sold exclusively to SMMFollowing the success of the Coral Bay HPAL facility and taking into account the stockpile and reserves oflimonite ore owned by our subsidiary, TMC, SMM conducted a feasibility study in September 2009 on a30,000 tonnes-per-year HPAL plant to be located adjacent to our TMC mine site. The completion of thestudy led to the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding in September 2009 between us, oursubsidiary, TMC, and SMM to proceed with the project. We expect that the plant will use technologysimilar to that used at the Coral Bay HPAL facility but will be triple the original size of the Coral Bay plant.TMC is expected to supply all the limonite ore required for the plant and the nickel-cobalt sulfide productwill be sold exclusively to SMM for refining in Japan.Pursuant to the Taganito HPAL Stockholders Agreement that we entered into on September 15, 2010, theproject will be undertaken by Taganito HPAL Nickel, a company that will be jointly owned by us (as to22.5%), SMM (as to 62.5%) and Mitsui (as to 15.0%). The agreement contains a term sheet with principalterms of an offtake agreement to be entered into between Taganito HPAL Nickel and TMC for the supplyof limonite ore. Similar to the Coral Bay HPAL facility, the plant is located in a Special Economic Zoneapproved by the Philippine Export Zone Authority and should enjoy tax incentives. The operation of thefacility should not only provide an additional dedicated customer for limonite ore from our Taganitomine, but, through our 22.5% equity interest, allow us to benefit from the higher percentage of payablenickel available further downstream in the nickel value chain.Site works for the Taganito HPAL project have commenced, which include preparation work at the facilitysite, construction of offices and worker barracks and piling work for the new pier. Civil and mechanicalconstruction work is scheduled to commence before the end of the year and is expected to be completedby the first quarter of 2013. The commissioning of the facility is scheduled to take place thereafter overan estimated six-month period, during which the facility is expected to commence operations atproduction rates below its full capacity. Commercial operations are scheduled to commence at fullcapacity in August 2013. The facility is expected to produce approximately 30,000 tonnes of containednickel in 2014, the first full year of commercial operations at full capacity.The estimated total cost is US$1.42 billion, which includes capital expenditures of US$1.3 billion for theplant, working capital and interest accrued during the construction phase. In addition to ourP=4.6 billion equity contribution which we made last November 2010, we have committed to contribute upto an additional P=47.9 million in the event that Taganito HPAL Nickel requires additional funds prior tocompletion of construction of the HPAL facility. US$965 million of the project costs will be financed withdebt financing that will be incurred by Taganito HPAL Nickel. The signing of the debt financingarrangement is expected in the second quarter of 2011. Under the terms of the Stockholders Agreement,we will be required to guarantee a portion of such debt financing equal to our 22.5% equity interest in
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Taganito HPAL Nickel. On September 15, 2010, we entered into an agreement with SMM whereby SMMwill guarantee our pro-rata portion of Taganito HPAL Nickel’s loan obligation in exchange for thepayment of an annual guarantee fee to SMM of 1% of our pro-rata share of the outstanding loanobligation.In the absence of cost overuns or major expansion plan, Taganito HPAL Nickel is expected to distribute allof its available cash as dividends to shareholders in any financial year, after payments have been made foroperating expenses, applicable taxes, capital expenditure, working capital, scheduled loan principal andinterest repayments, and after making provisions for upcoming installments of the loans and requiredworking capital.Liens and EncumbrancesOther than SMM’s mortgage over RTN’s pier facilities, none of our properties are subject to any liens,encumbrances or other security interests.
Item 3. Legal ProceedingsIn the ordinary course of our business, we are a party to various legal actions that are mainly labor casesand that we believe are routine and incidental to the operation of our business. We do not believe that weare subject to any ongoing, pending or threatened legal proceeding that is likely to have a material effecton our business, financial condition or results of operations.However, there is an ongoing case involving TMC whereby the complainants filed a case with the NationalCommission on Indigenous Peoples (“NCIP”) seeking to invalidate the Memorandum of Agreement(“MOA”) between TMC and Ampantrimtu, the organization representing the Mamanwa tribe, which has aCertificate of Ancestral Domain Title over the mining area of TMC.The complainants assert that TMC negotiated the MOA with the wrong tribal leaders, and thus, the MOAshould be invalidated. In its answer, TMC alleges that the NCIP certified the authority of the tribal leadersto represent the indigenous people, and that the NCIP was a party to the MOA, with the Honorable Mayorof the host municipality, Claver, signing as a witness.The case is currently pending with the NCIP and the parties are awaiting further notice as to whether thecase will be set for hearing or be submitted for resolution on the basis of the pleadings filed.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security HoldersThere were no matters covered under this item submitted in the fourth quarter of 2010 to the securityholders for a vote.
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PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 5. Market for Issuer's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market InformationThe Company’s common equity is traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange at a price of P=15.0 per share onNovember 22, 2010. The stock prices for the Company’s common equity since the initial public offeringare as follows: 2010 High LowDecember P=16.80 P=15.10November P=17.14 P=15.74The Company’s stocks share price was at P=20.85 per share as of April 12, 2010.
HoldersThe Company has 13 shareholders as of the end of 2010, with 1,339,831,828 common shares issued andoutstanding.The top 20 stockholders of the Company as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Name Citizenship Shares % of OwnershipManuel B. Zamora, Jr. Filipino 303,976,910 22.69%PCD NomineeCorporation(Non-Filipino) Foreign 267,442,736 19.96%
Sumitomo  Metal MiningCo., Ltd. Japanese 243,658,094 18.19%Luis J. L. Virata Filipino 176,381,559 13.16%Philip T. Ang Filipino 152,933,704 11.41%PCD NomineeCorporation (Filipino) Filipino 95,027,872 7.09%Mantra ResourcesCorporation Filipino 55,293,204 4.13%Ni Capital Corporation Filipino 27,818,542 2.08%Sumitomo Metal MiningPhilippine HoldingsCorporation Filipino 13,169,982 0.98%
Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. Filipino 2,242,225 0.17%Gerard H. Brimo Filipino 1,855,000 0.14%Nestor Emmanuel S.Jalandoni III Filipino 30,000 0.00%Bernarda P. Torres Filipino 2,000 0.00%Total 1,339,831,828 100%

DividendsOn August 13, 2010, the Company’s BOD declared cash dividends amounting to US$70.0 million,equivalent to P=3.16 per share to stockholders of record as at August 31, 2010 which were paid onNovember 25, 2010.On January 23, 2009, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends amounting to P=142.2 million,equivalent to P=0.35 per share to stockholders of record as at January 1, 2009 which were paid onFebruary 1, 2009.
Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities.No unregistered securities were sold in 2010.
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Item 6. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.The following discussion and analysis is based on the audited consolidated financial statements as atDecember 31, 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, prepared inconformity with PFRS and accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and should beread in conjunction with those audited consolidated financial statements.
Summary Financial InformationThe Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for the periods ended2010, 2009 and 2008 are hereto attached.The following table sets forth the summary financial information for the three years endedDecember 31, 2010 and as at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Summary Consolidated Statements of Income

2010 2009 2008Revenues 8,336,038 4,686,726 5,827,077Cost and expenses (5,023,247) (4,054,243) (3,828,498)Finance income 130,768 230,294 400,280Finance expenses (81,240) (161,629) (1,522,255)Other income (charges) - net (110,682) (71,375) 1,045,411Provision for income tax - net (947,728) (169,254) (1,061,772)Net income 2,303,909 460,519 860,243Net income attributable to:Equity holders of the parent 1,478,870 302,887 179,208Non-controlling interests 825,039 157,632 681,0352,303,909 460,519 860,243

(In thousand pesos)

Years Ended

2010 2009 2008Current assets 9,858,623 11,269,852 11,244,801Noncurrent assets 11,647,438 5,087,106 5,593,858Total assets 21,506,061 16,356,958 16,838,659Current liabilities 1,335,731 1,168,996 1,456,581Noncurrent liabilities 2,094,781 911,107 1,108,196Non-controlling interests 3,141,889 3,002,731 3,276,484Equity attributable toequity holders of the Parent 14,933,660 11,274,124 10,997,398Total liabilities and equity 21,506,061 16,356,958 16,838,659

(In Thousand Pesos)

Summary Consolidated Statements of Financial Position



N I C K E L  A S I A  C O R P O R A T I O N17-A Annual Report 2010

- 25 - | P a g e

2010 2009 2008Net cash flows (used in):Operating activities 3,497,904 1,123,875 (959,140)Investing activities (5,924,743) (1,013,094) (2,016,232)Financing activities 2,514,280 (573,684) (172,178)Net increase (decrease) in cashand cash equivalents 87,441 (462,903) (3,147,550)Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 6,779,215 7,452,631 9,670,594Effect of exchange rate changesin cash and cash equivalents (60,688) (210,513) 929,587Cash and cash equivalents, end 6,805,968 6,779,215 7,452,631

(In Thousand Pesos)

Years Ended
Summary Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Results of Operations

Calendar year ended December 31, 2010 compared with calendar year ended December 31, 2009

RevenuesOur total revenues were P=8,336.0 million in 2010 as compared to P=4,686.7 million in 2009, an increase ofP=3,649.3 million, or 78%.
Sale of OreOur revenue from sale of ore was P=8,074.3 million in 2010 as compared to P=4,333.2 million in the 2009,an increase of P=3,741.1 million, or 86%. The increase in revenue was due both to a higher volume ofnickel ore sold, mainly to our Chinese customers, and higher ore prices. Our realized LME nickel price in2010, applicable to sales of saprolite ore to PAMCO and sales of limonite ore to CBNC, averaged $9.60 perpound of payable nickel compared to $6.45 per pound of payable nickel in 2009. The weighted averageprice per WMT of ore sold to our Chinese customers in 2010 amounted to $18.32 compared to $12.72 in2009.  The increased demand for nickel ore as well as higher prices for our various types of ore waslargely due to an improvement in global economic conditions and the effect of the Chinese government’seconomic stimulus programs, particularly during the first-half of 2010.We sold an aggregate 8,339.2 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2010 as compared to 6,458.5 thousandWMT of nickel ore in 2009. Our sales in 2010 included 1,115.6 thousand WMT of saprolite ore to PAMCO,4,504.2 thousand WMT of low-grade saprolite and limonite ore to our Chinese customers and2,621.0 thousand WMT of limonite ore to CBNC compared to sales of 880.0 thousand WMT,3,058.2 thousand WMT and 2,520.2 thousand WMT, respectively, in 2009.  In addition, we had our firstshipment of 30.0 thousand WMT of low grade saprolite to SMM in December 2010.We own 60% of RTN, which owns and operates the Rio Tuba mining operations. RTN’s revenue from saleof ore was P=3,402.8 million in 2010 as compared to P=1,503.8 million in 2009, an increase ofP=1,899.0 million, or 126%. RTN sold an aggregate 3,876.4 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2010 ascompared to an aggregate 2,982.7 thousand WMT of nickel ore sold in 2009. The volume of saprolite oresold to PAMCO increased by 4.3 thousand WMT or 2%, the volume of low-grade saprolite ore sold toChinese customers increased by 758.6 thousand WMT, or 279%, while the volume of limonite ore sold toCBNC increased by 100.8 thousand WMT, or 4%.We own 65% of TMC, which owns and operates the Taganito mining operations. TMC’s revenue from saleof ore was P=2,089.0 million in 2010 as compared to P=1,041.4 million in 2009, an increase ofP=1,047.6 million, or 101%. TMC sold an aggregate 1,200.0 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2010 ascompared to an aggregate 743.5 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009.  The volume of saprolite ore sold to
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PAMCO increased by 182.8 thousand WMT, or 37%. In addition, TMC sold 454.8 thousand WMT of low-grade saprolite ore to Chinese customers and 68.3 thousand WMT of limonite ore to CBNC in 2010,whereas 249.4 thousand WMT of low-grade saprolite ore was shipped to Chinese customers and no saleswere made to CBNC in 2009. TMC sold limonite ore to CBNC in the first half of 2010 in order to test its oreat CBNC’s high pressure acid leach (HPAL) facility in connection with the planned construction of theTaganito HPAL facility.Other than the sale of limonite ore to CBNC for testing purposes, all limonite ore mined by TMC is beingstockpiled in preparation for the expected commencement of the Taganito HPAL facility by mid-2013.Following the signing of a Stockholders’ Agreement on September 15, 2010 among the shareholders ofthe facility, which included the terms of an off-take of limonite ore from TMC to the facility, expensesassociated with the mining of limonite ore are being charged to inventory, while prior to the signing of theStockholders’ Agreement, such costs were expensed during the period that they were incurred.We own 100% of CMC, which owns and operates the Cagdianao mining operations. CMC’s revenue fromsale of ore was P=1,225.8 million in 2010 as compared to P=575.4 million in 2009, an increase ofP=650.4 million, or 113%. CMC sold an aggregate 896.0 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2010 as comparedto an aggregate 545.9 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009. The volume of saprolite ore sold to PAMCOincreased by 48.2 thousand WMT or 25%.  CMC sold 651.9 WMT of low-grade saprolite and limonite oreto Chinese customers in 2010 compared to only 350.0 WMT in 2009.We own 100% of HMC, which owns and operates the Taganaan mining operations. HMC’s revenue fromsale of ore was P=1,356.7 million in 2010 as compared to P=1,212.5 million in 2009, a decrease ofP=144.2 million, or 12%. HMC sold an aggregate 2,366.9 thousand WMT of low-grade saprolite andlimonite ore to Chinese customers in 2010 as compared to 2,186.6 thousand WMT of nickel ore in thesame period last year.
Services and OthersOur revenue from services and others was P=261.7 million in 2010 as compared to P=353.5 million in 2009,a decrease of P=91.8 million, or 26%. Services revenue largely consists of hauling, manpower and otherancillary services that RTN provides to CBNC. We discontinued certain services to CBNC in the second halfof 2009 to deploy equipment that we had utilized in such activities to RTN’s mining operations in order tomeet the increased volume of sales in 2010. The discontinuation of these services resulted in a decreasein services and other revenue in 2010 as compared to 2009.
Costs and ExpensesOur costs and expenses amounted to P=5,023.2 million in 2010 as compared to P=4,054.2 million in 2009,an increase of P=969.0 million, or 24%.
Cost of SalesOur cost of sales was P=3,062.0 million in 2010 as compared to P=2,516.3 million in 2009, an increase ofP=545.7 million, or 22%.   The increase was due to higher volume of production and shipments.  To copewith this higher level of activity in 2010, we increased our dependence on outside services, notably theuse of contractors to augment our mining, hauling and ship loading activities.  As a result, outside servicesincreased by P=542.5 million in 2010.
Cost of ServicesCost of services was P=141.1 million in 2010 as compared to P=240.9 million in 2009, a decrease ofP=99.8 million, or 41%. Cost of services largely consists of the cost of providing hauling, manpower andother ancillary services by RTN to CBNC.
Shipping and Loading CostsShipping and Loading Costs were P=821.2 million 2010 as compared to P=552.0 million in 2009, an increaseof P=269.2 million, or 49%. The increase was due to higher contract fees from P=315.9 million in 2009 toP=511.4 million in 2010 brought about by additional LCT rentals, as well as an increase in other servicesand fees from P=45.2 million to P=98.3 million due to higher wharfage, stevedoring charges and materialsand supplies consumption. The increase in marketing expenses is related to the substantial increase inour sales volume in 2010.
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General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses were P=475.7 million in 2010 as compared to P=456.2 million in 2009,an increase of P=19.5 million, or 4%. The increase was primarily due to increase in personnel costs, largelyattributable to higher employee bonuses and the cost related to the granting of compensation shares to akey executive of the Company, as well as an increase in depreciation expense due to acquisition ofproperty and equipment in 2010.
Excise Taxes and RoyaltiesOur excise taxes and royalties were P=523.2 million in 2010 as compared to P=288.9 million in 2009, anincrease of P=234.3 million, or 81%. The increase in excise taxes and royalties was a result of the increasein our sales revenue in 2010.
Finance IncomeOur finance income was P=130.8 million in 2010 as compared to P=230.3 million in 2009, a decrease ofP=99.5 million, or 43%. Our finance income in 2010 primarily consisted of P=128.8 million of interestincome on our cash balances and other investments. Our finance income in 2009 primarily consisted ofP=162.1 million of interest income on our cash balances and other investments and a P=52.9 millionincrease in fair value of certain portfolio investments.
Finance ExpenseOur finance expense was P=81.2 million in 2010 as compared to P=161.6 million in 2009, a decrease ofP=80.4 million, or 50%. Our finance expense in 2010 primarily consisted of a P=47.0 million loss on ournickel commodity collar contracts, interest expense on our long-term loan of P=10.9 million and aP=9.5 million loss recognized upon the sale of AFS investments. Our finance expense in 2009 primarilyconsisted of a P=78.7 million loss on derivative instruments as a result of the appreciation of the U.S. dollarrelative to the peso, a P=40.8 million provision for impairment losses on trade and other receivables and aP=20.8 million interest expense on our long-term loan.
Other Income (Charges) - netOur other income (charges) in 2010 was a charge of P=110.7 million as compared to a charge ofP=71.4 million in 2009 or an increase of P=39.3 million. The increase was due largely to a higher net foreignexchange loss of P=482.1 million in 2010 as compared to a net foreign exchange loss of P=214.1 million in2009, as a result of the decrease in value of our U.S. dollar denominated assets, primarily our cash andcash equivalents and portfolio investments.  The higher net foreign exchange loss in 2010 was partiallyoffset by our other income consisting of P=120.2 million of dividend income, the majority of which was adividend payment from CBNC to RTN , a P=74.1 million reversal of accruals that we made in prior periodsfor vessel demurrage, P=61.5 million of other services provided by RTN to CBNC,  a P=56.3 million reversalof allowance for inventory losses of nickel ore provided for in 2008, which inventory was sold in 2010and a one-time fee of P=33.7 million for the handling of TMC ore which was delivered to the CBNC HPALfacility. Our other income in 2009 of P=46.7 million primarily consisted of other services and supplies thatRTN provides to CBNC, as well as throughput income.
Provision for (Benefit from) Income TaxProvision for income tax was P=947.7 million in 2010 compared to P=169.3 million in 2009, an increase ofP=778.5 million, or 460%.  Our current provision for income tax in 2010 was P=1,148.6 million compared toP=391.6 million in 2009, an increase of P=757.0 million, or 193% primarily due to the increase in ourincome in 2010. Our deferred benefit from income tax in 2010 was P=200.8 million as compared toP=222.3 million in 2009, a decrease of P=21.5 million, or 10%. which was the result of the reversal ofdeferred tax asset recognized on the Company’s unrealized foreign exchange losses in 2009,  partiallyoffset by the net operating loss carry over (NOLCO) recognized by the Parent Company in 2010.
Net IncomeAs a result of the foregoing, our consolidated net income was P=2,303.9 million in 2010 compared toP=460.5 million in 2009.  Net of noncontrolling interests, our net income was P=1,478.9 million in 2010 ascompared to P=302.9 million in 2009, an increase of P=1,176.0 million, or 388%.
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Calendar year ended December 31, 2009 compared with calendar year ended December 31, 2008

RevenuesOur total revenues were P=4,686.7 million in 2009 as compared to P=5,827.1 million in 2008, a decrease ofP=1,140.3 million, or 20%.
Sale of OreOur revenue from the sale of ore was P=4,333.2 million in 2009 as compared to P=5,579.3 million in 2008, adecrease of P=1,246.1 million, or 22%.  The decrease in revenue was due to lower sales prices despite ofour having higher volume of nickel ore sold. Our realized LME nickel price in 2009, applicable to sales ofsaprolite ore to PAMCO and sales of limonite ore to CBNC, averaged $6.45 per pound of payable nickelcompared to $10.76 per pound of payable nickel in 2008. The weighted average price per WMT of oresold to our Chinese customers in 2009 amounted to $12.72 compared to $25.81 in 2008.We sold an aggregate 6,458.5 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009 as compared to 3,448.2 thousandWMT of nickel ore in 2008. Our sales in 2009 included 880.3 thousand WMT of saprolite ore to PAMCO,3,058.2 thousand WMT of nickel ore to our Chinese customers and 2,520.2 thousand WMT of limonite oreto CBNC, respectively, in 2009, compared to 1,017.3 thousand WMT of saprolite ore to PAMCO, 1,031.4thousand WMT of nickel ore to our Chinese customers and 1,399.4 thousand WMT of limonite ore toCBNC, respectively, in 2008.RTN’s revenue from sales of ore was P=1,503.8 million in 2009 as compared to P=2,047.9 million in 2008, adecrease of P=544.1 million, or 27%. RTN sold an aggregate 2,982.7 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009as compared to an aggregate 1.897.5 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2008. The volume of saprolite oresold to PAMCO increased by 3.8 thousand WMT or 2%, the volume of saprolite ore shipped to Chinesecustomers decreased by 39.0 thousand WMT or 13% and the volume of limonite ore sold to CBNCincreased by 1,120.8 thousand WMT or 80% in 2009 as compared to 2008.TMC’s revenue from sale of ore was P=1,041.4 million in 2009 as compared to P=2,134.9 million in 2008, adecrease of P=1,093.5 million, or 51%. TMC sold an aggregate 743.5 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009as compared to an aggregate 592.2 thousand WMT in 2008. The volume of saprolite ore sold to PAMCOdecreased by 98.3 thousand WMT, or 17%.  In addition, TMC sold 249.4 thousand WMT of low-gradesaprolite ore to Chinese customers in 2009 whereas TMC made no sales to Chinese customers in 2008.CMC’s revenue from sale of ore was P=575.4 million in 2009 as compared to P=773.9 million in 2008, adecrease of P=198.5 million, or 26%. CMC sold an aggregate 545.9 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009 ascompared to an aggregate 217.0 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2008. The volume of saprolite ore toPAMCO decreased by 21.1 thousand WMT or 10%. CMC sold 248.3 thousand WMT of saprolite ore and101.7 WMT of limonite ore to Chinese customers in 2009 whereas CMC made no sales to Chinesecustomers in 2008.HMC’s revenue from sales of ore was P=1,212.5 million in 2009 as compared to P=622.6 million in 2008, anincrease of P=589.9 million, or 95%. HMC sold an aggregate 2,186.6 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2009 ascompared to 741.3 thousand WMT of nickel ore in 2008. There was no saprolite ore sold to PAMCO in2009 compared to 195.9 thousand WMT sold in 2008.  HMC sold 350.0 WMT of low-grade saprolite andlimonite ore to Chinese customers in 2009 compared to 741.3 thousand WMT in 2008.
Services and OthersOur revenue from services and others was P=353.5 million in 2009 as compared to P=247.7 million in 2008,an increase of P=105.8 million, or 43%. Services revenue was largely due to an increase in transportationservices provided to CBNC during 2009 following its expansion and doubling of capacity in mid-2009.
Costs and ExpensesOur costs and expenses were P=4,054.2 million in 2009 as compared to P=3,828.5 million in 2008, anincrease of P=225.7 million, or 6%.
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Cost of SalesOur cost of sales was P=2,516.3 million in 2009 as compared to P=2,318.9 million in 2008, an increase ofP=197.4 million, or 9%.  The increase was due to a higher volume of shipments. Our costs attributable tonickel ore sold from our inventories in 2009 was P=415.1 million while our costs attributable to miningnickel ore that was put into inventory in 2008 was P=326.9 million. Although we shipped a higher volumeof nickel ore in 2009, we undertook less mining activity which resulted to lower average unit cost pertonne, overhead costs, cost for outside services and costs for spare parts and other supplies.
Cost of ServicesCost of services was P=240.9 million in 2009 as compared to P=121.5 million in 2008, an increase ofP=119.4 million, or 98%. The increase in cost of services was largely due to an increase in hauling,manpower and other ancillary services provided by RTN to CBNC during 2009 leading up to andfollowing its expansion in mid-2009.
Shipping and Loading CostsShipping and loading costs were P=552.0 million in 2009 as compared to P=299.7 million in 2008, anincrease of P=252.3 million, or 84%. The increase was due to higher volume of ore shipped in 2009 whichresulted to the increase in contract fees from P=177.6 million to P=315.9 million and a near doubling of fuel,oil and lubricant cost and personnel costs.
General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses were P=456.2 million in 2009 as compared to P=613.1 million in 2008,a decrease of P=156.9 million, or 26%. The decrease was due to decrease in management bonuses due tolower sales in 2009 than in 2008, absence of expense for sales commissions in 2009 and decrease in costsfor taxes and licenses.
Excise Taxes and RoyaltiesOur excise taxes and royalties were P=288.9 million in 2009 as compared to P=475.3 million in 2008, adecrease of P=186.4 million, or 39%. The decrease in excise taxes and royalties was a result of ourdecreased revenue in 2009 as compared to 2008.
Finance IncomeOur finance income was P=230.3 million in 2009 as compared with P=400.3 million in 2008, a decrease ofP=170.0 million, or 42.5%. Our finance income in 2009 primarily consisted of P=162.1 million of interestincome on our cash balances and other investments and a P=52.9 million change in fair value of certainportfolio investments. Our finance income in 2008 primarily consisted of P=235.5 million of interestincome on our cash balances and other investments and a P=113.1 million recovery of allowance forimpairment losses on trade and other receivables.
Finance ExpenseOur finance expense was P=161.6 million in 2009 as compared with P=1,522.3 million in 2008, a decrease ofP=1,360.7, or 89%. Our finance expense in 2009 primarily consisted of a P=78.7 million loss on derivativeinstruments as a result of the appreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to the peso and a P=40.8 millionprovision for impairment losses on trade and other receivables. Our finance expense in 2008 primarilyconsisted of a P=1,417.1 million loss on derivative instruments as a result of the appreciation of the U.S.dollar relative to the peso in 2008.
Other Income (Charges)Our other income (charges) in 2009 was a charge of P=71.4 million as compared to P=1,045.4 millionincome in 2008. The difference is largely due to a net foreign exchange loss of P=214.1 million in 2009 ascompared to a net foreign exchange gain of P=1,060.7 million in 2008. The 2009 net foreign exchange losswas a translation loss due to the decrease in the value of our U.S. dollar denominated assets (primarilyour cash and cash equivalents and investments in structured products, foreign public and privatecompanies and debt securities) upon the depreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to the peso in 2009. The2008 net foreign exchange gain, however, was a translation gain due to the increase in the value of ourU.S. dollar denominated assets upon the appreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to the peso in 2008.
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Income before Income TaxAs a result of the foregoing, our income before income tax was P=629.8 million in 2009 as compared toP=1,922.0 million in 2008, a decrease of P=1,292.2 million, or 67%.
Provision for (Benefit from) Income TaxProvision for income tax was P=169.3 million in 2009 as compared to P=1,061.8 million in 2008, a decreaseof P=892.5 million, or 84%. Our current provision for income tax in 2009 was P=391.6 million as comparedto P=977.0 million in 2008, a decrease of P=585.4 million, or 60% consistent with our decrease in incomebefore income tax in 2009 as compared to 2008.  Our deferred benefit from income tax in 2009 wasP=222.3 million as compared with a deferred provision for income tax in 2008 of P=84.8 million primarilydue to our having net unrealized foreign exchange gains in 2008 as compared to net unrealized foreignexchange losses in 2009.
Net IncomeAs a result of the foregoing, our consolidated net income was P=460.5 million in 2009 as compared toP=860.2 million in 2008.  Net of non-controlling interests, our net income was P=302.9 million in 2009 ascompared to P=179.2 million in 2008, an increase of P=123.7 million, or 69%.
Financial Position

Calendar year as at December 31, 2010 and 2009Total Assets amounted to P=21,506.1 million in 2010 compared to P=16,357.0 million in 2009.Current assets decreased to P=9,858.6 million in 2010 from P=11,269.9 million in 2009 due to the decreasein available for sale (AFS) investments from P=1,081.3 million to P=470.0 million, the full settlement of ourfinancial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL) amounting to P=318.2 million and the decreasein other current assets from P=248.9 million to P=53.0 million, mainly as a result of the utilization of taxcredit certificates.Noncurrent assets increased from P=5,087.1 million in 2009 to P=11,647.4 million in 2010 due to theinvestment in an associate of P=4,570.5 million, representing our 22.5% investment in the THPAL and theincrease in property and equipment from P=2,156.7 million in 2009 to P=3,762.6 million in 2010, consistingmostly of construction in progress related to the pier facility at our Taganito mine, as well as additionalacquisition of machinery and equipment.Total current liabilities increased to P=1,333.7 million in 2010 from P=1,169.0 million in 2009 due toincreases in trade and other payables from P=866.2 million to P=935.2 million and income tax payable fromP=252.4 million to P=322.1 million.Total noncurrent liabilities likewise increased to P=2,094.8 million from P=911.1 million largely due to theincrease in long-term debt - net of current portion to P=1,458.1 million from P=337.5 million.Equity - net of non-controlling interests increased to P=14,933.7 million as at year ended 2010 fromP=11,274.1 million as at year ended 2009 due to net earnings in 2010, issuance of capital stock and sale oftreasury shares for the funding requirements of a new pier facility at our Taganito mine and payment ofcash dividend.
Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008Total Assets amounted to P=16,357.0 million in 2009 compared to P=16,838.7 million in 2008.Current assets increased to P=11,269.9 million in 2009 from P=11,244.8 million in 2008 mainly due toincrease in our trade receivables to P=1,338.9 million from P=953.2 million and net acquisitions of AFSinvestments to P=1,081.3 million from P=326.7 million offset with the decrease in inventories toP=1,503.3 million from P=1,989.1 million attributable to higher quantity of nickel ore shipped in 2009 andcash and cash equivalents to decreased P=6,779.2 million from P=7,452.6 million.
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Noncurrent assets decreased to P=5,087.1 million in 2009 from P=5,593.9 million in 2008 due to thedepreciation charges on property and equipment and investment property and amortization of long-termstock pile inventory – net of current portion.Total current liabilities in 2009 decreased to P=1,169.0 million in 2009 from P=1,456.6 million mainly dueto the decrease in income tax payable to P=252.4 million from P=410.6 million due to lower net earnings in2009 compared to 2008, offset by the increase in trade and other payables from P=735.7 million toP=866.2 million.Total noncurrent liabilities likewise decreased to P=911.1 in 2009 from P=1,108.2 million due to payment oflong-term debt and decrease in deferred income tax liabilities to P=477.1 million from P=621.7 million duelower deferred taxes recognized on unrealized foreign exchange gains.Equity - net of non-controlling interests increased in 2009 from P=10,997.4 million due to net earnings in2009, issuance of capital stock and increase in net valuation gains on AFS investments.
Cash Flows

Calendar year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008The net cash flows from operating activities amounted to P=3,497.9 million in 2010, compared toP=1,123.9 million in 2009, as proceeds from the sale of ore substantially increased in 2010 compared to2009.  Our net cash flows used in operating activities was P=959.1 million in 2008 primarily due topayment of P=3,171.7 million in income taxes in 2008 despite our net cash from operations in 2008 ofP=1,947.7 million, which led to our using cash from operating activities on a net basis. The comparativelylarge tax payment in 2008 was the result of taxes paid with respect for our 2007 income.Net cash used for investing activities amounted to P=5,924.7 million in 2010, largely as a result of ourinvestments in the THPAL, as well as acquisition of property and equipment; Net cash used for investingactivities amounted to P=1,013.1 million in 2009 and P=2,016.2 million in 2008 due to net acquisitions ofAFS investments and property and equipment.Cash generated from financing activities in 2010, net of payments of cash dividend and long-term debtamounted to P=2,514.3 million, was largely a result of the issuance of capital stock, sale of treasury sharesand the availment of long-term debt while cash flows from financing activities amounted toP=573.7 million in 2009 due to acquisition of treasury shares and P=172.2 million in 2008 due to paymentsof cash dividends offset to some extent by our availment of long-term debt.As at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=6,806.0 million,P=6,779.2 million and P=7,452.6 million, respectively.
Top Five (5) Key Performance Indicators

LME priceWe typically sell high- and low-grade saprolite ore to PAMCO under long-term agreements and we are theexclusive supplier of limonite ore, also under a long-term agreement, to the Coral Bay HPAL facility. Theprice of nickel ore sold to PAMCO and the Coral Bay HPAL facility is determined based on a payablepercentage of the nickel contained in the ore, multiplied by average LME nickel prices over specifiedquotational periods. The payable percentage of the nickel contained in the ore is correlated, in a non-linear manner, with LME nickel prices, with higher LME prices resulting in a higher payable percentage ofnickel and vice versa. Accordingly, higher LME nickel prices results both in a higher percentage of payablenickel in our ore to these customers as well as in higher prices, and can therefore have a substantial effecton our overall revenue. Nickel prices and demand for nickel typically increase during periods of highglobal demand for stainless steel.
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Nickel prices have historically exhibited considerable volatility. Nickel prices climbed from as low asUS$4.25 per pound in March 2009 to a high of US$12.35 per pound in April 2010. After recentcorrections, the nickel price was US$11.32 per pound at the end of 2010. The average LME nickel prices(per pound) in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 were US$16.82, US$9.55, US$6.67 and US$9.89, respectively.The sensitivity of our revenues to LME nickel prices is not completely linear, because, in our experience,when nickel prices reach certain levels, the demand for our limonite ore increases. As a result of thiseffect, very high nickel prices have, in the past, resulted in increased volumes of nickel ore sold, as well asincreased prices for our recurring sales of saprolite ore to PAMCO and limonite ore to the Coral Bay HPALfacility under long-term contracts. Increases and decreases in the LME nickel price will have a broadlyproportional effect on our revenues from these sales.
VolumeThe volume of saprolite ore that we sell largely depends on the grade of saprolite ore that we mine. Thevolume of limonite ore that we sell to our customers in China largely depends on the demand for NPI inChina.  Our sales of high-grade saprolite ore are typically made to PAMCO, who purchases all of the high-grade saprolite ore that we are able to extract and ship at any given time. With respect to our low-gradesaprolite and limonite ore, in periods when we are able to extract more ore than we are able to ship, wegenerally continue our mining operations and stockpile such ore for sale when demand improves or whenprices rise to more attractive levels. As stated above, the volume of our low-grade saprolite ore andlimonite ore sales to our Chinese customers is roughly correlated with the LME nickel price, with volumeincreasing as nickel prices rise. In addition to sales of nickel ore to PAMCO and our customers in China,we sell limonite ore from our Rio Tuba mine to the Coral Bay HPAL facility, in which we have a minorityinterest. CBNC purchases an amount of limonite ore from us sufficient to meet its ore requirements. Theannual capacity of its Coral Bay HPAL facility was originally 10,000 tonnes of contained nickel and wasexpanded to 20,000 tonnes of contained nickel in the second half of 2009, resulting in a higher volume oflimonite ore sales from RTN.   In 2010, the Coral Bay HPAL facility was able to attain an annual capacity of23,000 tonnes as a result of the facility’s expansion in 2009 which became fully operational in 2010.
The type and grade of ore that we mineWe realize higher sales prices for our saprolite ore than for our limonite ore. Accordingly, the type andgrade (which is a factor of nickel content) of the ore that we mine affects our revenues from year to year.The quantity of saprolite ore that we mine annually depends on the customer demand and the availabilityof such ore at our mine sites. The mix between high-and low-grade saprolite ore at our mine sites coupledwith our long-term mining plan determines the quantities of each that we extract on an annual basis. Thequantity of limonite ore that we mine on an annual basis depends on the amount of such ore that needs tobe removed in order to extract the saprolite ore, as well as market demand.
Mine Site Cash Cost per Volume SoldThe mine site cash cost per volume of ore sold provides a cost profile for each operating mine and allowsus to measure and compare operating performance as well as changes in per unit costs from year to year.The mine site cash cost includes production and marketing expenses incurred by the Company in mining,handling and barging ore to customer’s vessels, and excludes excise taxes and royalties.The average mine site cash cost per volume sold in 2010 is P=364.45 per WMT on the basis of aggregatecash costs of P=3,121.2 million and a total sales volume of 8,564.1 thousand WMT of ore. This compares toP=317.51 per WMT during the same period in 2009 on the basis of aggregate cash costs of P=2,098.2 millionand a total sales volume of 6,608.4 thousand WMT of ore.To augment our operations in 2010 in order to meet the surge in demand for our ore, the Companyengaged third party contractors to assist in the hauling and loading of ore  Typically, the unit costassociated with the use of outside services is higher compared to costs incurred when volume handling isdone by the Company.
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Currency exchange ratesWe earn substantially all of our revenues in U.S. dollars while most of our expenses are paid in pesos. Theappreciation of the peso against the United States dollar reduces our revenue in peso terms. Accordingly,appreciation of the peso against the U.S. dollar effectively reduces our revenue without a correspondingreduction in our expenses and can result in a reduction in our net income. In addition, because a portionof our cash and cash equivalents and other portfolio investments are denominated in U.S. dollars, theappreciation of the peso against the U.S. dollar reduces the value of these assets in peso terms in ourfinancial statements. Our current policy is not to hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.The Company’s average realized peso-to-dollar rates for 2010 and 2009 are P=44.86 and P=48.17,respectively.
Liquidity and Capital ResourcesIn the years ended 2008, 2009 and 2009, our principal source of liquidity was cash from our operations.We incurred long-term debt to finance the construction of our Rio Tuba pier facilities and we receiveincome from CBNC under a throughput agreement whereby amounts are payable by CBNC to RTN for useof the pier facilities. The revenue that we receive from CBNC under the throughput agreement hastypically been sufficient to service our long-term debt. We intend to finance the construction of pierfacilities at our Taganito property under a similar arrangement with Taganito HPAL Nickel.As of December 31, 2010, our working capital, defined as the difference between our current assets andcurrent liabilities, was P=9.9 billion and P=1.3 billion, respectively. We expect to meet our working capital,capital expenditure and investment requirements from the cash flow coming from our operations and aswell as debt that we have incurred to finance the construction of pier facilities at our Taganito property.We may also from time to time seek other sources of funding, which may include debt or equityfinancings, depending on our financing needs and market conditions.
Off-balance sheet arrangementsWe have not entered into any off-balance sheet transactions or obligations (including contingentobligations), or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons.
Item 7. Financial StatementsThe audited financial statements are presented in Part V, Exhibits and Schedules.
Item 8. Information on Independent Accountants and other Related MattersOur consolidated financial statements have been audited by SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co (“SGV & Co”) (amember practice of Ernst & Young Global Limited), independent auditors, as stated in their reportsappearing herein.Mr. Jaime F. Del Rosario is our current audit partner and has served as such since the incorporation ofNAC- Philippines or less than five years following the regulatory policy of audit partner rotation everyfive years. We have not had any disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with our currentexternal auditors for the same periods or any subsequent interim period.The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed for each of the years ended December 31, 2010 and2009 for professional services rendered by SGV & Co.: 2010 2009

(In Thousands)Audit and Audit-Related Services P=24,760 P=2,110Non-Audit Services 1,325 875Total 26,085 2,985
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PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer1. List of Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer
DirectorsThe following table sets forth information regarding our Directors.As of the date of this Prospectus, our directors and executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Citizenship Position Date ElectedManuel B. Zamora, Jr. 72 Philippine National Chairman June 16, 2010Gerard H. Brimo 59 Philippine National Executive Director,President and ChiefExecutive Officer June 16, 2010Ronaldo B. Zamora 66 Philippine National Director June 16, 2010Philip T. Ang 69 Philippine National ExecutiveDirector andVice-Chairman June 16, 2010Luis J. L. Virata 56 Philippine National Executive Director June 16, 2010Takanori Fujimura 66 Japanese National Executive Director June 16, 2010Takeshi Kubota 56 Japanese National Executive Director June 16, 2010Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. 67 Philippine National Independent Director June 16, 2010Frederick Y. Dy 55 Philippine National Independent Director September 24, 2010
Mr. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. owns 99% shareholdings in Mantra Resources Corp.  Mr. Philip T. Ang owns99% of Ni Capital Corporation.Certain information on the business and working experience of our Directors and Executive Officers is setout below:
Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. is the Chairman and a founder of the Company. He has been the President of RTNand the Chairman of TMC since these Subsidiaries were incorporated in 1969 and 1987, respectively. Mr.Zamora is also a director of a number of other companies in the Philippines, including CLSA ExchangeCapital Inc. He was previously Chairman and President of the Chamber of Mines of the Philippines. Mr.Zamora is a lawyer and a member of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines.
Gerard H. Brimo is a director and the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  Mr. Brimojoined the Company in 2008 and is also the President of two privately owned exploration companies,Newminco Nickel Mining Corp. and Newminco Pacific Mining Corp.  Mr. Brimo began his mining careerwith Philex Mining Corp. as a Vice President in 1985 and served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officerof Philex Mining from 1994 until his retirement from the company in December 2003. He was Presidentof the Chamber of Mines of the Philippines from 1993 to 1995 and Chairman from 1995 to 2003.  Mr.Brimo received a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from Manhattan College in New Yorkand a Master in Business Management from the Asian Institute of Management.
Ronaldo B. Zamora is a director of the Company. Mr. Zamora joined the company in 2010. He is currentlythe Chairman of RTN. Mr. Zamora has served in various functions with the Philippine Government, both inthe executive and legislative departments. He is likewise a Partner of the Zamora Poblador Vazquez &Bretana law office.
Philip T. Ang is the Vice Chairman of the Company.  He is also presently a director of Security BankCorporation and two of its subsidiaries, namely SB Capital Investment Corporation, and Security Finance,Inc.
Luis J. L. Virata is a director of the Company.  He is presently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ofCLSA Exchange Capital, an investment banking joint venture formed in 2001 between CLSA EmergingMarkets and Exchange Capital, which Mr. Virata formed in 1998.  Mr. Virata is also presently thePresident and Chief Executive Officer of Coastal Road Corp., Chairman and President of ExchangeProperties Resources Corp., Founder and Trustee of Asia Society and a director of Benguet Corporation,
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Huntsman Foundation and Group 4 Securitas.  Mr. Virata has previously held positions with Dillon, Readand Co., Crocker National Bank, Bankers Trust Company, Philippine Airlines, NSC Properties, Inc., ThePhilippine Stock Exchange, the Makati Stock Exchange, and National Steel Corp.  Mr. Virata received aMaster of Business Administration from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in 1979, and aBachelor of Arts and Master of Arts in Economics from Trinity College, Cambridge University in 1976.
Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. is an independent director of the Company. Mr. Factoran joined the company in2010 and is also a Director of Banco de Oro Leasing & Finance, Chairman of GAIA South, Inc., Chairman ofAgility, Inc., and a Director of Geo-Surveys & Mapping, Inc. He was previously a Director of CentralAzucarera de Tarlac and Business Certification International, Ltd. He previously held various governmentpositions, such as Trustee of the Government Service and Insurance System, Secretary of the Departmentof Environment and Natural Resources, Chairman of the National Electrification Administration,Chairman of the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes, Director of the National Development Corp., Trustee ofthe Development Academy of the Philippines and Deputy Executive Secretary of the Office of thePresident of the Philippines.
Frederick Y. Dy is an independent director of the Company. Mr. Dy joined the company in 2010 and isalso the Chairman and a director of Security Bank Corporation, Chairman of City Industrial Corporation,Vice-Chairman of St. Luke’s Medical Center and a director of Ponderosa Leather Goods Company, Inc.
Takanori Fujimura is a director of the Company. Mr. Fujimura joined the Company in 2009 and he is alsothe President of CBNC.
Takeshi Kubota is a director of the company. Mr. Kubota joined the company in 2010 and is alsocurrently a director and Managing Executive Officer of Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. Ltd. and GeneralManager of its Non-Ferrous Metals Division.
Executive OfficersOur Executive Officers, together with our Executive Directors, are responsible for our day-to-daymanagement and operations. The following table sets forth information regarding our Executive Officers.Name Age Citizenship OccupationMichio Iwai 59 Japanese National Chief Operating OfficerEmmanuel L. Samson 51 Philippine National Chief Financial OfficerRolando R. Cruz 50 Philippine National Vice President of OperationsMartin Antonio G. Zamora 38 Philippine National Vice President for Purchasing andMarketingJose Roderick F. Fernando 37 Philippine National Vice President for Legal and HumanResources and Assistant CorporateSecretaryBarbara Anne C. Migallos 56 Philippine National Corporate Secretary
Information on the business and working experience of our other Executive Officers is set out below:
Michio Iwai is the Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company and is the head ofoperations and exploration for all of the NAC Group’s mining properties.  Mr. Iwai has been an officer,consultant, or a member of the technical consultant team to certain of NAC’s subsidiaries since 1975.Prior to joining NAC, Mr. Iwai spent over 24 years in various positions with PAMCO.
Emmanuel L. Samson is the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company and isresponsible for the finance and treasury functions of the NAC Group.  Prior to joining NAC in 2006,Mr. Samson was Senior Country Officer for Credit Agricole Indosuez in the Philippines.  Mr. Samson has11 years experience in the Philippine equities markets having held positions with W.I. Carr IndosuezSecurities (Phils.) Inc., Amon Securities Corporation and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation.
Martin Antonio G. Zamora is the Vice President of the Company and is responsible for the marketing andpurchasing functions of the NAC Group. He is likewise the President of Samar Nickel Mining ResourcesCorporation. Prior to joining NAC in 2007, Mr. Zamora was a director and head of the Philippines of UPCRenewables, a global developer, owner, and operator of wind farms and solar facilities.  He also has more
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than 10 years experience in corporate finance and investment banking, having held positions with firmssuch as CLSA, Robert Fleming & Co. (UK), Jardine Fleming, and SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
Rolando R. Cruz is the Vice President of Operations of the Company and is responsible for the operationsand engineering functions of the Company’s projects and the Company’s Surigao and Dinagat-basedoperations.  Mr. Cruz is a licensed mining engineer in the Philippines with 25 years of professionalexperience in both mining operations and project development in gold, copper, chromite, concreteaggregates, nickel, and oil sands deposits using the open pit and underground bulk mining methods.  Hehas held various positions with firms such as Albian Sands Energy, Inc. (Canada), Berong NickelCorporation, Concrete Aggregates Corporation, Philex Mining Corporation, and Benguet Corporation.
Jose Roderick F. Fernando is the Vice President and Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company and isresponsible for the Group’s legal and human resources matters. He is likewise the Corporate Secretary ofNAC’s subsidiaries. Prior to joining the Company in 2008, Mr. Fernando was a practicing lawyer withBalane Tamase Alampay Law Office for 7 years, specializing in commercial litigation, labor and corporatelaw. Mr. Fernando is a member of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines and is a Commissioner of itsCommission on Bar Discipline. He is also licensed to practice law in the state of New York.
Barbara Anne C. Migallos is the Corporate Secretary of the Company.  She is the Managing Partner ofMigallos and Luna Law Offices, and was a Senior Partner of Roco Kapunan Migallos and Luna from 1986to 2006.  A practicing lawyer since 1980, Ms. Migallos focuses principally on corporate law, mergers andacquisitions, and securities law.  She is a Director of Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation, a listed company,Philippine Resins Industries, Inc. and several other corporations, and is the Corporate Secretary of PhilexMining Corporation, Eastern Telecommunications Philippines, Inc. and other corporations.  Ms. Migalloslectures regularly for the Supreme Court-mandated Continuing Legal Education program on the topicsCorporate Governance, Securities Law and Ethics for Corporate Lawyers.2. Significant employeesNo single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business since the Companyconsiders the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success of theCompany’s performance.3. Family RelationshipAside from Mr. Martin Antonio G. Zamora being the son of Mr. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr., none of ourExecutive Officers are related to each other or to our Directors and substantial Shareholders.4. Involvement in Certain Legal ProceedingsNone of the members of our Board, nor any of our executive officers, has been or is involved in anycriminal, bankruptcy or insolvency investigations or proceedings for the past five years and up to the dateof this Prospectus.  None of the members of our Board, nor any of our executive officers, has beenconvicted by final judgment of any offense punishable by the laws of the Republic of the Philippines or ofany other nation or country.  None of the members of our Board nor any of our executive officers havebeen or are subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated,of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining,barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities,commodities or banking activities.  None of the members of our Board nor any of our executive officershave been found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), theCommission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign Exchange or other organized tradingmarket or self regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation.
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Item 10. Executive CompensationThe following table identifies our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and three most highly compensatedexecutive officers (the “named executive officers”) and summarizes their aggregate compensation in2009, 2010 and 2011. The amounts set forth in the table below have been prepared based on what wepaid for the compensation of our executive officers for the years indicated, inclusive of one-time IPObonus paid out in 2010 and what we expect to pay on the ensuing year.
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011(Estimated)Salary Bonus Total Salary Bonus Total Salary Bonus Total(In Php Thousands)Named executive officers (1) P10,647 P5,762 P16,408 P15,898 P44,884 P60,782 P23,936 P11,499 P35,435All other officers and directorsas a group unnamed 1,150 492 1,642 2,522 1,460 3,982 3,242 311 3,553

1The named executive officers are: Gerard H. Brimo (President and CEO), Emmanuel L. Samson (Chief Financial Officer), Jose S. Saret
(Chief Operating Officer), Rolando R. Cruz (Vice President of Operations), Martin Antonio G. Zamora (Vice President for Purchasing and
Marketing).

Compensation of DirectorsBoard of Directors’ compensation is on a per diem basis in the amount of P10,000 at each meeting of theBoard. Currently, there are no arrangements for additional compensation of directors.
Stock option planOn June 16, 2010, our Board of Directors and stockholders approved the NAC Executive Stock Option Plan(the “ESOP” or the “Plan”) covering up to twelve million (12,000,000) Shares allocated to our officers andthe officers of our subsidiaries, specifically those with a position of Assistant Vice President and higher,including all Resident Mine Managers of our subsidiaries. The optionees of the ESOP may avail of theESOP Shares at ninety percent (90%) of the Offer Price for a number of ESOP Shares equivalent to up tothree (3) years annual salary of the optionee. The term of the ESOP shall be six (6) years commencingfrom the date of the approval of the Plan and may be availed of by the optionees one (1) year from suchcommencement for up to twenty five percent (25%) of the optionee’s entitlement and henceforth, up toanother 25% of the optionee’s entitlement per year thereafter. The optionee can exercise the vestedoption by giving notice to NAC within the term of the Plan, and can opt to either purchase the sharesdirectly at the exercise price or request the Company to advance the purchase price and to sell the shares,in which case the participant will receive the sales proceeds less the exercise price. Cost of the executivestock option plan in 2010 amounted to P=1.1 million.
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial OwnersThe list of registered stockholders owning five (5%) percent or more of the Company’s stock as ofDecember 31, 2010 follows:
Title of class Name, address of recordowner and relationshipwith issuer Name of BeneficialOwner and Relationshipwith Record Owner Citizenship No. of SharesHeld PercentCommon Stock Manuel B. Zamora, Jr.2/F NAC Centre, 143dela Rosa cor.Adelantado Streets,LegaspiVillage, Makati City

Mantra ResourcesCorporation* Filipino 303,976,910 22.69%

Common Stock PCD NomineeCorporation(Non-Filipino) Foreign 267,442,736 19.96%
Common Stock Sumitomo  Metal MiningCo., Ltd.11-3, 5-Chome,ShimbashiMinato-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Sumitomo MetalMiningPhilippineHoldingsCorporation
Japanese 243,658,094 18.19%

(Forward)
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Title of class Name, address of recordowner and relationshipwith issuer Name of BeneficialOwner and Relationshipwith Record Owner Citizenship No. of SharesHeld PercentCommon Stock Luis J. L. Virata3/F Corporate BusinessCentre, 151Paseo de Roxas MakatiCity
Nonillion HoldingCorporation* Filipino 176,381,559 13.16%

Common Stock Philip T. Ang3/F NAC Centre, 143dela Rosa cor.Adelantado Streets,LegaspiVillage, Makati City
Ni Capital Corporation* Filipino 152,933,704 11.41%

Common Stock PCD NomineeCorporation (Filipino) Filipino 95,027,872 7.09%Preferred Stock Nickel Asia Holdings, Inc.6/F NAC Centre, 143dela Rosa cor.Adelantado Streets,LegaspiVillage, Makati City
Direct ownership Filipino 720,000,000 100%

* Transfers from the individual shareholders to the respective corporations are covered by deed of assignments and pending issuance of
Certificate Authorizing Registration from the BIR

Security Ownership of ManagementThe beneficial ownership of the Company’s directors and executive officers as of December 31, 2010follows:
Title of Class Name of BeneficialOwner Amount and Nature of BeneficialOwnership Citizenship PercentCommon Stock Manuel B. Zamora, Jr 303,976,910—Direct55,293,204—throughMantra Resources Corporation Filipino 22.69%4.13%Common Stock Gerard H. Brimo 1,855,000 Filipino 0.14%Common Stock Ronaldo B. Zamora FilipinoCommon Stock Philip T. Ang 152,933,704—Direct27,818,542—throughNi Capital Corporation Filipino 11.41%

Common Stock Luis J. L. Virata 176,381,559—Direct Filipino 13.16%Common Stock Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. 75 Filipino O%Common Stock Frederick Y. Dy 75 Filipino O%Common Stock Takanori Fujimura 200 Japanese O%Common Stock Takeshi Kubota 200 Japanese O%Common Stock Michio Iwai — Japanese O%Common Stock Emmanuel L. Samson — Filipino O%Common Stock Rolando R. Cruz — Filipino O%Common Stock Martin Antonio G.Zamora — Filipino O%Common Stock Jose Roderick F.Fernando — Filipino O%Common Stock Barbara Anne C. Migallos — Filipino O%
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or MoreThere is no voting trust holder of 5% or more of the Company’s stock.
Changes in ControlThere are no arrangements which may result in a change in control of the Company.
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Item 12. Certain Relationship and Related TransactionsThe following are the significant transactions with stockholder who owns ten percent (10%) or more oftotal outstanding shares of the Company or its subsidiaries:Nickel Ore Sale Agreements with PAMCOHMC, CMC and TMC supply saprolite ore to PAMCO under renewable annual agreements.  PAMCO is astockholder of the Company and TMC.  All sales made to PAMCO are transacted at prevailing marketprices.  Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the ore products for a specific shipment shallbe based on London Metal Exchange.  PAMCO shall pay the Group ninety percent (90%) of the provisionalinvoice amount upon receipt of the required documents and pay the final payment of each shipment afterthe final dry weight and applicable assay have been determined.Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with PAMCO and Sojitz Corporation (Sojitz)RTN supplies saprolite ore to PAMCO under a sale agreement, which shall continue to be valid and ineffect until December 2012, wherein PAMCO appointed Sojitz as agent.  PAMCO owns thirty six percent(36%) and Sojitz four percent (4%) of the outstanding shares in the capital stock of RTN.Other Receivables from SMMOther receivables from SMM amounting to P=107.6 million and P=78.8 million as at December 31, 2010 and2009, respectively, included in trade and other receivables pertain to reimbursable costs and expensesadvanced by the Company to the related party.Funding Commitment with SMMRTN’s long-term debt was incurred to complete infrastructure projects to support the development of theCoral Bay HPAL facility.  These projects included the causeway, trestles and dolphins in the Rio Tubaforeshore and offshore areas.Note 32 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Exhibits in Part V is incorporated heretoby reference.
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PART IV – DISCUSSION ON COMPLIANCE WITH LEADING PRACTICE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Item 14. Corporate GovernanceThe Company adopted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) on June 16, 2010 and theamendments thereto on March 25, 2011, so as to incorporate certain mandatory provisions of the RevisedCode of Corporate Governance. The Amended Manual was submitted to the SEC on March 31, 2011.The Company is committed to the principles of sound corporate governance and believes that it is anecessary component of what constitutes sound strategic business investment. The Amended Manual hasinstitutionalized the principles of good corporate governance within the Company and embodies theframework of rules, systems and processes that governs the performance by the Board of Directors (BOD)and of Management of their respective duties and responsibilities to the shareholders.The Company’s BOD is comprised of nine (9) Directors, with two (2) being Independent Directors, namelyAtty. Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. and Mr. Frederick Y. Dy. The Company espouses the definition ofindependence pursuant to the Securities Regulation Code. The Company thus considers as anIndependent Director one who, except for his director’s fees and shareholdings, is independent ofmanagement and free from any business or other relationship which, or could reasonably be perceived to,materially interfere with his exercise of independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities as aDirector.The BOD is primarily responsible for the governance of the Company and shall provide the policies for theaccomplishment of the corporate objectives, including the means by which to effectively monitorManagement’s performance. It is the BOD’s responsibility to foster the long-term success of the Companyand to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate objectivesand the best interest of its stockholders.The BOD has constituted the following Committees and appointed the named Officers to effectivelymanage the operations of the Company:
Audit Committee—Aside from overseeing the internal and external auditors of the Company, the AuditCommittee is responsible for assisting the Board in its fiduciary responsibilities by providing anindependent and objective assurance to our management and shareholders of the continuousimprovement of our risk management systems, business operations, and the proper safeguarding and useof our resources and assets. The Audit Committee provides a general evaluation and assistance in theoverall improvement of our risk management, control and governance processes.The Audit Committee is comprised of Mr. Frederick Y. Dy, an Independent Director, as Chairman, andMessrs. Gerard H. Brimo and Takanori Fujimura as members. The Audit Committee reports to the Boardand is required to meet at least once every three months.The BOD, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, appointed the Company’s Internal Auditor,who shall assume office on 01 April 2011. The Internal Auditor shall report directly to the President andshall be primarily tasked with monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s governance,operations, and information systems, including the reliability and integrity of financial and operationalinformation, the effectiveness of operations, the safeguarding of assets, and compliance with laws, rules,regulations, and contracts.
Nomination Committee—The Nomination Committee is responsible for providing shareholders with anindependent and objective evaluation of and assurance that the members of its Board are competent andwill foster the Company’s long-term success and secure our competitiveness.The Nomination Committee is comprised of Mr. Manuel B. Zamora, Jr. as Chairman of the Committee andMessrs. Takeshi Kubota and Fulgencio S. Factoran, Jr. as members, the latter being an IndependentDirector. The Nomination Committee reports directly to the Board and is required to meet at least once ayear.
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Corporate Secretary—Ms. Barbara Anne C. Migallos is the incumbent and duly qualified CorporateSecretary of the Company. She is currently fulfilling the duties and responsibilities of her office, ensuringthat all Board procedures, rules and regulations are strictly followed.
Compliance Officer—Mr. Jose Roderick F. Fernando, aside from being designated as the AssistantCorporate Secretary of the Company, has likewise been appointed by the Board as the Compliance Officer,designated to monitor compliance by the Company with the Manual and the rules and regulations ofregulatory agencies.In compliance with PSE Memo 2010-0574, the Company submitted to the PSE on March 30, 2011 itsCompliance Report on Corporate Governance for the year 2010.Despite being a newly listed corporation, the Company is devoted to further improving and expanding inthe area of good corporate governance, in accordance with best practices being observed by otherpublicly listed entities.
PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Item 13. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C

ExhibitsSee accompanying Index to Exhibits as well as the Company’s Audited Financial Statements for therecently completed fiscal year. These financial statements are reports from the Corporation’sIndependent Public Accountant, SGV& Co.
Reports on SEC Form 17-CThere are SEC Forms 17-C filed in 2010 covered by this report, to wit:Date Reported Item ReportedDecember 3, 2010 Disclosure on exercise of overallotment under theInternational Underwriting Agreement for 45,675,000optional shares
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NICKEL ASIA CORP.

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management ofNickel Asia Corporation is responsible for all information and representations

contained in the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. The financial

statements have been prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and

reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed judgment ofmanagement with an

appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system ofaccounting and reporting which provides for the

necessary internal controls to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, assets are

safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are recognized.

The Board ofDirectors reviews the financial statements before such statements are approved and

submitted to the stockholders ofthe Company.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co, the independent auditors and appointed by the stockholders, has

examined the financial statements ofthe Company as ofand for the year ended December 31, 2010 in

accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of

presentation upon completion ofsuch examination, in its report to the stockholders.

Signature:
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Signature:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and the Board of Directors 
Nickel Asia Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Nickel Asia Corporation and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of income, statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. 
6760 Ayala Avenue 
1226 Makati City 
Philippines 
 

Phone: (632) 891 0307 
Fax: (632) 819 0872 
www.sgv.com.ph 
 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001 
SEC Accreditat ion No. 0012-FR-2 
 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Nickel Asia Corporation and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
and their financial performance and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2010 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 
 
 
 
 
Jaime F. del Rosario 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 56915 
SEC Accreditation No. 0076-AR-2 
Tax Identification No. 102-096-009 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-72-2009, 
 June 1, 2009, Valid until May 31, 2012 
PTR No. 2641518, January 3, 2011, Makati City 
 
March 25, 2011 



NICKEL ASIA CORPORAJlONANDjUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Number of Shares)

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (Note 5)
Trade and other receivables (Nolc 6)

Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets (Note 8)
Inventories (Note 7)

Other current assets (Note 9)

Total Current Assc

Noncurrent Assets

AFS financial assets (Nole 8)

Property and equipment (Note 10)
Investment property (Note 1 ])

Investment in an associate (Note 12)

Long-term stock pile inventory - net of current portion (Note 13)
Deferred income lax assets - net ("Note 34)

Oilier concurrent assets (Note 14)

Total Noiicurrent Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 15)

Income tax payable

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 16)

P6,805*968

1,113,255

469,976

1,416,431

52,993

9,858,623

907,161

3,762,607

50,845

4,570,453

964,994

414,014

977 364

P6,779,2I5

318,215

1,338,878

1,081,291

1.503.325

248,928

11.269.852

883,408

2,156,687

60.053
_

1,108,178

273,050

605.730

U,647;438

P21,506,061

5.087.106

PI 6,356,958

£935,179

322,127

78 425

P866.223

252,373

ent Liabilities
1.335,731

Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term debt - net of current portion (Note 16)

Deferred income (ax liabilities - net (Note 34)
Deferred rent income (Note 32)

Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning (Note 17)
Pension liability (Note 33")

1,465,826

440,770

83,799

55,419

48,967

337.477

477,103

46.202

Liabilities
2,094,781

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Capital slock (Note 18)

Additional paid-in capital ("Note 18)

Other components of equity;

Cost of share-based payment plan (Nole 19)

Net valuation gains on AFS financial assets (Note 8)

Share in cumulative translation adjustment (Note 12)
Asset revaluation surplus (Note 3 i)

Retained earnings

677,116

8,075,641

1,101

37,589

120,411

34,778

5,987 024

478,812

4,894.613

28,261

35.161

Less cost of 132.991.182 treasury shares (Notes 1 and 18)

Non-controlling Interests

Tot.il Equity

14,933,660

14,933,660

3,141,889

18,075,549

13.096,118

(1,821.994)

11,274,124

3,002.731

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
P21,506,061 356 9

See accompanying Notes lo Consolidated Financial Stalemerits.
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Earnings per Share) 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 
 2010 2009 2008 

REVENUES (Notes 11 and 32)    
Sale of ore P=8,074,298 P=4,333,208 P=5,579,347 
Services and others 261,740 353,518 247,730 
 8,336,038 4,686,726 5,827,077 

COSTS AND EXPENSES    
Cost of sales (Note 21) 3,062,028 2,516,289 2,318,901 
Cost of services (Note 22) 141,067 240,899 121,489 
Shipping and loading costs (Note 23) 821,212 551,963 299,660 
Excise taxes and royalties (Notes 24 and 37) 523,208 288,897 475,337 
General and administrative (Note 25) 475,732 456,195 613,111 
 5,023,247 4,054,243 3,828,498 

FINANCE INCOME (Note 28) 130,768 230,294 400,280 

FINANCE EXPENSES (Note 29) (81,240) (161,629) (1,522,255) 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - net (Note 30) (110,682) (71,375) 1,045,411 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 3,251,637 629,773 1,922,015 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX 
(Note 34)    

Current 1,148,564 391,594 976,959 
Deferred (200,836) (222,340) 84,813 
 947,728 169,254 1,061,772 

NET INCOME P=2,303,909 P=460,519 P=860,243 

Net income attributable to:    
 Equity holders of the parent P=1,478,870 P=302,887 P=179,208 
 Non-controlling interests 825,039 157,632 681,035 
 P=2,303,909 P=460,519 P=860,243 
 
Basic earnings per share (Note 20) P=1.43 P=0.31 P=0.18 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands) 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 
 2010 2009 2008 

NET INCOME P=2,303,909 P=460,519 P=860,243 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  
Share in translation adjustment of an associate (Note 12) 120,411 – – 
Net valuation gain (loss) on AFS financial assets (Note 8)  11,947 63,475 (122,234) 
Asset revaluation surplus (Note 31)  (383) (383) (383) 
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(LOSS) - NET OF TAX 131,975 63,092 (122,617) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -  

NET OF TAX P=2,435,884 P=523,611 P=737,626 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
 Equity holders of the parent P=1,608,226 P=367,364 P=56,856 
 Non-controlling interests 827,658 156,247 680,770 
 P=2,435,884 P=523,611 P=737,626 
 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 AND 2008 
(Amounts in Thousands) 
 
 
 

 

Capital 
Stock 

(Note 18) 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

(Note 18) 

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Non-controlling 
Interests Total 

Cost of Share 
based 

Payment 
Plan 

(Note 19) 

Net 
Valuation 

Gains 
(Losses) 
on AFS 

Financial 
Assets 

(Note 8) 

Share in 
Cumulative 
Translation 

Adjustment of 
an Associate 

(Note 12) 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
(Note 31) 

Retained 
Earnings 

Treasury 
Shares 

(Notes 1  
and 18) Total 

Balances at December 31, 2009 P=478,812 P=4,894,613 P=– P=28,261 P=– P=35,161 P=7,659,271 (P=1,821,994) P=11,274,124 P=3,002,731 P=14,276,855 

Net income – – – – – – 1,478,870 – 1,478,870 825,039 2,303,909 

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – 9,328 120,411 (383) – – 129,356 2,619 131,975 

Total comprehensive income (loss) – – – 9,328 120,411 (383) 1,478,870 – 1,608,226 827,658 2,435,884 

Cost of share-based payment (Note 19) – – 1,101 – – – – – 1,101 – 1,101 

Issuance of shares (Notes 1 and 18) 123,304 3,008,155 – – – – – – 3,131,459 – 3,131,459 

Cash dividends - P=3.16 per share 
(Note 18) – – – – – – (3,076,500) – (3,076,500) – (3,076,500) 

Asset revaluation surplus transferred to 
retained earnings (Note 31) – – – – – – 383 – 383 – 383 

Reissuance of treasury shares 
(Notes 1 and 18) – 172,873 – – – – – 1,821,994 1,994,867 – 1,994,867 

Stock dividends (Note 18) 75,000 – – – – – (75,000) – – – – 

Share of minority in cash dividends of  
a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – (688,500) (688,500) 

Balances at December 31, 2010 P=677,116 P=8,075,641 P=1,101 P=37,589 P=120,411 P=34,778 P=5,987,024 P=– P=14,933,660 P=3,141,889 P=18,075,549 
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Capital 
Stock 

(Note 18) 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

(Notes 18) 

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total 

Cost of 
Share-based 

Payment 
Plan 

(Note 19) 

Net Valuation 
Gains (Losses) 

on AFS 
Financial 

Assets 
(Note 8) 

Share in 
Cumulative 
Translation 

Adjustment of 
an Associate 

(Note 12) 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
(Notes 31) 

Retained 
Earnings 

Treasury 
Shares 

(Notes 1 
and 18) Total 

Balances at December 31, 2008 P=410,891 P=3,089,349 P=– (P=36,599) P=– P=35,544 P=7,498,213 P=– P=10,997,398 P=3,276,484 P=14,273,882 

Net income – – – – – – 302,887  – 302,887 157,632 460,519 

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – 64,860 – (383) – – 64,477 (1,385) 63,092 

Total comprehensive income (loss) – – – 64,860 – (383) 302,887 – 367,364 156,247 523,611 

Issuance of shares (Note 18) 67,921 1,801,238 – – – – – – 1,869,159 – 1,869,159 

Repurchase of own shares (Note 18) – – – – – – – (2,882,228) (2,882,228) – (2,882,228) 

Sale of treasury shares (Note 18) – 4,026 – – – – – 1,060,234 1,064,260  1,064,260 

Cash dividends - P=0.35 per share (Note 18) – – – – – – (142,212) – (142,212) – (142,212) 

Asset revaluation surplus transferred to 
retained earnings (Note 31) – – – – – – 383 – 383 – 383 

Share of minority in cash dividends of  
a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – (430,000) (430,000) 

Balances at December 31, 2009 P=478,812 P=4,894,613 P=– P=28,261 P=– P=35,161 P=7,659,271 (P=1,821,994) P=11,274,124 P=3,002,731 P=14,276,855 
              
. 
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Capital Stock 

(Note 18) 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

(Note 18) 

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total 

Cost of 
Share-based 

Payment 
Plan 

(Note 19) 

Net Valuation 
Gains (Losses) 

on AFS 
Financial 

Assets 
(Note 8) 

Share in 
Cumulative 
Translation 

Adjustment of 
an Associate 

(Note 12) 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Surplus 
(Note 31) 

Retained 
Earnings 

Treasury 
Shares 

(Notes 1 
and 18) Total 

Balances at December 31, 2007 P=3,390,483 P=101,499 P=– P=85,370 P=– P=35,927 P=7,318,622 P=– P=10,931,901 P=2,891,464 P=13,823,365 

Net income – – – – – – 179,208 – 179,208 681,035 860,243 

Other comprehensive income (loss) – – – (121,969) – (383) – – (122,352) (265) (122,617) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) – – – (121,969) – (383) 179,208 – 56,856 680,770 737,626 

Effect of merger (Note 31) (2,979,592) 2,987,850 – – – – – – 8,258 – 8,258 

Asset revaluation surplus transferred to 
retained earnings (Note 31) – – – – – – 383 – 383 – 383 

Share of minority in cash dividends  
of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – (295,750) (295,750) 

Balances at December 31, 2008 P=410,891 P=3,089,349 P=– (P=36,599) P=– P=35,544 P=7,498,213 P=– P=10,997,398 P=3,276,484 P=14,273,882 
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Thousands) 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 
 2010 2009 2008  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Income before income tax P=3,251,637 P=629,773 P=1,922,015 
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and depletion (Note 27) 560,170 470,384 362,198 
Interest income (Note 28) (128,758) (162,052) (235,460) 
Dividend income (Notes 8 and 30) (120,246) (1,028) (69,126) 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) - net 73,798 238,449 (994,160) 
Loss (gain) on :    

Derivative transactions - net (Notes 29 and 36) 46,987 78,748 1,417,068 
Valuation on AFS financial assets transferred from equity to profit or loss - net  

(Notes 8, 28 and 29) 9,520 1,191 (31,751) 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL (Notes 5, 28 and 29) (2,010) (52,865) 37,291 
Change in provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning  

estimates (Note 28) – (15,377) (19,935) 
Sale of property and equipment (Note 30) – 719 (368) 
Impairment of deferred mine exploration costs (Notes 14 and 30) – – 6,239 

Interest expense (Note 29) 10,865 20,762 39,544 
Accretion interest on provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning 

(Notes 17 and 29) 9,217 7,621 8,655 
Equity in net losses of an associate (Note 12) 6,412 – – 
Movements in pension liability (1,358) 13,464 17,346 
Cost of share-based payment plan (Note 19) 1,101 – – 

Operating income before working capital changes 3,717,335 1,229,789 2,459,556 
Decrease (increase) in:     

Trade and other receivables 148,508 (398,371) (15,337) 
Inventories 230,078 648,024 234,111 
Other current assets 195,935 (68,380) (14,424) 

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 68,193 133,426 (716,227) 
Net cash generated from operations 4,360,049 1,544,488 1,947,679 
Interest received 112,373 148,956 235,334 
Dividends received 120,246 1,028 69,126 
Income taxes paid (1,078,810) (549,835) (3,171,735) 
Interest paid (15,954) (20,762) (39,544) 
Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities 3,497,904 1,123,875 (959,140) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Acquisitions of:    

Financial assets at FVPL (136,881) (1,546,225) (728,484) 
AFS financial assets (Note 8) (1,732,591) (2,143,085) (292,989) 
Property and equipment (Note 10) (2,058,497) (240,048) (1,173,531) 

Investment in an associate (Note 12) (4,443,075) – – 
Proceeds from (payments for):    

Sale of financial assets at FVPL (Note 5) 457,106 1,568,077 811,025 
Sale of AFS financial assets (Note 8) 2,323,172 1,436,410 578,147 
Settlement of derivative transactions (Note 36) (46,987) (274,273) (857,267) 
Sale of property and equipment 845 3,261 822 

Decrease (increase) in:    
Deferred rent income (Note 32) 83,799 – – 
Other noncurrent assets (371,634) 182,789 (353,955) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (5,924,743) (1,013,094) (2,016,232) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from:    

Issuance of capital stock (Note 18) 3,131,459 1,869,159 8,258 
Reissuance of treasury shares (Note 18) 1,994,867 1,064,260 – 
Availment of long-term debt (Note 16) 1,202,781 – 141,853 

Payments of:    
Cash dividends (Note 18) (3,765,000) (572,212) (295,750) 
Long-term debt (49,827) (52,663) (26,539) 

Repurchase of own shares (Note 18) – (2,882,228) – 
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities 2,514,280 (573,684) (172,178) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 87,441 (462,903) (3,147,550) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,779,215 7,452,631 9,670,594 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES IN CASH AND 
 CASH EQUIVALENTS (60,688) (210,513) 929,587 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=6,805,968 P=6,779,215 P=7,452,631 
    
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Number of Shares, Per Share Data and as Indicated) 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 

Nickel Asia Corporation (the Company, Parent Company) was registered with the Philippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 24, 2008.  The Company is primarily 
engaged in investing in and holding of assets of every kind and description and wherever situated, 
as and to the extent permitted by law.  It is also registered, within the limits prescribed by law, to 
engage in the business of mining of all kinds of ore, metals and minerals. 

Initial Public Offering (IPO) 
On June 16, 2010, the Board of Directors (BOD) of the Company approved the resolutions for the 
IPO of up to 304,500,000 common stock with a par value of P=0.50 subject to the registration 
requirement of the SEC and the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 

On September 13, 2010, the Company filed an application for listing the common shares with the 
PSE.  On October 5, 2010, the Company filed the Registration Statement together with the 
preliminary prospectus with the SEC and on October 20, 2010, the PSE approved the application 
of the Company for the initial listing of 304,500,000 common shares. 

The IPO of the Company’s shares with an offer price of P=15.00 per share, consisted of the 
following: 

• 304,500,000 common shares (consisting of 132,991,182 shares held in treasury and new 
common shares of 171,508,818) 

• The Company has granted an option, exercisable in whole or in part to purchase up to 
45,675,000 Optional Shares at the offer price, on the same terms and conditions as the 
common shares, solely to cover over-allotments, if any.  The Over-Allotment Option is 
exercisable from and including the Listing Date and ending on the date thirty (30) days from 
the Listing Date. 

On October 21, 2010, the SEC approved the Company’s Registration Statement.  The listing 
ceremony was held on November 22, 2010 (the Listing Date), the Company’s stock symbol, NIKL 
officially entered into the electronic board of the PSE marking the start of the public trading of the 
Company’s common stock through the stock market. 

Reorganization of the Group 
On February 25, 2009, the Stockholders of the Company and Nickel Asia Corp. (NAC), a 
company incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands (BVI) to acquire and hold the 
nickel mining and processing assets of members of the founding shareholders, approved the Plan 
of Merger between the Company and NAC.  Under the Plan of Merger: 

• The Company is the surviving corporation and that NAC’s corporate existence shall cease by 
operation of law as provided under the laws of BVI upon the effective date of merger which is 
March 15, 2009, subject to the approval by the SEC; 

• The Company shall become the owner of all the rights, businesses, assets and other properties 
and shall assume all the debts and liabilities of NAC as shown in NAC’s audited statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2008; and 
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• The Company shall issue to the stockholders of NAC 385,891,199 common shares in 
exchange for the assets and liabilities of NAC. 

 
On April 15, 2009, the SEC approved the merger which was accounted for as a tax-free 
transaction using the pooling of interest method (see Note 31).  As a result, all prior period 
consolidated financial statements presented have been restated to include the results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows of both companies as if they had always been combined.  Certain 
reclassifications were made to conform the presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
There were no material pre-merger transactions between the Company and NAC. 
 
On November 30, 2009, the Company received tax-free property dividends from Hinatuan Mining 
Corporation (HMC) in the form of HMC’s investment in subsidiaries in Cagdianao Mining 
Corporation (CMC) and Taganito Mining Corporation (TMC) based on CMC and TMC’s book 
values as at August 31, 2009.  The said declaration of property dividends were approved by the 
SEC and Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) on February 3, 2010 and December 22, 2009, 
respectively.  This resulted to the Company’s direct ownership in CMC and TMC. 
 
On or before August 4, 2006, NAC acquired ownership of all the shares of HMC, sixty percent 
(60%) of the shares of Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation (RTN) and twenty percent (20%) of 
the shares of CMC held directly or indirectly by the founding shareholders and certain directors of 
HMC, RTN and CMC.   
 
All of these transactions are collectively referred to herein as the ‘Reorganization’. 
 
As a result of the Reorganization, the Parent Company owns all of the outstanding shares of HMC 
and CMC, sixty-five percent (65%) of TMC and sixty percent (60%) of RTN.  
 
The Subsidiaries 
HMC 
HMC was registered with the SEC on October 9, 1979, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
nickel ore located in Hinatuan, Nonoc and Manicani Islands, Surigao del Norte.  The registered 
office address of HMC is 3rd Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa corner Adelantado Streets, 
Legaspi Village, Makati City.  
 
CMC 
CMC was registered with the SEC on July 25, 1997, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
nickel ore located in Barangay Valencia, Municipality of Cagdianao, Province of Dinagat Island.  
The registered office address of CMC is 4th Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi 
Village, Makati City, Philippines.   
 
TMC 
TMC was registered with the SEC on March 4, 1987, is a sixty-five percent (65%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
nickel ore located in Claver, Surigao del Norte.  The registered office address of TMC is 4th Floor, 
NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa corner Adelantado Streets, Legaspi Village, Makati City. 
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RTN 
RTN was registered with the SEC on July 15, 1965, is a sixty percent (60%) owned subsidiary of 
the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting nickel ore and 
providing non-mining services located in Barangay Rio Tuba, Municipality of Bataraza, Palawan.  
The registered office address of RTN is 2nd Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi 
Village, Makati City, Philippines. 
 
Falck Exp Inc. (FEI) 
FEI was registered with the SEC on November 22, 2005, is a eighty-eight percent (88%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company through HMC, CMC and TMC, and is primarily engaged in the 
business of exploring, prospecting, and operating mines and quarries of all kinds of ores and 
minerals, metallic and non-metallic.  FEI has not yet started commercial operations.  The 
registered office address of FEI is 3rd Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi Village, 
Makati City, Philippines. 
 
La Costa Shipping and Lighterage Corporation (LCSLC) 
LCSLC was registered with the SEC on October 23, 1992, is a one hundred percent (100%) 
owned subsidiary of the Company through HMC, and is primarily engaged in the chartering out of 
Landing Craft Transport (LCT) and providing complete marine services.  The registered office 
address of LCSLC is 7th Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City, 
Philippines.  LCSLC was acquired by HMC in April 2010 (see Note 31). 
 
Samar Nickel Mining Resources Corporation. (SNMRC) 
SNMRC was registered with the SEC on May 11, 2010, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and exporting of 
mineral ores.  SNMRC has not yet started commercial operations.  The registered office address of 
SNRMC is 6th Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City, 
Philippines. 
 
Cordillera Exploration Co., Inc. (CEXCI) 
CEXCI was registered with the SEC on October 19, 1994, is a one hundred percent (100%) owned 
subsidiary of the Company and is primarily engaged in the business of large-scale exploration, 
development and utilization of mineral resources.  CEXCI has a number of mining properties at 
various stages of exploration.  It is currently not engaged in any development or commercial 
production activities.  The registered office address of CEXCI is 4th Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela 
Rosa Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City, Philippines. 
 
The Parent Company’s registered office address is 6th Floor, NAC Centre, 143 Dela Rosa Street, 
Legaspi Village, Makati City. 
 
The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2010, were authorized for issuance by the Parent 
Company’s BOD on March 25, 2011. 
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2. Basis of Preparation and Consolidation, Statement of Compliance and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial assets at FVPL, AFS financial assets and derivative instruments, which are measured at 
fair value.  The consolidated financial statements and these notes are presented in Philippine peso, 
the Parent Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency.  All amounts are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (P=000) except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
Basis of Consolidation from January 1, 2010 
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company and the following subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the Group): 
 

 Country of 
Domicile 

Nature of 
Business 

Effective Ownership 
 2010 2009 
HMC Philippines Mining 100% 100% 
CMC Philippines Mining 100% 100% 
SNMRC Philippines Mining 100% – 
CEXCI Philippines Mining 100% – 
LCSLC* Philippines Services 100% – 
FEI* Philippines Mining 88% 88% 
TMC Philippines Mining 65% 65% 

RTN Philippines 
Mining and 

Services 60% 60% 
*Direct and indirect ownership 

 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Parent Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the entities, or generally has an interest of more than one half of the voting 
rights of the entities.  

 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Parent 
Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  
The financial statements of the Subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent 
Company, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances. 
 
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
Non-controlling Interest 
Non-controlling interest represents interest in a subsidiary that is not owned, directly or indirectly, 
by the Parent Company.  Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are 
attributed to the equity holders of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interest.  Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to the equity holders of the Parent Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. 
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Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and the net assets not held by the 
Group.  Transactions with non-controlling interest are accounted for using the entity concept 
method, whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of the share of the 
net assets acquired is recognized as an equity transaction. 
 
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a 
deficit balance. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change of control, is accounted for as 
an equity transaction.  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; 
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity; 
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received; 
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; 
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
• Reclassifies the parent company’s share of components previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income to profit or loss. 
 

Basis of Consolidation Prior to January 1, 2010 
The above mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis.  The following 
differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of 
consolidation: 

• Non-controlling interests represented the portion of profit or loss and net assets in the 
Subsidiaries not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of financial position 
separately from the parent’s equity.   

• Acquisition of non-controlling interest is accounted for using the entity concept method, 
whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of the share of the 
net assets acquired is recognized as an equity transaction. 

• Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the 
balance was reduced to nil.  Any further excess losses were attributable to the parent, 
unless the non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these. 

• Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate 
share of net asset value at the date control was lost. 

 
Reorganization of the Group 
As discussed in Note 1, the acquisition of NAC by the Company fell outside the scope of  
PFRS 3, Business Combinations.  Following the guidance regarding the selection of an appropriate 
accounting policy provided by Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the transaction has been accounted for in the 
consolidated financial statements using the pooling of interests method, which reflects the 
economic substance of the transaction.  In accordance with the requirements of the pooling of 
interests method, the comparative information in the consolidated financial statements has been 
extracted from the consolidated financial statements of NAC, and the financial statements of the 
combined Group represent a continuation of NAC’s financial statements.   
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Changes in Accounting Policies 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for 
the following new and amended PFRSs and Philippine Interpretations which were adopted as at 
January 1, 2010. 
 
Revised Standards and New Interpretations 
• Revised PFRS 3, Business Combinations and Amended PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements 
• Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee  

(IFRIC) 17, Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners 
 
Amendments and Improvements to Standards 
• Amendment to PAS 39, Eligible Hedged Items 
• Amendment to PFRS 2, Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 
• Improvements to PFRSs in 2008, with respect to PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 

and Discontinued Operations 
• Improvements to PFRSs in 2009 

 
 

Standards or interpretations or amendments to standards that have been adopted and that are 
deemed to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements or performance of the Group 
are described below: 
 
Revised Standards and New Interpretations 
• Revised PFRS 3, Business Combinations and Amended PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements, are effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2010.  
Revised PFRS 3 introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations 
occurring after this date.  Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the 
accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a 
contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in stages.  These changes will 
impact the amount of goodwill recognized, the reported results in the period that an 
acquisition occurs and future reported results.  Amended PAS 27 requires that a change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as a transaction 
with owners in their capacity as owners.  Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise 
to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.  Furthermore, the amended standard changes 
the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a 
subsidiary.  The changes by Revised PFRS 3 and Amended PAS 27 will affect future 
acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests. 
The change in accounting policy was applied prospectively. 

 
• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners, are effective 

for the Group for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009 with early application 
permitted.  It provides guidance on how to account for noncash distributions to owners.  The 
interpretation clarifies when to recognize a liability, how to measure it and the associated 
assets, and when to derecognize the asset and liability.  This interpretation is not currently 
applicable to the Group, as it has not made any non-cash distributions. 
 



- 7 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

Amendments to Standards 
 
• Amendment to PAS 39, Eligible Hedged Items clarifies that an entity is permitted to 

designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial instrument 
as a hedged item.  This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in 
particular situations.  This amendment is not currently applicable to the Group, as it has not 
entered into any such hedges. 
 

• Amendment to PFRS 2, Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions, are effective 
for the Group beginning July 1, 2009.  It clarifies that the contribution of a business on 
formation of a joint venture and combinations under common control are not within the scope 
of PFRS 2 even though they are out of scope of Revised PFRS 3. 

 
Improvements to PFRSs 
 
The omnibus amendments to PFRSs issued in 2009 were issued primarily with a view of removing 
inconsistencies and clarifying wording.  The adoption of the following amendments resulted in 
changes to accounting policies but did not have any significant impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group. 
  
• PFRS 2, Share-based Payment clarifies that the contribution of a business on formation of a 

joint venture and combinations under common control are not within the scope of PFRS 2 
even though they are out of scope of revised PFRS 3, Business Combinations. 

 
• PFRS 5, Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations clarifies that the 

disclosures required in respect of noncurrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for 
sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5.  The disclosure requirements 
of other PFRSs only apply if specifically required for such noncurrent assets or discontinued 
operations. 
 

• PFRS 8, Operating Segments clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported 
when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the chief operating 
decision maker. 

 
• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements clarifies that the terms of a liability that could 

result, at anytime, in its settlement by the issuance of equity instruments at the option of the 
counterparty do not affect its classification. 

 
• PAS 7, Cash Flows Statements explicitly states that only expenditure that results in a 

recognized asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities. 
 

• PAS 17, Leases removes the specific guidance on classifying land as a lease.  Prior to the 
amendment, leases of land were classified as operating leases.  The amendment now requires 
that leases of land are classified as either “finance” or “operating” in accordance with the 
general principles of PAS 17.  The amendments will be applied retrospectively. 
 

• PAS 36, Impairment of Assets clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, 
acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as defined in PFRS 8 before 
aggregation for reporting purposes. 
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Other amendments resulting from Improvements to PFRSs to the following standards did not have 
any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group: 
 
• PAS 38, Intangible Assets  
• PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  
• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 
• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers 
• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 
 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies  
The Group did not early adopt the following standards, amendments, improvements and 
Philippine interpretations: 
 
• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, introduces new 

requirements on the classification and measurement of financial assets.  It uses a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, 
replacing the many different rules in PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  The approach in the new standard is based on how an entity manages its 
financial instruments (its business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets.  The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, 
replacing the many different impairment methods in PAS 39.  The standard is effective date 
for mandatory adoption on January 1, 2013.  Earlier application is permitted for financial 
statements beginning on or after January 1, 2010 in the Philippines. 
 

 

• Revised PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, was revised in response to concerns that the 
previous disclosure requirements and the definition of a ‘related party’ were too complex and 
difficult to apply in practice, especially in environments where government control is 
pervasive.  The revised standard addresses these concerns by providing a partial exemption 
for government-related entities and by providing by simplifying the definition of a related 
party and removing inconsistencies.  The revised standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. 
 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments, provides guidance on how to account for the extinguishment of a financial 
liability by the issue of equity instruments.  These transactions are often referred to as debt for 
equity swaps.  The interpretation clarifies the requirements of PFRSs when an entity 
renegotiates the terms of a financial liability with its creditor and the creditor agrees to accept 
the entity’s shares or other equity instruments to settle the financial liability fully or partially.  
 
It clarifies that: 

− the entity’s equity instruments issued to a creditor are part of the consideration paid to 
extinguish the financial liability; 

− the equity instruments issued are measured at their fair value. If their fair value cannot be 
reliably measured, the equity instruments should be measured to reflect the fair value of the 
financial liability extinguished; and 

− the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the 
initial measurement amount of the equity instruments issued is included in the entity’s 
profit or loss for the period. 
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The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010 with 
earlier application permitted. 

 
• Amendment to PAS 32, Classification of Rights Issues, addresses the accounting for rights 

issues (rights, options or warrants) that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the issuer. Previously such rights issues were accounted for as 
derivative liabilities.  However, the amendment issued today requires that, provided certain 
conditions are met, such rights issues are classified as equity regardless of the currency in 
which the exercise price is denominated.  The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after February 1, 2010, with earlier application permitted. 
 

• Amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 
Requirement, which is itself an interpretation of PAS 19, The Limit on a Defined Benefit 
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction, applies in the limited 
circumstances when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and makes an 
early payment of contributions to cover those requirements.  The amendment permits such an 
entity to treat the benefit of such an early payment as an asset and is is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. 
 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate, covers 
accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of 
real estate directly or through subcontractors.  This interpretation requires that revenue on 
construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, except when such contract 
qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, 
or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of 
completion.  Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and 
where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis 
will also be accounted for based on stage of completion.  The interpretation is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012. 
 

• Amendment to PFRS 1, Limited Exemption from Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-
time Adopters, relieves first-time adopters of PFRSs from providing the additional disclosures 
introduced in Amendments to PFRS 7, Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments. It 
thereby ensures that first-time adopters benefit from the same transition provisions that 
Amendments to PFRS 7 provides to current PFRS preparers.  Additionally, the amendment to 
PFRS 1 clarifies the conclusions and intended transition for Amendments to PFRS 7.  The 
effective date of the amendment is July 1, 2010, with earlier application permitted. 
 

The Group does not expect any significant impact in the consolidated financial statements when it 
adopts the above standards, amendments, improvements and Philippine interpretations.  The 
revised and additional disclosures provided by the standards, amendments, improvements and 
interpretations will be included in the consolidated financial statements when these are adopted in 
2011, 2012 and 2013 when applicable. 
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Foreign Currency Translation 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso (P=), which is the Parent 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.  Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.  The functional currency of the entities in the Group is also the 
Philippine peso.  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Philippine peso at the 
rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the end of 
reporting period.  All differences are taken to consolidated statement of income. 
 
As at the financial reporting period, the statement of financial position of an associate (whose 
functional currency is other than the Philippine peso) is translated into the presentation currency of 
the Company (the Philippine peso) at the rate of exchange at the financial reporting period and, the 
statement of income is translated at the monthly average exchange rates for the year.  The 
exchange differences arising on the translation is recognized in other comprehensive income.  
Upon disposal of such associate, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation will be recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Financial Instruments  
Date of recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on 
the trade date (i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset). 
 
Initial recognition of financial instruments 
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments 
includes transaction costs.  The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS financial assets and loans and 
receivables.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and 
other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
were acquired or liabilities incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market.  
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where 
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every financial reporting period. 
 
The Group’s financial assets are in the nature of financial assets at FVPL, loans and receivables 
and AFS financial assets.  The Group has no financial assets classified as HTM investments as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009.   
 
The Group’s financial liabilities are in the nature of other financial liabilities. 
 
Determination of Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each end of the financial 
reporting period is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations, bid 
price for long positions and ask price short positions, without any deduction for transaction costs. 
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For financial instruments not traded in anctive market, the fair value is determined using 
appropriate valuation techniques.  Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 
 
The Group uses hierarchy in determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique: 
 
• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical asset or liability  
• Level 2 – Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from 
prices) 

• Level 3 – Those with inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market date 
(unobservable inputs)  

 
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured 
are provided in Note 36. 

Day 1 Profit or Loss 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” profit or loss) in the consolidated statement 
of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where the data 
used is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only 
recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is 
derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing 
the “Day 1” profit or loss amount. 
 
Subsequent Measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial instruments depends on their classification as follows: 
 
Financial Assets at FVPL 
Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition as at FVPL. 
 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in 
the near term.  Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held 
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or a financial guarantee 
contract.  Fair value gains or losses on investments held for trading net of interest income accrued 
on these assets, are recognized in the consolidated statement of income under “Finance income”. 
 
Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 
designated as financial asset at FVPL, except where the embedded derivative does not 
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is 
prohibited. 
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Financial assets may be designated by management on initial recognition as at FVPL, if any of the 
following criteria are met: 
 
• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 

otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains and losses on them 
on a different basis; or 
 

• The assets are part of group of financial assets, liabilities or both which are managed and their 
performance evaluated on fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 
or investment strategy; or 
 

• The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately 
recorded. 
 

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, investments in structured notes are designated at FVPL since 
these contain embedded derivatives which significantly modify the notes’ cash flows.  Also, 
managed funds and investment in bonds are designated as at FVPL since these are managed and 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy 
(see Notes 5 and 36). 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 
Derivative financial instruments (including bifurcated embedded derivatives) are initially 
recognized at fair value on the date in which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
 
An embedded derivative is separated from the hybrid or combined contract if all of the following 
conditions are met: a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not 
closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract;  
b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition 
of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL. 
 
The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host 
contracts when the Group first becomes party to the contract.  Reassessment of embedded 
derivatives is only done when there are changes in the terms of the contract that significantly 
modifies the contractual cash flows. 
 
Where derivatives are designed as effective hedging instruments, provision of hedge accounting 
apply.  Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do no quality for 
hedge accounting are taken directly to profit or loss for the year. 
 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has no outstanding derivative contracts. 
 
Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market.  After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method (EIR), less 
impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.  The amortization is included in 
finance expense in the consolidated statement of income.  The losses arising from impairment are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income as “Finance expense”. 
 
Loans and receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within twelve (12) months from 
the end of reporting period.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 
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As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s loans and receivables include cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables and mine rehabilitation fund (MRF) included in other 
noncurrent assets in the consolidated statement of financial position (see Notes 4, 6 and 14). 
 
AFS Financial Assets 
AFS financial assets are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified or 
designated as at FVPL, HTM investments or loans and receivables. 
 
Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as AFS financial assets if they are 
purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes 
in market conditions. 
 
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value.  The effective yield 
component of AFS debt instruments, as well as the impact of restatement on foreign currency-
denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the consolidated statement of income under 
“Finance income” or “Finance expense”.  The unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair 
valuation of AFS financial assets are excluded from reported earnings and are reported in other 
comprehensive income as “Net valuation gains (losses) on AFS financial assets”.  Unquoted AFS 
financial assets, where there is no reliable basis of their fair values, are measured at cost less any 
impairment loss. 
 
AFS financial assets are included in current assets if it is expected to be realized or disposed of 
within twelve (12) months from the financial reporting period.  Otherwise, these are classified as 
noncurrent assets. 
 
When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Where the Group holds more than one 
investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis.  
Interest earned on holding AFS financial assets are reported as “Interest income” using the EIR.  
Dividends earned on holding AFS financial assets are recognized in consolidated statement of 
income when the right of payment has been established.  The losses arising from impairment of 
such investments are recognized in consolidated statement of income. 
 
The Group’s investments in quoted debt securities and quoted and unquoted equity securities are 
classified under this category (see Note 8). 
 
Loans and Borrowings 
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of income 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.  
 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in “Finance 
expense” in the statement of income. 
 
This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s long-term debt, trade payables and other 
obligations that meet the above definition (other than liabilities that are covered by other 
accounting standards, such as income tax payable and pension) (see Notes 15 and 16). 
 



- 14 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 
• the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; 
or 

 
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset. 

 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control 
of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the  
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.  In such case, the Group also recognizes 
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. 
 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts of a financial liability extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses at each financial reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
“loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults. 
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Loans and Receivables 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses individually whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 
recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.   
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The 
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets original EIR.  
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current EIR.  
 
Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original EIR of the asset.  The interest 
income is recorded as part of “Finance income” in the consolidated statement of income.  The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of 
the loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Loans, together with the associated 
allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral 
has been realized or has been transferred to the Group.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the 
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 
 
AFS Financial Assets 
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each financial reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost.  “Significant” is 
to be evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in 
which the fair value has been below its original cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized as other 
comprehensive income is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated 
statement of income while increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in 
equity through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on 
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  However, the amount recorded for 
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortized cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income. 
 
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount and is 
accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring impairment loss.  The interest income is recorded as part of “Finance income” in the 



- 16 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

consolidated statement of income.  If, in subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized through the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the consolidated statement of income. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument for AFS 
financial assets carried at cost, such as unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value 
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Objective 
evidence of impairment includes, but is not limited to, significant financial difficulty of the issuer 
or obligor and it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial  
reorganization. 
 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and 
the liability simultaneously. 
 
Business Combinations and Goodwill from January 1, 2010 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair 
value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition costs incurred 
are expensed. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date 
through consolidated statement of income.  Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 
acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair 
value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized 
in accordance with PAS 39 either in consolidated statement of income or as change to other 
income.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is 
finally settled within equity. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the consideration transferred over the 
Group’s net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  If this consideration is lower than 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in 
consolidated statement of income. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units (CGU) that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 
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Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in 
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 
portion of the CGU retained. 
 
Business Combination Prior to January 1, 2010 
In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied: 
 
Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.  Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs.  The non-controlling interest 
(formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.  Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate 
steps.  Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect previously recognized goodwill. 

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by 
the acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a 
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would 
have been required under the contract. 

Contingent consideration was recognized if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 
economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.  Subsequent 
adjustments to the contingent consideration affected goodwill. 
 
Business Combination Accounted for Using the Pooling of Interest Method 
Business combinations involving entities or entities under common control with no consideration 
transferred are accounted for using the pooling of interest method which is scoped out of  
PFRS 3, Business Combination.  The pooling of interests method generally involve the following: 

 
• The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts.  

No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognize any new assets or liabilities, 
that would otherwise be done under the purchase method.  The only adjustments that are 
made are to harmonize accounting policies; 

• No new goodwill is recognized as a result of the combination; the only goodwill that is 
recognized is any existing goodwill relating to either of the combining entities.  Any 
difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the equity acquired is reflected 
within equity; 

• The consolidated statement of income reflects the results of the combining entities for the 
full year, irrespective of when the combination took place; 

• Comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories, excluding the long-term stock pile inventory, are valued at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value (NRV).  Cost is determined by the average production cost during the year for 
beneficiated nickel silicate ore and limestone ore exceeding a determined cut-off grade and 
moving average method for materials and supplies.  NRV of beneficiated ore and limestone ore 
inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.   For materials and supplies, cost is determined using the moving 
average method and composed of purchase price, transport, handling and other costs directly 
attributable to its acquisition.  NRV of materials and supplies is the current replacement cost. 
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Long-term Stock Pile Inventory 
The long-term stock pile inventory of RTN is carried at the lower of cost or NRV.  Cost is 
represented by the fair value of the long-term stock pile inventory related to the acquisition of the 
controlling interest in RTN in August 2006.  The fair value was determined using the present 
value of the estimated cash flows which RTN will derive from the sale of this inventory to Coral 
Bay Nickel Corporation (CBNC) under its Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC 
(see Note 32).  NRV of long-term inventory stock pile is the cost less any allowance for 
impairment losses. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Except for land, property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day 
servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.  Such cost includes the 
cost of replacing part of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition 
criteria are met.  Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value. 
 
Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives of the 
assets: 
 

Category Number of Years 
Machinery and equipment 5 
Buildings and improvements 5-25 

 
Mining properties and development costs include the capitalized cost of mine rehabilitation and 
decommissioning.  Depletion on mining properties and development costs is calculated based on 
the unit-of-production method based on the estimated economically recoverable reserves to which 
they relate to or are written-off if the property is abandoned. 
 
The asset revaluation surplus which arose from the acquisition of the controlling interest in RTN 
in August 2006, relates to the land, machinery and equipment, and building improvements.  The 
related and applicable depreciation on these assets is transferred periodically to retained earnings. 
 
Construction in-progress represents work under construction and is stated at cost.  Construction  
in-progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and available 
for use. 
 
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
The estimated recoverable reserves, residual values, useful lives and depreciation and depletion 
methods are reviewed periodically to ensure that the estimated recoverable reserves, residual 
values, periods and methods of depreciation and depletion are consistent with the expected pattern 
of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.  The residual values, if any, is 
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each end of reporting period. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset) is included in consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 
 
When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the 
property and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 



- 19 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

Borrowing Cost 
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Interest on borrowed funds used to finance 
the construction of the asset to the extent incurred during the period of construction is capitalized 
as part of the cost of the asset.  The capitalization of the borrowing cost as part of the cost of the 
asset: (a) commences when the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred during the 
construction and related activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are in 
progress; and (b) ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its 
intended use are complete. 
 
Investment Property 
Investment property is measured at cost, including transaction costs.  The carrying amount 
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is 
incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an 
investment property.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. 
 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over estimated useful life of twelve (12) years. 
 
Investment property is derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property are recognized in consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
As the accounting for the investment property uses the cost model, transfers between investment 
property and owner-occupied property do not change the carrying amount of the property 
transferred and they do not change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure 
purposes. 

 
Investment in an Associate 
The Group’s investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method.  An associate is 
an entity in which the Group has significant influence. 
 
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate.  Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment. 
 
The consolidated statement of income reflects the share of the results of operations of the 
associate.  Where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the 
Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate. 
 
The share of earnings or losses of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement 
of income.  This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit 
after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.   
 
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.  
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.   
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Deferred Mine Exploration Costs 
Expenditures for mine exploration work prior to drilling are charged to operations.  Expenditures 
for the acquisition of property rights are capitalized.  When it has been established that a mineral 
deposit is commercially mineable and a decision has been made to formulate a mining plan (which 
occurs upon completion of a positive economic analysis of the mineral deposit), costs 
subsequently incurred to develop a mine on the property prior to the start of mining operations are 
capitalized.  Upon the start of commercial operations, such costs are transferred to property and 
equipment.  Capitalized amounts may be written down if future cash flows, including potential 
sales proceeds related to the property, are projected to be less than the carrying value of the 
property.  If no mineable ore body is discovered, capitalized acquisition costs are expensed in the 
period in which it is determined that the mineral property has no future economic value. 
 
Costs incurred during the start-up phase of a mine are expensed as incurred.  Ongoing mining 
expenditures on producing properties are charged against earnings as incurred.  Major 
development expenditures incurred to expose the ore, increase production or extend the life of an 
existing mine are capitalized. 
 
Impairment of Non Financial Assets  
Property and Equipment, Investment Property and Other Noncurrent Assets 
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is written down to 
its recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.  In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is 
used.  These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value 
indicators.  Impairment losses are recognized in consolidated statement of income.  
 
Recovery of impairment losses recognized in prior years is recorded when there is an indication 
that the impairment losses recognized for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The 
recovery is recorded in profit or loss.  However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to a 
recovery of an impairment loss is recognized to the extent it does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depletion, depreciation and amortization) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for that asset in prior years. 
 
Investment in an Associate 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize 
an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in an associate.  The Group determines at 
end of reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in an associate 
is impaired.  If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount 
in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any 
retaining investment at its fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognized in consolidated statement of income. 
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Deferred Mine Exploration Costs 
An impairment review is performed, either individually or at the CGU level, when there are 
indicators that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amounts.  To the 
extent that this occurs, the excess is fully provided against, in the reporting period in which this is 
determined.  Deferred mine exploration costs are reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are 
carried forward provided that at least one of the following conditions is met: 
 
• such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploration 

of the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; or 
 

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing, or planned 
for the future. 

 
Provisions 
General 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in consolidated statement of 
income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as a borrowing cost. 
 
Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 
required to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  The nature 
of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines 
and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and 
restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas.  The obligation generally arises when 
the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location.  When the 
liability is initially recognized, the present value of the estimated cost is capitalized by increasing 
the carrying amount of the related mining assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased 
for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market assessments 
and the risks specific to the liability.  The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in 
consolidated statement of income as “Finance expense”.  Additional disturbances or changes in 
rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and 
provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning when they occur.  Decrease in 
rehabilitation liability that exceeds the carrying amount of the corresponding rehabilitation asset is 
recognized immediately in consolidated statement of income.  For closed sites, changes to 
estimated costs are recognized immediately in consolidated statement of income.  
 
MRF committed for use in satisfying environmental obligations are included within “Other 
noncurrent assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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Other Comprehensive Income 
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense (including items previously 
presented under the consolidated statement of changes in equity) that are not recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income for the year in accordance with PFRS. 
 
Capital Stock 
Common shares are classified as equity.  
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction from proceeds.  The excess of proceeds from issuance of shares over the par value of 
shares are credited to additional paid-in capital. 
 
Preferred shares are classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Parent 
Company’s option, and any dividends are discretionary.  Dividends thereon are recognized as 
distributions within equity upon approval by the Parent Company’s BOD.  Preferred shares are 
classified as a liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the shareholders, or 
if dividend payments are not discretionary.  Dividends thereon are recognized as interest expense 
in the consolidated statement of income as accrued. 
 
Where the Parent Company or any of its subsidiaries purchases the Parent Company’s shares 
(treasury shares), the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs is 
deducted from equity attributable to the Parent Company’s equity until the shares are cancelled, 
reissued or disposed of.  Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration 
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax 
effects is included in equity attributable to the Parent Company’s stockholders. 
 
Dividend distribution to the Parent Company’s stockholders is recognized as a liability in the 
consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved or declared by 
the Parent Company’s BOD. 
 
Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend 
contributions, prior period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital 
adjustments.  When the retained earnings account has a debit balance, it is called “deficit.”  A 
deficit is not an asset but a deduction from equity. 
 
Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Basic earnings (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income (loss) 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for any stock dividends declared during the year.  
 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income (loss) 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for any stock dividends declared during the year plus 
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the 
dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares.   
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 
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Sale of Beneficiated Nickel Ore and Limestone Ore 
Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer, which in the case of deliveries other than to CBNC, coincides with the 
loading of the ores into the buyer’s vessel.  In the case of deliveries to CBNC, this occurs at the 
time the ore passes into the ore preparation hopper of CBNC’s plant.  Under the terms of the 
arrangements with customers, the Group bills the remaining ten to twenty percent (10% - 20%) of 
the ores shipped based on the assay tests agreed by both the Group and the customers.  Where the 
assay tests are not yet available as at end of financial reporting period, the Group accrues the 
remaining ten to twenty percent (10% - 20%) of the revenue based on the amount of the initial 
billing made. 

 

 
Rendering of Services 
Revenue from rendering of services of RTN consists of construction contracts and service fees.  
Contract fee is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the service.  Service fee is 
recognized as the services are substantially rendered. 

 
Interest 
Revenue is recognized as interest accrues (using the EIR method that is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset). 

 
Dividend 
Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

 
Rental 
Revenue is recognized based on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. 

 
Cost and Expenses Recognition 
Cost and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the financial reporting period in the 
form of outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, 
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants.  Cost and expense, interest expense 
and other finance costs are recognized in consolidated statement of income in the period these are 
incurred. 
 
Leases 
Determination of Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
 
(a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the 

arrangement; 
(b) a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or 

extension was initially included in the lease term; 
(c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; 

or 
(d) there is a substantial change to the asset. 
 
Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the 
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 
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Group as a Lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are amortized as an expense in 
consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Group as a Lessor 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. 
 
Pension Benefits 
The Group has two funded and two unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans 
covering substantially all of its employees.  Pension costs are actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method.  This method reflects service rendered by employees to the date of 
valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.  Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial 
gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting period exceeded ten 
percent (10%) of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at 
that date.  These gains or losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives 
of the employees participating in the plans. 
 
The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period 
until the benefits become vested.  If the benefits are already vested immediately following the 
introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of income. 
 
The defined pension asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
less past service cost not yet recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past 
service cost not yet recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the 
form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 
 
Share-based Payment Transactions 
The executives of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled ending on the date on which 
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”).  The cumulative 
expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting period until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Parent Company’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  The consolidated statement of 
income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as 
at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in personnel costs.  
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense 
recognized is the expense as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award 
are met.  An additional expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair 
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value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification.  
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately.  However, if a new 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the 
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.  
 
The option to purchase the Parent Company’s 12 million common shares was excluded from the 
computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect was antidilutive (see Note 20). 
 
Income Taxes 
Current Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity is recognized in equity and not in consolidated statement of income.  Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate. 
 
Deferred Income Tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of 
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 
• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

 
• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in foreign subsidiaries 

and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward 
benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward 
benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except: 
 
• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and 
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• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in foreign 
subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred income 
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be 
recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside consolidated statement of income is recognized 
outside consolidated statement of income.  Deferred income tax items are recognized in 
correlation to the underlying transaction either in other income or directly in equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
Business Segments 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into operating segments (mining and services) 
according to the nature of the products and the services provided, with each segment representing 
a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.  The segment 
locations are the basis upon which the Group reports its primary segment information for the 
mining segment.  All of the segments operate and generate revenue only in the Philippines.  
Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 40. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 

 
Events after the Reporting Period 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of 
reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post 
year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements when material. 
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3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes.  Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions 
used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 
 
Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  However, actual outcome can differ from these estimates. 
 
Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:  
 
Determining Functional Currency 
Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Parent 
Company, the functional currency of the Parent Company has been determined to be the 
Philippine peso.  Each subsidiary in the Group also determines its own functional currency.  The 
functional currency of the subsidiaries in the Group is also the Philippine peso.  The functional 
currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Parent Company and 
its subsidiaries operates.  It is the currency that mainly influences the expenses, in which funds 
from financing activities are generated, and in which receipts from operating activities are 
generally retained. 
 
Valuation of Long-Term Inventory Stock Pile 
The determination of the Group’s long-term inventory stockpile include among others, projected 
revenues, operating and delivering costs from the sale of the long-term stock pile.  Actual results 
that differ from the Group’s assumptions generally affect the Group’s recognized expense and 
recorded obligation in such future periods.  The long-term stock pile inventory is carried at the 
lower of cost or NRV.  An allowance for inventory losses is recognized when the carrying value of 
those assets is not recoverable and exceeds their NRV.  Long-term stock pile – net of current 
portion amounted to P=965.0 million and P=1,108.2 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 13). 
 
Assessing Recoverability of Deferred Mine Exploration Costs 
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for deferred mine exploration costs requires 
judgment in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are certain, which may 
be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances.  Estimates and assumptions made 
may change if new information becomes available.  If, after mine explorations costs are 
capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, 
the amount capitalized is written off in consolidated statement of income in the period when the 
new information becomes available.  An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of 
those assets is not recoverable and exceeds their fair value. 
 
Deferred mine exploration costs, included in “Other noncurrent assets”, as at December 31, 2010 
and 2009 amounted to P=79.3 million and P=47.0 million, respectively.  Allowance for impairment 
losses recognized on deferred mine exploration costs amounted to P=10.3 million as at December 
31, 2010 and 2009 for both years (see Note 14). 
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Determining Operating Lease Commitments - Group as a Lessee 
The Group has entered into commercial property and vehicle leases.  The Group has determined 
that it does not retain all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which 
are leased on operating leases. 
 
Determining Operating Lease Commitments - Group as a Lessor  
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio.  The 
Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties which are leased out on operating leases. 
 
Assessing Production Start Date 
The Group assesses the stage of each mine development project to determine when a mine moves 
into the production stage.  The criteria used to assess the start date of a mine are determined based 
on the unique nature of each mine development project.  The Group considers various relevant 
criteria to assess when the mine is substantially complete, ready for its intended use and moves 
into the production phase.  Some of the criteria include, but are not limited to the following: 
 
• the level of capital expenditure compared to construction cost estimates; 
• completion of a reasonable period of testing of the property and equipment; 
• ability to produce ore in saleable form; and 
• ability to sustain ongoing production of ore. 

 
When a mine development project moves into the production stage, the capitalization of certain 
mine construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as inventory or expensed, except for 
capitalizable costs related to mining asset additions or improvements, mine development or 
mineable reserve development.  It is also at this point that depreciation or amortization 
commences. 
 
Estimates and Assumptions  
The key estimates and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty as at reporting period, that have the most significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year are as follows:  
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade and Other Receivables 
The Group evaluates specific accounts where the Group has information that certain customers are 
unable to meet their financial obligations.  The Group assesses individually the receivables based 
on factors that affect its collectibility.  Factors such as the Group’s length of relationship with the 
customers and the customer’s current credit status are considered to ascertain the amount of 
allowances that will be recorded in the receivables account.  These allowances are re-evaluated 
and adjusted as additional information is received.   
 
In addition to specific allowance against individually significant loans and receivables, the Group 
also makes a collective impairment allowance against exposures which, although not specifically 
identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default than when originally 
granted.  This collective allowance is based on any deterioration in the Group’s assessment of the 
accounts since their inception.  The Group’s assessments take into consideration factors such as 
any deterioration in country risk and industry, as well as identified structural weaknesses or 
deterioration in cash flows.   
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The carrying value of trade and other receivables amounted to P=1,113.3 million and  
P=1,338.9 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Allowance for impairment 
losses on trade and other receivables amounted to P=214.3 million and P=215.2 million as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 6). 
 
Estimating Beneficiated Nickel Ore and Limestone Ore Reserves 
Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted 
from the Group’s mining properties.  The Group estimates its ore reserves based on information 
compiled by Competent Persons as defined in accordance with Philippine Mineral Reporting Code 
(PMRC) which depend significantly on the interpretation of geological data obtained from drill 
holes and other sampling techniques, which is extrapolated to produce estimates of the size, shape, 
depth and grade of ore bodies.  In addition, to calculate the reserves in accordance with the Joint 
Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) Code, the Group makes estimates and assumptions regarding a 
number of economic and technical factors, such as production rates, grades, production and 
transport costs and prices.  These economic and technical estimates and assumptions may change 
in the future in ways that affect the quality and quantity of the reserves.  The Group reviews and 
updates estimates as required, but at least annually, to reflect actual production, new exploration 
data or developments and changes in other assumptions or parameters.  These estimates will 
change from time to time to reflect mining activities, analyses of new engineering and geological 
data, changes in ore reserve and mineral resource holdings, modifications of mining plans or 
methods, changes in nickel prices or production costs and other factors. 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Inventory  
The Group maintains allowance for inventory losses at a level considered adequate to reflect the 
excess of cost of inventories over their NRV.  NRV tests are performed at least annually and 
represent the estimated future sales price of the product based on prevailing spot metals prices at 
the reporting period, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale.  
Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the 
stockpile, the number of contained ore ounces based on assay data.  Stockpile tonnages are 
verified by periodic surveys.  Increase in the NRV of inventories will increase the cost of 
inventories but only to the extent of their original production costs.   
 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, inventories carried at lower of cost or NRV amounted to  
P=1,416.4 million and P=1,503.3 million, respectively.  Allowance for inventory losses recognized 
amounted to P=384.3 million and P=440.6 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 
(see Note 7). 
 
Estimating Impairment Losses on AFS Financial Assets 
The Group treats AFS financial assets as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists.  
The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment.  The Group treats 
“significant” generally as twenty percent (20%) or more of the original cost of investment, and 
“prolonged”, as greater than six (6) months.  In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and 
discount factors for unquoted equities in determining the amount to be impaired. 
 
The fair value of AFS financial assets amounted to P=1,377.1 million and P=1,964.7 million as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 8).   
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Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment and Investment Property 
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment and investment property based on 
the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of 
property and equipment and investment property are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial  
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, estimation of the useful 
lives of property and equipment and investment property is based on collective assessment of 
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  It is possible, 
however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates 
brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded 
expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. 
 
The carrying values of property and equipment as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to 
P=3,762.6 million and P=2,156.7 million, respectively.  The balance of the accumulated depreciation 
of property and equipment amounted to P=2,581.6 million and P=2,485.1 million as at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The carrying values of investment property as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=50.9 million and P=60.1 million, respectively.  The 
balance of the accumulated depreciation of investment property amounted to P=53.3 million and  
P=44.0 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Notes 10 and 11). 
 
Estimating Impairment Losses on Property and Equipment and Investment Property 
The Group assesses impairment on property and equipment and investment property whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable.   
 
The factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment review include 
the following: 
 
• Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating 

results; 
• Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 

business; and 
• Significant negative industry or economic trends. 
 
In determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from the 
continued use of the assets, the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that can 
materially affect the consolidated financial statements. 
 
These assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss would be recognized 
whenever evidence exists that the carrying value is not recoverable.  For purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized and charged to earnings if the discounted expected future cash 
flows are less than the carrying amount.  Fair value is estimated by discounting the expected future 
cash flows using a discount factor that reflects the market rate for a term consistent with the period 
of expected cash flows.  No impairment loss was recognized in 2010 and 2009. 
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The aggregate net book values of property and equipment amounted to P=3,762.6 million and  
P=2,156.7 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The aggregate net book values 
of investment property amounted to P=50.9 million and P=60.1 million as at December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively (see Notes 10 and 11). 
 
Estimating Impairment Losses on Investment in an Associate 
Impairment review of investment in an associate is performed when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Management has determined 
that there are no events or changes in circumstances in 2010 that may indicate that the carrying 
value of investment in an associate may not be recoverable. The carrying values of the Group’s 
investment in an associate amounted to P=4,570.5 million as at December 31, 2010 (see Note 12). 
 
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Nonfinancial Other Current Assets and Other 
Noncurrent Assets 
The Group provides allowance for impairment losses on nonfinancial other current assets and 
other noncurrent assets when they can no longer be realized.  The amounts and timing of recorded 
expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different 
estimates.  An increase in allowance for impairment losses would increase recorded expenses and 
decrease other current assets or other noncurrent assets. 
 
The carrying value of other current assets amounted to P=53.0 million and P=248.9 million as at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, while other noncurrent assets, net of cash held in 
escrow, MRF, deferred mine exploration costs and pension asset, amounted to P=548.6 million and 
P=555.8 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  There is no allowance for 
impairment losses on the Group’s nonfinancial other current assets and other noncurrent assets as 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009 (see Notes 9 and 14). 
 
Estimating Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 
The Group assesses its provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning annually.  
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine 
rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will affect the provision.  These factors include 
estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory 
changes, cost increases, and changes in discount rates.  Those uncertainties may result in future 
actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided.  The provision at end of 
reporting period represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future 
rehabilitation costs required.  Changes to estimated future costs are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and liability.  For closed sites, 
changes to estimated costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning amounted to P=55.4 million and  
P=46.2 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 17). 
 
Determining Pension Benefits 
The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for pension benefits is dependent on the 
selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those 
assumptions, as described in Note 33, include among others, discount rates, expected rates of 
return and future salary increase rates.  In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ from 
the Group’s assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, 
generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligations in such future periods.  While 
management believes that its assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences 
in actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the Group’s 
pension and other retirement obligations.   
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As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, pension asset included under “Other noncurrent assets” 
account amounted to P=19.8 million and P=16.6 million, respectively (see Notes 14 and 33).  
Pension liability amounted to P=49.0 million and P=50.3 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 33). 
 
Share-based Payment Transactions 
The Parent Company’s Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) grants qualified participants the right 
to purchase common shares of the Company at a grant price.  The ESOP recognizes the services 
received from the eligible employees and an equivalent adjustment to the equity account over the 
vesting period.  The Parent Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with 
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are 
granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  This 
estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including 
the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about 
them.  The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions are disclosed in Note 19.  While management believes that the estimates and 
assumptions used are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or 
significant changes in the estimates and assumptions may materially affect the stock compensation 
costs charged to operations. 
 
The cost of share-based payment plan recognized as expense in 2010, with a corresponding charge 
to the equity account amounted to P=1.1 million.  As at December 31, 2010, the balance of 
employee share-based payment plan amount in the equity section of the consolidated statement of 
financial position amounted to P=1.1 million. 
 
Assessing Recoverability of Deferred Income Tax Assets   
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each end of reporting 
period and reduces the amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.   
 
The Group has net deferred income tax assets amounting to P=414.0 million and P=273.1 million as 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 34). 
 
Determining Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
Where the fair values of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using internal 
valuation techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.  The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates 
are used in establishing fair values.  These estimates may include considerations of liquidity, 
volatility and correlation.  Certain financial assets and liabilities were initially recorded at its fair 
value (see Note 36).   
 
 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 2010 2009 
Cash on hand and with banks P=1,847,488 P=642,580 
Short-term cash investments 4,958,480 6,136,635 
 P=6,805,968 P=6,779,215 

 



- 33 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

Cash with banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Short-term cash investments are 
made for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the immediate cash requirements 
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term cash investment rates.   
 
The Group has United States dollar (US$)-denominated cash and cash equivalents amounting to 
P=4,006.0 million and P=6,449.3 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 
(see Note 35). 
 
Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=123.8 million, 
P=152.5 million and P=232.8 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 28). 
 
Cash with banks amounting to P=297.0 million representing proceeds from the IPO, were deposited 
in escrow and are restricted as to withdrawal for specified purpose as determined in the prospectus 
submitted with the SEC (see Note 14). 
 
 

5. Financial Assets at FVPL 
 
This account consists of investments that are designated as at FVPL.  Designated FVPL 
investments consist of structured notes with embedded derivatives (e.g., call and put options) that 
significantly modify the notes’ cash flows, mutual funds that are managed on a fair value basis and 
investment in bonds with put option feature. 
 
FVPL investments include:  
 
Investment Terms 2010 2009 
Structured Notes   
Commodity-Linked 
Investments 

US$1.0 million investment in certificate of deposits with a 
coupon of 12% and maturing in January 2010.  The deposits are 
linked to crude oil commodities.  The return will be 100% if the 
prices of crude oil are or above US$66.27.  175% return will be 
received if the prices of crude oil commodities are or above 
US$115.97. P=– P=48,598 

    
 US$1.0 million investment in certificate of deposits with a 

coupon of 12% and maturing in March 2010.  The deposits are 
linked to crude oil commodities.  The return will be 100% if the 
prices of crude oil are or above US$70.94.  180% return will be 
received if the prices of crude oil commodities are or above 
US$127.69. – 46,200 

    
 US$1.0 million investment in certificate of deposits with a 

coupon of 12% and maturing in March 2010.  The deposits are 
linked to crude oil commodities. The return will be 100% if the 
prices of crude oil are or above US$78.10. 175% return will be 
received if the prices of crude oil commodities are or above 
US$136.68. – 45,242 

    

Equity-Linked 
Investments 

Investment linked to Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. Ltd. (SMM) 
shares with notional amount of JPY49.5 million and maturing in 
January 2010.  If the closing price of the underlying is at or 
above the put strike price of JPY1,268.1, the note will be 
redeemed at 100% in cash but if the closing price of the 
underlying is below the put strike price, the Parent Company  
will receive 39,000 shares at the strike price and the residue 
balance in cash. – 24,503 

(Forward) 
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Investment Terms 2010 2009 
Managed Funds US$0.004 million investment in managed funds with the 

objective of capital appreciation over the medium term.  The 
funds invest in convertible bonds of Asia outside of Japan, and in 
equivalent transferable securities.  This fund yields 1.8% per 
annum. P=– P=62,622 

    
 US$1.0 million investment in managed funds listed in the  

Irish Stock Exchange, with monthly redemption yielding 
dividends of up to US$12.5 per share. – 43,587 

    
Investment in 
Bonds 

US$1.0 million bond certificates (notional amount of US$1 per 
bond) maturing in January 2010 with a fixed coupon rate of 6% 
per annum. – 47,463  

  P=– P=318,215 
 

The fair value of settled financial assets at FVPL amounted to P=457.1 million, P=1,568.1 million 
and P=811.0 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Net changes in fair value of financial 
assets at FVPL amounted to a gain (loss) of P=2.0 million, P=52.9 million and (P=37.3 million) in 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Notes 28 and 29). 
 

 

Interest income earned in 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to P=5.0 million, P=9.6 million and 
P=2.6 million, respectively (see Note 28). 
 

 
6. Trade and Other Receivables 

 
 2010 2009 
Trade (see Note 32) P=433,810 P=701,102 
Receivable from CBNC (see Note 32) 662,561 524,950 
Amounts owed by related parties  

(see Note 32) 2,871 21,772 
Receivable from World Aviation Corporation 

(WAC ) – 13,860 
Others (see Note 32) 228,326 292,428  
 1,327,568 1,554,112 
Less allowance for impairment losses 214,313 215,234 
 P=1,113,255 P=1,338,878 

 
Trade receivables and receivable from CBNC are noninterest-bearing and are generally on  
seven (7)-day to thirty (30)-day terms. 
 
The Group has United States dollar (US$)-denominated trade and other receivables amounting to 
P=728.1 million and P=908.9 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 35). 
 
Other receivables comprise mainly of receivables from contractors and suppliers which are 
noninterest-bearing and are generally collectible on demand.  These include receivable from 
THNC amounting to P=3.1 million and P=78.8 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 32). 
 



- 35 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

On October 17, 2006, RTN entered into a Deed of Sale with WAC for the sale of its Citation 
Aircraft for US$1.5 million of which US$0.3 million was received as payment at the date of the 
execution of the contract and the balance of US$1.2 million receivable in four (4) equal annual 
installments beginning November 2007 with interest of three percent (3%) per annum. 
 
On November 21, 2006, RTN, WAC and a local bank entered into an escrow agreement wherein 
the balance of US$1.2 million was deposited in escrow with the local bank which should be 
released to RTN in accordance with the schedule of payment as indicated in the Deed of Sale.  
RTN received the last payment in November 2010 amounting to $0.3 million. 
 
Movements of allowance for impairment losses as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 follow: 
  

2010 Trade Others Total 
Balances at January 1 P=213,168 P=2,066 P=215,234 
Acquisition of LCSLC (see Note 31) 5,633 – 5,633 
Provision (see Note 29) 26,756 – 26,756 
Recovery (see Note 29) (22,105) – (22,105) 
Foreign exchange adjustment  (11,205) – (11,205) 
Balances at December 31 P=212,247 P=2,066 P=214,313 

 
2009 Trade Others Total 
Balances at January 1 P=166,751 P=154 P=166,905 
Provision (see Note 29) 38,906 1,912 40,818 
Write-off (see Note 29) (3,567) – (3,567) 
Foreign exchange adjustment 11,078 – 11,078 
Balances at December 31 P=213,168 P=2,066 P=215,234 

 
 

7. Inventories 
 

 2010 2009 
Beneficiated nickel ore and 

limestone ore - at cost P=740,852 P=889,806 
Beneficiated nickel ore - at NRV 275,119 230,876 
Current portion of long-term stock pile inventory 

(see Note 13) 143,184 162,201 
Materials and supplies:   
 At NRV 214,805 178,637 
 At cost 42,471 41,805 
 P=1,416,431 P=1,503,325 

 
Movements of allowance for inventory losses in 2010 and 2009 follow: 
 

2010 
Beneficiated 

nickel ore 
Materials  

and supplies Total 
Balances at January 1 P=418,177 P=22,469 P=440,646 
Recovery during the year  

(see Note 30) (56,330) – (56,330) 
Balances at December 31 P=361,847 P=22,469 P=384,316 
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2009 
Beneficiated 

nickel ore 
Materials  

and supplies Total 
Balances at January 1 P=418,177 P=21,628 P=439,805 
Provision during the year (see Note 30) – 11,271 11,271 
Recovery during the year (see Note 30) – (10,430) (10,430) 
Balances at December 31 P=418,177 P=22,469 P=440,646 

 
The cost of beneficiated nickel ore provided with allowance for inventory losses amounted to  
P=637.0 million and P=649.1 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, while the cost 
of materials and supplies provided with allowance for inventory losses amounted to  
P=237.3 million and P=201.1 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
 

8. AFS Financial Assets 
 

 2010 2009 
Quoted instruments:   
 Debt security P=295,481 P=723,362 
 Equity securities 227,271 386,952 
Unquoted equity securities 854,385 854,385 
 P=1,377,137 P=1,964,699 

 
Quoted instruments are carried at fair market value as at end of the reporting period.  Unquoted 
equity instruments are carried at cost as at end of the reporting period, since the fair values of 
these investments cannot be reliably measured. 
 
The movements in AFS financial assets account follow: 
 

 2010 2009 
Balances at January 1 P=1,964,699 P=1,211,225 
Additions 1,732,591 2,143,085 
Disposals (2,323,172) (1,436,410) 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate (8,928) (16,676) 
Movements recognized in equity:   
Gains recognized in equity 1,701 71,438 
Reclassification adjustments for 

income included in consolidated statement 
of income (see Note 29) 9,520 1,191 

Income tax effect (1,893) (7,769) 
Valuation gains taken into the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income - net of tax 9,328 64,860 
Non-controlling interest in gains (losses) recognized 

in equity 2,619 (1,385) 
Balances at December 31 1,377,137 1,964,699 
Less: noncurrent portion 907,161 883,408 
Current portion P=469,976 P=1,081,291 
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AFS financial assets pertain to investments in common and preferred shares of various local and 
foreign public and private companies, golf club shares and debt securities.  As at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009, quoted shares amounting to P=227.3 million and P=389.9 million, 
respectively, were classified as current based on management’s intention to dispose the shares 
within one (1) year from end of reporting period.  The noncurrent portion of AFS financial assets 
amounted to P=907.2 million and P=883.4 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
As at December 31, 2010, the Group has no intention to dispose its unquoted equity shares within 
the next year. 
 
Dividend income earned from AFS financial assets amounted to P=120.2 million in 2010, of which 
P=114.0 million relates to dividends coming from investments in unquoted securities, P=1.0 million 
and P=69.1 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 30). 
 
The valuation gains (losses) of P=9.3 million, P=64.9 million and P=122.0 million is net of share in  
non-controlling interest amounting to P=2.6 million, (P=1.4 million) and (P=0.3 million) as at  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
 
The Group uses the specific identification method in determining the cost of securities sold. 
 
The Group recognized impairment losses of nil, P=3.3 million and P=36.6 million in 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively, pertaining to AFS equity instruments presented in profit or loss in the 
consolidated statement of income under “Finance expense” (see Note 29). 

 
 
9. Other Current Assets 

 
 2010 2009 
Tax credit certificates P=22,702 P=215,356 
Prepaid rent 13,222 14,050 
Prepaid insurance 10,411 15,440 
Advances and deposits 3,058 500 
Others 3,600 3,582 
 P=52,993 P=248,928 
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10. Property and Equipment 
 

 2010 

 Land 

Mining 
Properties and 

Development 
Costs 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Buildings 
and 

Improvements 
Construction 

In-progress Total 
Cost:       

Balances at January 1 P=241,417 P=314,476 P=3,283,525 P=789,349 P=13,062 P=4,641,829 
 Acquisition of LCSLC  

 (see Note 31) – – 157,698 – – 157,698 
 Additions 820 – 754,526 13,534 1,209,673 1,978,553 
 Capitalized borrowing costs 

 (see Note 16) – – – – 5,089 5,089 
 Transfers (see Note 39) – 94,141 (3,788) 12,691 (8,903) 94,141 
 Disposals – – (475,558) (57,589) – (533,147) 
 Balances at December 31 242,237 408,617 3,716,403 757,985 1,218,921 6,344,163 
 
Accumulated depreciation 

and depletion:       
Balances at January 1 – 174,094 1,985,626 325,422 – 2,485,142 

 Acquisition of LCSLC  
 (see Note 31) – – 77,754 – – 77,754 

 Depreciation and  depletion 
(see Note 27) – 1,987 463,367 85,608 – 550,962 

 Disposals – – (474,713) (57,589) – (532,302) 
 Balances at December 31 – 176,081 2,052,034 353,441 – 2,581,556 
Net book values P=242,237 P=232,536 P=1,664,369 P=404,544 P=1,218,921 P=3,762,607 

 
 2009 

 Land 

Mining 
Properties and 
Development 

Costs 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Buildings 
and 

Improvements 
Construction 

In-progress Total 
Cost:       

Balances at January 1 P=242,154 P=176,080 P=3,124,229 P=747,360 P=40,007 P=4,329,830 
Additions 998 – 199,580 29,321 10,149 240,048 
Adjustment for 

capitalized cost of 
mine rehabilitation 
and decommissioning 
 (see Note 17) – 3,824 – – – 3,824 

 Transfers (see Note 39) (1,735) 134,572 24,152 12,942 (37,094) 132,837 
 Disposals – – (64,436) (274) – (64,710) 
 Balances at December 31 241,417 314,476 3,283,525 789,349 13,062 4,641,829 
       
Accumulated depreciation 
 and depletion:       

Balances at January 1 – 174,092 1,659,241 251,693 – 2,085,026 
Depreciation and depletion 

(see Note 27) – 2 387,171 74,003 – 461,176 
 Transfers – – (330) – – (330) 
 Disposals – – (60,456) (274) – (60,730) 
 Balances at December 31 – 174,094 1,985,626 325,422 – 2,485,142 
Net book values P=241,417 P=140,382 P=1,297,899 P=463,927 P=13,062 P=2,156,687 

 
Borrowing costs amounting to P=5.1 million and nil in 2010 and 2009, respectively, were 
capitalized as part of construction in-progress.  The rate used to determine the amount of 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was 2.45%, which is the EIR of the specific borrowing 
(see Note 16). 
 
Pier facilities (included under “Buildings and Improvements”) with a carrying value of  
P=290.7 million and P=338.3 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, were 
mortgaged as collateral for the long-term debt mentioned in Note 16. 
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Depreciation on the excess of the fair value of the assets acquired from RTN over their 
corresponding book values transferred to retained earnings amounted to P=0.4 million in 2010, 
2009 and 2008. 
 
 

11. Investment Property 
 

 2010 2009 
Cost:   
 Balances at January 1 and December 31 P=104,096 P=104,096 
 
Accumulated depreciation:   
 Balances at January 1 44,043 34,835 
 Depreciation (see Note 27) 9,208 9,208 
 Balances at December 31 53,251 44,043 
Net book values P=50,845 P=60,053 

 
Investment property consists of condominium units rented out as office spaces (see Note 37f).  
Rental income in 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to P=9.9 million, P=8.4 million and P=9.1 million, 
respectively (see Note 30).  Direct operating expenses in 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to 
P=8.7 million, P=4.7 million and P=5.9 million, respectively included under the “General and 
administrative expenses”. 
 
The estimated fair value of investment property amounted to P=162.3 million and P=160.6 million as 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, based on the capital value per square meter of 
Grade B commercial condominiums in Makati Central Business District. 
 
 

12. Investment in an Associate 
 

The Parent Company, together with SMM and Mitsui Co., Ltd., signed a Shareholders’ Agreement 
on September 15, 2010, dividing the ownership of Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation (THNC), 
into twenty two point five percent (22.5%), sixty two point five percent (62.5%) and fifteen 
percent (15.0%), respectively.   
 
On November 4, 2010, pursuant to the terms of the above agreement, the Parent Company entered 
into a subscription agreement with THNC for the subscription of 921,375,000 common shares for 
the total amount of US$ 102,375,000 or P=4,443.08 million equivalent to 22.5% interests in THNC. 

 
THNC, a private entity that is not listed on any public exchange, was incorporated and registered 
with the Philippine SEC on August 22, 2008.  Its principal activities, once operational, consist of 
the manufacture and export of nickel/cobalt mixed sulfide.  THNC is currently undertaking 
construction and has not yet started commercial operations as at December 31, 2010. 
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The following are the summarized financial information of THNC as at December 31, 2010.  
THNC’s financial statements are stated in US$ and translated at the closing rate of  
US$1 = P=43.84 as at December 31, 2010 for assets and liabilities accounts, historical rates for 
equity accounts and average rate of US$1 = P=45.12 for the statement of income accounts in 2010. 

 
Current assets  P=7,238,310 
Noncurrent assets  13,128,402 
Current liabilities  53,586 
Net Assets  P=20,313,126 

 
Income  P=5,969 
Operating expenses  (34,468) 
Net loss  (P=28,499) 

 
Movements in the investment in an associate follow: 

 
Acquisition costs  P=4,443,075 
Equity in net losses for the period  (6,412) 
Share in cumulative translation adjustment  133,790 
  P=4,570,453 

 
The balance of investment in an associate includes goodwill of P=105.4 million as at 
December 31, 2010 while the share in cumulative translation adjustment of an associate is gross of 
deferred tax liability amounting to P=13,379 (see Note 34). 

 
 
13. Long-term Stock Pile Inventory 

 
The long-term stock pile inventory pertains to low grade ore extracted from RTN’s minesite.  This 
amount was not recognized in RTN’s books but was recognized by the Parent Company when it 
acquired the controlling interest in RTN (see Note 1).  The low grade ore inventory was initially 
recognized and valued at fair value.  The fair value of the long-term stockpile inventory was 
computed using the present value of the estimated future cash flows of RTN which it will derive 
from the long-term Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC (see Note 32a).  Subsequently, this 
fair value represented the cost of the long-term stock pile inventory (see Note 31). 
 
The fair value of the inventory as at the date of acquisition amounted to P=2,036.7 million  
(see Note 31).  A portion amounting to P=143.2 million and P=162.2 million representing the 
estimated future cash flows from the low grade ore inventory that will be delivered to CBNC in 
the next accounting period, was shown as part of “Inventories” as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 7). 
 
The carrying value of long-term stock pile - net of current portion amounted to P=965.0 million and 
P=1,108.2 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
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14. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 
 

 2010 2009 
Cash held in escrow (Note 4) P=297,010 P=– 
Input tax 289,111 248,732 
Advances to claimowners (see Note 37d) 240,329 248,798 
Deferred mine exploration costs - net (see Note 31) 79,276 46,971 
MRF 32,755 33,319 
Pension asset (see Note 33) 19,750 16,615 
Others 19,133 11,295 
 P=977,364 P=605,730 

 
Input tax represents the value added tax (VAT) paid on purchases of applicable goods and 
services, net of output tax, which can be recovered as tax credit against future tax liability of the 
Group upon approval by the Philippine Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) and/or the Philippine 
Bureau of Customs. 
 
Advances to claimowners represent advance royalty payments to East Coast Mineral Resources 
Co., Inc. (East Coast), La Salle Mining Exploration Company (La Salle), Kepha Mining 
Exploration Company (Kepha) and Ludgoron Mining Corporation (Ludgoron) (see Note 37d). 
 
Deferred mine exploration costs include mining rights amounting to P=32.3 million and nil as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 31).  
 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, allowance for impairment losses on deferred mine exploration 
costs amounted to P=10.3 million for both years. 
 
 

 

15. Trade and Other Payables 
 
 

 2010 2009 
Trade P=223,876 P=104,842 
Accrued expenses 577,009 616,565 
Excise tax 83,173 64,881 
Withholding tax 29,160 27,403 
Others 21,961 52,532 
 P=935,179 P=866,223 

 
Trade, accrued expenses and other payables are noninterest-bearing and are generally settled in 
less than thirty (30) days’ term.  Excise tax payable is settled within fifteen (15) days after the end 
of the quarter when the beneficiated nickel ore and limestone ore were shipped.  Withholding 
taxes are payable ten (10) days after the end of each month.  Output tax is derived from other 
revenues which can be offset against input tax. 
 
The Group has US$-denominated trade and other payables amounting to P=54.3 million and 
P=7.3 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 35). 
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16. Long-term Debt 
 

 2010 2009 
TMC P=1,224,013 P=– 
RTN 320,238 387,877 
 1,544,251 387,877 
Less current portion:   
TMC 30,600 – 
RTN 47,825 50,400 
 78,425 50,400 
 P=1,465,826 P=337,477 

 
TMC Loan 
On October 4, 2010, TMC entered into an Omnibus Agreement with THNC, wherein the latter 
granted the former a total  loan facility amounting to $35.0 million at a prevailing 180-day British 
Banker Association London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus two percent (2%) spread, to 
finance the construction of the Pier Facilities.  The loan shall be drawn down in one or multiple 
times by July 31, 2011.  As at December 31, 2010, TMC’s total loan drawn down amounted to 
$27.9 million, with peso equivalent of P=1,224.0 million.   
 
Starting 2011, the interest on the loans is payable semi-annually on October 10 and  
April 10.  The total principal is payable in semi-annual installments of $875,000, starting on 
October 10, 2011 up to April 10, 2031. 
 
The Omnibus Agreement provides for restriction with respect to creation, assumption, incurrence 
and permission to exist any lien upon the Pier Facilities and all TMC’s other real rights over the 
same except as permitted under the Omnibus Agreement.  Also, the Omnibus Agreement provides 
for certain conditions which include, among others, maintenance and preservation of TMC’s 
corporate existence, rights, privileges and licenses, prompt submission of written notice to THNC 
of any and all litigations and administrative arbitration proceedings before any governmental 
authority affecting TMC, prompt payment of all amounts due under the loan documents and 
maintenance of all governmental approvals necessary to perform the obligations.  As at  
December 31, 2010, TMC is in compliance with the restrictions. 
  
Interest expense in 2010 amounting to P=5.1 million was capitalized as part of the cost of 
construction in-progress (see Note 10). 
 
RTN Loan 
On November 25, 2002, RTN entered into an Omnibus Agreement with SMM, wherein the latter 
granted the former a loan facility amounting to US$1.8 million at prevailing 180-day LIBOR plus 
two percent (2%) spread, for the construction of the Pier Facilities.  In July 2003, an additional 
loan amounting to US$0.2 million was granted by SMM.  Starting 2003, the interest on the 
original and additional loans is payable semi-annually on February 28 and August 31.  The total 
principal is payable in 20 equal semi-annual installments starting February 28, 2004 up to August 
31, 2013.  In February 2007, RTN and SMM agreed to an additional loan facility amounting to 
US$9.0 million.  Of the total loan facility, the remaining US$0.5 million was drawn during 
February and March 2008.  The additional loan facility is payable in semi-annual installments 
starting August 31, 2008 up to February 28, 2018. 
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In consideration, and to ensure payment of these loans, RTN assigned, transferred, and set over to 
SMM, absolutely and unconditionally, all of RTN’s rights, title, and interest over its future 
receivable from CBNC under the Throughput Agreement.  RTN also constituted a first ranking 
Mortgage on the Pier Facilities (see Note 10). 
 
The Omnibus Agreement provides for restrictions with respect to creation, assumption, incurrence 
and permission to exist any lien upon the Pier Facilities and all RTN’s other real rights over the 
same except as permitted under the Omnibus Agreement.  Also, the Omnibus Agreement provides 
for certain conditions which include, among others, maintenance and preservation of RTN’s 
corporate existence, rights, privileges and licenses, prompt submission of written notice to SMM 
of any and all litigations or administrative or arbitration proceedings before any governmental 
authority affecting RTN.  As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, RTN is in compliance with the 
restrictions. 
 
The total current portion of long-term debt amounted to P=78.4 million and P=50.4 million as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Total noncurrent portion of the long-term debt 
amounted to P=1,465.8 million and P=337.5 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
Interest expense amounted to P=9.1 million, P=19.5 million, and P=20.1 million in 2010, 2009 and 
2008, respectively (see Note 29). 
 

 
 

17. Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning 
 

 2010 2009 
Balance at January 1 P=46,202 P=50,134 
Accretion interest on provision for mine 

rehabilitation and decommissioning 
(see Note 29) 9,217 7,621 

Effect of change in estimate 
(see Note 28) – (11,553) 

Balance at December 31 P=55,419 P=46,202 
 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning pertains to the estimated decommissioning 
costs to be incurred in the future on the mined-out areas of the Group. 
 
The Group makes a full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine site and related 
production facilities on a discounted basis on the development of mines or installation of those 
facilities.  The rehabilitation provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs.  These 
provisions have been created based on the Group’s internal estimates.  Assumptions, based on the 
current economic environment, have been made which management believes are a reasonable 
basis upon which to estimate the future liability.  These estimates are reviewed regularly to take 
into account any material changes to the assumptions.  However, actual rehabilitation costs will 
ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning works required 
which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time.  Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation 
is likely to depend on when the mine ceases to produce at economically viable rates.  This, in turn, 
will depend upon future ore prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
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In 2009 and 2008, the Group revised its estimate with regard to mine rehabilitation and 
decommissioning cost.  Net reduction in the provision amounting to nil, P=11.6 million and P=18.8 
million was recognized as a result of the change in estimate in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively 
(see Notes 10 and 28). 
 
 

18. Equity 
 
Capital Stock 
The capital structure of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 is as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
Common Stock - P=0.5 par value   
 Authorized - 1,585,600,000 shares    
 Subscribed and issued - 1,339,831,828 shares 

and 957,623,028 in 2010 and 2009, respectively P=669,916 P=478,812 
 
Preferred Stock - P=0.01 par value   
 Authorized - 720,000,000 shares   
 Subscribed and issued - 720,000,000 shares in 

2010 7,200 – 
Total P=677,116 P=478,812 

 
Movements in common stock follow: 
 

 Number of Shares Total 
Balances at December 31, 2007 3,390,483 P=3,390,483 
Balance at incorporation of surviving entity 16,516,656 8,258 
Effect of merger (3,390,483) (3,390,483) 
Issuance of common stock to effect the merger 805,265,742 402,633 
Balances at December 31, 2008  821,782,398 410,891 
Issuance of capital stock 135,840,630 67,921 
Balances at December 31, 2009 957,623,028 478,812 
Declaration of stock dividends 150,000,000 75,000 
Issuance of capital stock 232,208,800 116,104 
Balances at December 31, 2010 1,339,831,828 P=669,916 

 
Authorized Capital Stock 
On February 25, 2009 and April 15, 2009, the Parent Company’s stockholders and SEC, 
respectively, approved the increase in authorized capital stock of the Company from 100 million 
shares with P=1.00 par value to 500 million shares with P=1.00 par value.   
 
On September 20, 2010 and June 16, 2010, the Parent Company’s BOD authorized and approved 
the following resolutions: 
 
a. Increase in authorized capital stock from P=500.0 million to P=800.0 million. 
b. Creation, from out of the increased authorized capital stock, of 720.0 million preferred shares 

with a par value of P=0.01 per share.  Preferred share is voting, non-participating but with a 
fixed cumulative dividend rate of seven percent (7%) per annum. 
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c. Reduction of the par value of all common stock from P=1.00 to P=0.50 per share to effectuate a 
two-for-one stock split of its shares.  The split will result to an additional 412.32 million 
common shares of stock outstanding. 

d. Declaration of stock dividends amounting to P=75.0 million to existing stockholders of record 
as at June 15, 2010 to support the increase in its authorized capital stock.  On the same date, 
the stock dividend declaration was approved by the Parent Company’s stockholders.  The 
stock dividends correspond to 150.0 million common shares at the issue price equivalent to the 
reduced par value of P=0.50 per share. 
 

Issued Capital Stock 
The IPO of the Company’s shares with an offer price of P=15.00 per share resulted to the issuance 
of 217,183,818 common shares and reissuance of 132,991,182 shares held in treasury shares 
(see Note 1). 
 
In October 2010, shares were issued to Sumitomo Metal Mining Philipine Holdings Corporation 
(SMMPHC), Nickel Asia Holdings, Inc. (NAHI) and the President of the Parent Company 
pursuant to the Subscription Agreements entered into on September 24, 2010 whereby: 
 

• SMMPHC subscribed to 13,169,982 common shares of the Parent Company for a 
consideration of P=206.8 million 
 

• The President subscribed to 1,855,000 common shares of the Parent Company for a 
consideration of P=26.9 million. 
 

• NAHI subscribed to 720,000,000 preferred shares of the Parent Company for a 
consideration of P=7.2 million. 

 
In April 2009, pursuant to the Plan of Merger as discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Company issued capital stock amounting to 385.0 million, divided into 385.0 
million common shares with P=1.0 par value, in exchange for the total net assets of NAC 
amounting to P=3,858.9 million.  This transaction resulted to the payment of the outstanding unpaid 
subscription of the Company amounting to P=16.7 million and additional paid-in capital of 
P=2,987.8 million. 
 
Dividends 
On August 13, 2010, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends amounting to  
US$70.0 million, equivalent to P=3,076.5 million or P=3.16 per share to stockholders of record as at 
August 31, 2010.  The dividends will be paid at no later than three (3) business days following the 
listing of the Parent Company’s shares in the PSE, provided that if the shares are not listed by 
December 29, 2010, the cash dividend declaration shall be of no force and effect.  The dividends 
were paid on November 25, 2010. 
 
On January 23, 2009, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends amounting to  
P=142.2 million, equivalent to P=0.35 per share to stockholders of record as at January 1, 2009.  The 
dividends were paid on February 1, 2009. 
 
Treasury Shares 
As at December 31, 2009, the Parent Company held 133.0 million shares with total cost of 
P=1,822.0 million which were reissued as part of the shares sold through IPO in 2010 (see Note 1). 
 
As at December 31, 2010, the Parent Company has 13 stockholders. 
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19. Executive Stock Option Plan 
 
On June 16, 2010, the BOD and stockholders of the Parent Company approved the ESOP (the 
Plan).  On December 20, 2010, the Plan was approved by the SEC.  
 
The basic terms and conditions of the ESOP are: 

 
1. The ESOP covers up to 12.0 million shares allocated to Parent Company’s officers and the 

officers of the subsidiaries. 
2. The eligible participants are the directors and officers of the Parent Company and its 

subsidiaries, specifically those with a position of Assistant Vice President and higher, 
including the Resident Mine Managers of the subsidiaries. 

3. The exercise price is P=13.50. 
4. The grant date of the Plan is January 3, 2011 as determined by the Stock Option Committee. 
5. The term of the Plan shall be six (6) years and the shares will vest to the participant at the rate 

of twenty five percent (25%) per year after the first year of the Plan or December 21, 2011. 
6. The participant can exercise the vested options by giving notice within the term of the Plan, 

and can opt to either purchase the shares at the exercise price or request the Parent Company 
to advance the purchase price and to sell the shares in which case the participant will receive 
the sales proceeds less the exercise price. 

 
The stock option agreement was made and executed on January 31, 2011 between the Parent 
Company and the option grantees.  
 
The fair value of the stock options was estimated as at grant date, January 3, 2011, using the Black 
Scholes-Merton model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted. 
 
The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the stock options at effective 
grant date: 
 

Grant Date  January 3, 2011  
Spot price per share  P=15.0  
Exercise price  P=13.5  
Expected volatility  60.34%  
Option life  3.967 years  
Dividend yield  2.06%  
Risk-free rate  4.50%  

 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to 
the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual 
outcome. 

 
Cost of share-based payments in 2010 amounted to P=1.1 million  (see Note 26). 
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20. Basic Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings per common share were computed as follows: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
a. Net income attributable to equity holders  

of the parent P=1,478,870 P=302,887 P=179,208 
b. Weighted average number of common 

shares issued and outstanding (in 
thousands) 1,036,751 974,852 971,264 

Earnings per common share (a/b) P=1.43 P=0.31 P=0.18 
 
The option to purchase the Parent Company’s 12.0 million common shares was excluded from the 
computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect was antidilutive. 
 
There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares 
between the financial reporting period and the date of completion of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
 

21. Cost of Sales 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Production overhead P=1,060,868 P=952,624 P=1,183,849 
Outside services 767,094 224,553 577,322 
Personnel costs (see Note 26) 521,126 403,194 461,135 
Depreciation and depletion (see Note 27) 389,699 337,962 250,139 
Long-term stockpile inventory  

sold (see Note 13) 162,201 182,846 173,370 
 2,900,988 2,101,179 2,645,815 
Net changes in beneficiated nickel ore and 

limestone ore 161,040 415,110 (326,914) 
 P=3,062,028 P=2,516,289 P=2,318,901 
 
Outside services pertain to services offered by the contractors related to the mining activities of 
the Group.  These services include, but not limited to, hauling, stevedoring, janitorial, 
maintenance, security and blasting equipment rental. 
 
 

22. Cost of Services 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Overhead P=57,234 P=86,396 P=35,393 
Outside services 36,211 101,018 42,003 
Personnel costs (see Note 26) 32,880 39,199 34,928 
Depreciation and depletion (see Note 27) 14,742 14,286 9,165 
 P=141,067 P=240,899 P=121,489 
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23. Shipping and Loading Costs 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Contract fees P=511,379 P=315,944 P=177,564 
Fuel, oil and lubricants 108,314 112,833 56,220 
Personnel costs (see Note 26) 54,056 43,860 22,020 
Depreciation and depletion (see Note 27) 49,145 34,136 33,232 
Other services and fees 98,318 45,190 10,624 
 P=821,212 P=551,963 P=299,660 
 

 
24. Excise Taxes and Royalties 

 
 2010 2009 2008 
Royalties (see Note 37d) P=361,722 P=202,233 P=363,746 
Excise taxes (see Note 37d) 161,486 86,664 111,591 
 P=523,208 P=288,897 P=475,337 
 
 

25. General and Administrative Expenses 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Personnel costs (see Note 26) P=220,385 P=145,826 P=191,053 
Outside services 61,746 72,307 81,437 
Depreciation (see Note 27) 55,040 32,903 31,109 
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 22,495 15,669 16,160 
Taxes and licenses 21,125 64,061 122,507 
Community relations 17,736 48,064 35,705 
Transportation and travel 16,781 12,252 22,612 
Communications, light and water 11,159 14,210 11,423 
Repairs and maintenance  3,187 4,453 10,725 
Guarantee fee (see Notes 32b and 37e) 2,241 3,146 4,613 
Commission – – 24,754 
Others 43,837 43,304 61,013 
 P=475,732 P=456,195 P=613,111 

 
 

26. Personnel Costs 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Salaries, wages and employee benefits P=779,060 P=598,575 P=683,897 
Pension cost (see Note 33) 51,390 36,503 27,910 
Cost of share-based payment plan 

(see Note 19) 1,101 – – 
 P=831,551 P=635,078 P=711,807 
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The amounts of personnel costs are distributed as follows: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Cost of sales (see Note 21) P=521,126 P=403,194 P=461,135 
General and administrative (see Note 25) 220,385 145,826  191,053 
Shipping and loading costs (see Note 23) 54,056 43,860 22,020 
Cost of services (see Note 22) 32,880 39,199 34,928 
Others 3,104 2,999 2,671 
 P=831,551 P=635,078 P=711,807 

 
 
27. Depreciation and Depletion 

 
 2010 2009 2008 
Property and equipment (see Note 10) P=550,962 P=461,176 P=353,417 
Investment property (see Note 11) 9,208 9,208 8,781 
 P=560,170 P=470,384 P=362,198 
 
The amounts of depreciation and depletion expense are distributed as follows: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Cost of sales (see Note 21) P=389,699 P=337,962 P=250,139 
General and administrative (see Note 25) 55,040 32,903 31,109 
Shipping and loading costs (see Note 23) 49,145 34,136 33,232 
Cost of services (see Note 22) 14,742 14,286 9,165 
Others 51,544 51,097 38,553 
 P=560,170 P=470,384 P=362,198 

 

 
 
 

28. Finance Income 
 

 2010 2009 2008 
Interest income (see Notes 4 and 5) P=128,758 P=162,052 P=235,460 
Gain on:    

Changes in fair value of financial assets at 
FVPL (see Note 5) 2,010 52,865 – 

Change in provision for mine 
rehabilitation and decommissioning 
estimates  
(see Note 17) – 15,377 19,935 

Transfer from equity to profit or loss of 
AFS financial assets 
(see Note 8) – – 31,751 

Recovery of allowance for impairment 
losses on trade and other receivables – – 113,134 

 P=130,768 P=230,294 P=400,280 
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29. Finance Expenses 
 

 2010 2009 2008 
Loss on:    

Derivative transactions - net (see Note 36) P=46,987 P=78,748 P=1,417,068 
Transfer from equity to profit or loss of AFS 

financial assets (see Note 8) 9,520 1,191 – 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at 

FVPL (see Note 5) – – 37,291 
Write-off of trade receivables – 12,489 – 

Interest expense (see Note 16) 10,865 20,762 39,544 
Accretion interest on mine rehabilitation and 

decommissioning (see Note 17) 9,217 7,621 8,655 
Provision for impairment losses on trade and 

other receivables - net (see Note 6) 4,651 40,818 19,697 
 P=81,240 P=161,629 P=1,522,255 

 
 
30. Other Income (Charges) 

 
 2010 2009 2008 
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - net (P=482,073) (P=214,078) P=1,060,706 
Dividend income (see Note 8) 120,246 1,028 69,126 
Gain (loss) on:     

Reversal of long-outstanding payable 74,071 – – 
Recovery of allowance for inventory 

losses (see Note 7) 56,330 – – 
Bargain purchase (see Note 31) 10,676 – – 
Sale of property and equipment – (719) 368 
Reversal of management bonus – – 153,643 
Impairment of deferred mine and 

exploration costs (see Note 14) – – (6,239) 
Other services 61,530 26,017 21,287 
Demurrage (34,238) (11,769) – 
Materials handling and issuance 33,691 604 1,230 
Despatch income 14,055 11,927 – 
Rentals and accommodations 13,744 11,928 21,054 
Issuance of fuel, oil and lubricants 6,796 32,087 57,695 
Equity in net losses of an associate 

(see Note 12) (6,412) – – 
Special projects 4,997 24,657 13,053 
Provision for inventory losses 

(see Note 7) – (841) (402,359) 
Gain (loss) from pilferage/cargo damages – 1,087 (5,019) 
Others - net 15,905 46,697 60,866 
 (P=110,682) (P=71,375) P=1,045,411 
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Breakdown of the foreign exchange gains (losses) - net follow: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Realized foreign exchange gains (losses) (P=413,291) P=17,672 P=171,691 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) 

on:     
 Cash and cash equivalents (60,688) (210,513) 929,587 
 Trade and other receivables 5,016 (11,095) 3,288 
 Financial assets at FVPL – (6,657) 3,657 
 AFS financial assets (8,928) (16,676) 24,589 
 Long-term debt (3,420) 10,259 (62,678) 
 Other accounts (762) 2,932 (9,428) 
 (P=482,073) (P=214,078) P=1,060,706 
 
 

31. Business Combination 
 
Acquisition of LCSLC 
In April 2010, HMC acquired one hundred percent (100%) of the voting shares of LCSLC, a 
company registered in the Philippines, primarily engaged in the chartering out of Landing Craft 
Transport and providing complete marine services.  HMC has acquired LCSLC to provide charter 
services for the Group’s nickel operations.   
 
The provisional fair values and carrying values of LCSLC’s assets and liabilities at acquisition 
date are as follows: 
 

 Fair Values Carrying Values 
Assets   
Cash on hand and with banks  P=50  P=50  
Trade and other receivables - net 3,088  3,088  
Inventories  629  629  
Other current assets  15,516  15,516  
Property and equipment - net  79,944  38,229  
Deferred tax assets  4,938  4,938 
Total Assets 104,165 62,450 
   
Liabilities   
Trade and other payables 45,974 45,974 
Deferred income tax liability 12,515 – 
Total Liabilities 58,489 45,974 
Net Assets 45,676 P=16,476 
% acquired 100%  
Share on fair value of LCSLC net assets 45,676  
Acquisition cost 35,000  
Gain on bargain purchase (see Note 30) P=10,676  

 
Cash flow on acquisition:  
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary P=50 
Cash paid (35,000) 
Net cash outflow (P=34,950) 
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From acquisition date to the reporting period, LCSLC has contributed revenues and net income 
amounting to P=38.7 million and P=6.0 million, respectively, to the consolidated statement of 
income.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, total revenue would have 
been P=8,392.0 million and net income for the Group would have been P=2,312.1 million. 
 
The net assets recognized in the consolidated financial statements were based on a provisional 
assessment of fair value as the Group had sought an independent valuation for the property and 
equipment owned by LCSLC.  The complete results of this valuation had not been received at the 
date the consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the management. 
 
Acquisition of Cordillera Exploration Co. (CEXCI) 
In August 2010, the Parent Company entered into a Share and Asset Purchase Agreement  
(the Agreement) with Anglo American Exploration (Philippines) BV (AAEPB) and Anglo 
American Exploration (Philippines), Inc. (AAEPI) where the Parent Company agreed to buy 
AAEPB’s direct and indirect rights, interest and obligations in CEXCI, a company incorporated in 
the Philippines to primarily engage in the business of large-scale exploration, development and 
utilization of mineral resources. 
 
On November 15, 2010, the Parent Company, AAEPB and AAEPI executed deeds of sale of 
shares and assets to complete the purchase.  As a result of the purchase, the Parent Company 
acquired 128,000 common shares of CEXCI representing one hundred percent (100%) of its 
outstanding shares for a total consideration of $750,000 (P=32.2 million) recognized as mining 
rights for the deferred mine exploration costs of CEXCI with the provisional fair value of nil and 
a carrying value of P=166.7 million as at November 15, 2010. 
 
From acquisition date to the reporting period, CEXCI has contributed revenues and net loss 
amounting to nil and P=0.3 million, respectively, to the consolidated statement of income.  If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, total revenues would have been 
P=8,336.0 million and net income for the Group would have been P=2,324.7 million. 
 
Merger with NAC 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Parent Company merged with 
NAC effective March 15, 2009.  The merger, a tax-free transaction, was accounted for using the 
pooling of interest method.  As a result, all prior period consolidated financial statements 
presented have been restated to include the results of operations and financial position of both 
companies as if they had always been combined. 
 
Acquisition of RTN 
Prior to the merger in 2009 and as discussed in Notes 1 and 2, on August 4, 2006, NAC acquired 
forty percent (40%) of the voting shares of RTN held by one of the founding shareholders 
resulting in a controlling interest in RTN.  NAC accounted for the purchase of RTN shares under 
the purchase method. 
 
The acquisition resulted to the recognition of the long-term stock pile inventory amounting to 
P=2,036.7 million.  As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the carrying value of the long-term stock 
pile inventory amounted to P=965.0 million and P=1,108.2 million, respectively (see Note 13). 
 
The asset revaluation surplus transferred to retained earnings amounting to P=0.4 million is net of 
income tax amounting to P=0.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008. 
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32. Related Party Transactions 
 
Set out below are the Group's transactions with related parties in 2010, 2009 and 2008, including 
the corresponding assets and liabilities arising from the said transactions as at December 31, 2010 
and 2009: 
 

Related Party 
Relationship with 

Related Parties  Sale of Ore 

Sale of 
Services 

and Others 
Pacific Metals Co., 

Ltd. (PAMCO) Stockholder 2010 P=2,620,420 P=– 
  2009 P=1,455,947 P=– 
  2008 P=3,565,318 P=– 
     
SMM Stockholder 2010 58,130 – 
  2009 – – 
  2008 – – 
     
CBNC Affiliate 2010 1,762,077 210,581 
  2009 1,014,954 486,382 
  2008 891,690 383,140 
Totals  2010 P=4,440,627 P=210,581 
Totals  2009 P=2,470,901 P=486,382 
Totals  2008 P=4,457,008 P=383,140 
 

Related Party 

Relationship 
with Related 

Parties 

 Trade and 
Other 

Receivables 

Amounts Owed 
by Related 

Parties Deferred Rent 
PAMCO Stockholder 2010 P=– P=– P=– 
  2009 P=103,926 – – 
      
THNC Associate 2010 3,104 2,871 83,799 
  2009 78,787 21,772 – 
      
CBNC Affiliate 2010 662,561  – 
  2009 524,950  – 
Totals  2010 P=665,665 P=2,871 P=83,799 
Totals  2009 P=707,663 P=21,772 P=– 
 
Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties 
All sales and purchases from related parties are made at prevailing market prices.  Outstanding 
balances as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 pertain to the extension and receipt of advances 
to and from related parties and these are unsecured, short-term, interest-free and settlement occurs 
in cash.  Except for the guarantee on the CBNC Loan Obligations (see Note 37), there have been 
no guarantees received or provided for any related party receivables or payables, respectively.  
This assessment is undertaken each end of reporting period through examining the financial 
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. 
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a. Sales and Service Agreements 
 

Nickel Ore Sale Agreements with PAMCO 
HMC, CMC and TMC supply saprolite ore to PAMCO under renewable annual agreements.  
PAMCO is a stockholder of the Parent Company and TMC.  All sales made to PAMCO are 
transacted at prevailing market prices.  Under the terms of the agreement, the base price of the 
ore products for a specific shipment shall be based on London Metal Exchange.  PAMCO shall 
pay the Group ninety percent (90%) of the provisional invoice amount upon receipt of the 
required documents and pay the final payment of each shipment after the final dry weight and 
applicable assay have been determined.  Outstanding balances as at December 31, 2010 and 
2009 are unsecured, interest-free and settlement occurs in cash.  Receivable from PAMCO is 
included as part of trade receivables and is expected to be collected subsequently. 

 
Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with PAMCO and Sojitz Corporation (Sojitz) 
RTN supplies saprolite ore to PAMCO under a sale agreement, which shall continue to be 
valid and in effect until December 2012, wherein PAMCO appointed Sojitz as agent.  PAMCO 
owns thirty-six percent (36%) and Sojitz four percent (4%) of the outstanding shares in the 
capital stock of RTN. 

 
Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC 
RTN entered into an agreement with CBNC to supply all of the limonite ore requirements for 
the Coral Bay HPAL facility until the earlier of the cessation of operations of the facility and 
exhaustion of the limonite ore reserves at the Rio Tuba mine.  RTN has also entered into an 
agreement with CBNC to supply limestone and provide ancillary services to the Coral Bay 
HPAL facility.  CBNC is the owner of the Coral Bay HPAL facility.  Receivable from CBNC 
is included as part of trade and other receivables and is expected to be collected subsequently. 

 
Service Agreements with CBNC 
RTN entered into various service agreements with CBNC pertaining to tailings dam 
construction, materials handling and others. 

 
b. Stockholder Agreements 
 

THNC Stockholder Agreement 
On September 15, 2010, the Parent Company together with SMM and Mitsui agreed to make 
loans to THNC or guarantee the repayment of THNC loans obligation in accordance with the 
financial requirements of THNC in proportion to their existing shareholding ratio.  The Parent 
Company owns 22.5% of THNC’s outstanding capital stock. 

 
CBNC Stockholder Agreement 
On July 1, 2002, RTN together with the other stockholders of CBNC agreed to make loans to 
CBNC or guarantee the repayment of CBNC loans obligation in accordance with the financial 
requirements of CBNC in proportion to their shareholding ratio.  RTN owns ten percent (10%) 
of CBNC’s outstanding capital stock. 

 
In a separate agreement dated October 22, 2002, SMM, which owns fifty-four percent (54%) 
of CBNC, has agreed to substitute for RTN’s obligation to make loans to or guarantee the 
repayment of CBNC loans obligation.  In consideration, RTN shall pay SMM an annual 
guarantee fee of one percent (1%) of the outstanding CBNC loans obligation (see Note 37e).  
The guarantee fee is recorded as part of ‘General and administrative expenses’ in consolidated 
statement of income (see Note 25).  
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c. Other Agreements 
 

Option Agreement with THNC 
In December 2010, TMC and THNC entered into an Option Agreement wherein THNC 
signified its intention to use the parcels of land located within the mineral production sharing 
agreement (MPSA) area.  The said parcels of lands will be used by THNC in connection with 
its project being constructed and located in the Taganito Special Economic Zone (TSEZ).  The 
lease agreement is yet to be finalized and to reserve the exclusive right to use the parcels of 
land that will be subject of the lease, THNC shall pay a fee, the amount of which shall be 
determined by TMC, which shall constitute as an option fee to give THNC the irrevocable 
right to be the preferred lessee of the said parcels of land.  The option fee will be considered as 
an advance rental which shall be deducted from the annual rental fees based on TMC’s 
discretion, with proper and due notice given to THNC.  Total option fee paid by THNC 
amounted to P=83.8 million classified under “Deferred rent income” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

 
The Option Agreement shall terminate upon finalization of the lease agreement.  As at 
December 31, 2010, the lease agreement is yet to be finalized. 

 
Other Receivables from THNC 
Other receivables from THNC amounting to P=3.1 million and P=78.8 million as at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, included in trade and other receivables pertain to 
reimbursable costs and expenses advanced by the Company to the related party (see Note 6).   

 
Funding Commitment with SMM 
RTN’s long-term debt was incurred to complete infrastructure projects to support the 
development of the Coral Bay HPAL facility.  These projects included the causeway, trestles 
and dolphins in the Rio Tuba foreshore and offshore areas (see Note 16). 

 
d. Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

 
The Group considers as key management personnel all employees holding managerial 
positions up to the president.  The short-term benefits of key management personnel of the 
Group in 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to about P=165.7 million, P=93.7 million and 
P=99.7 million, respectively.  The post-employment benefits of key management personnel of 
the Group amounted to P=1.3 million in 2010 and P=2.9 million in 2009 and 2008. 

 
 

33. Pension Costs 
 
The Group has two (2) funded and two (2) unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement 
plans covering substantially all of its employees. 
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The following tables summarize the components of net pension costs recognized in the 
consolidated statements of income and the funded status and amounts recognized in the 
consolidated statements of financial position for the respective plans: 
 
Net Pension Costs 
 

 
2010 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Current service cost P=15,696 P=6,461 P=2,769 P=1,855 P=26,781 
Interest cost 29,638 8,107 1,990 1,039 40,774 
Past service cost – 960 – – 960 
Expected return on plan assets (13,340) (4,063) – – (17,403) 
Actuarial losses (gains) 449 – (437) 266 278 
Expense recognized during the 

year P=32,443 P=11,465 P=4,322 P=3,160 P=51,390 
 
2009 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Current service cost P=11,902 P=5,891 P=3,147 P=1,575 P=22,515 
Interest cost 24,207 7,620 2,210 808 34,845 
Past service cost – 960 – – 960 
Expected return on plan assets (17,652) (4,179) – – (21,831) 
Actuarial losses – 14 – – 14 
Expense recognized during the year P=18,457 P=10,306 P=5,357 P=2,383 P=36,503 
 
2008 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Current service cost P=14,828 P=6,381 P=3,471 P=1,501 P=26,181 
Interest cost 17,318 4,411 1,924 515 24,168 
Past service costs – 5,101 – – 5,101 
Expected return on plan assets (24,287) (4,043) – – (28,330) 
Actuarial losses – 447 333 10 790 
Expense recognized during the year P=7,859 P=12,297 P=5,728 P=2,026 P=27,910 
 
Pension Asset (included in Other noncurrent assets) 
 

RTN 2010 2009 
Fair value of plan assets P=302,904 P=268,520 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (332,105) (288,866) 
Unfunded obligation (29,201) (20,346) 
Unrecognized actuarial gains 48,951 36,961 
Net pension asset P=19,750 P=16,615 

 
Pension Liability 
 
2010 TMC CMC HMC Total 
Present value of obligation P=126,444 P=19,726 P=10,481 P=156,651 
Fair value of plan assets (66,172) – – (66,172) 
Unfunded obligation 60,272 19,726 10,481 90,479 
Unrecognized actuarial gains (36,909) (1,595) (3,008) (41,512) 
Net pension liability P=23,363 P=18,131 P=7,473 P=48,967 
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2009 TMC CMC HMC Total 
Present value of obligation P=79,014 P=19,210 P=9,595 P=107,819 
Fair value of plan assets (55,071) – – (55,071) 
Unfunded obligation 23,943 19,210 9,595 52,748 
Unrecognized actuarial losses (gains) (3,085) 2,150 (528) (1,463) 
Unamortized past service cost (960) – – (960) 
Net pension liability P=19,898 P=21,360 P=9,067 P=50,325 
 
 

Changes in the Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation 
 
2010 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=288,866 P=79,014 P=19,210 P=9,595 P=396,685 
Current service cost 15,696 6,461 2,769 1,855 26,781 
Interest cost 29,638 8,107 1,990 1,039 40,774 
Actuarial losses 36,933 – 3,186 2,644 42,763 
Experience adjustments – 34,904 – – 34,904 
Settlement or curtailment 

losses – – 122 102 224 
Benefits paid (39,028) (2,042) (7,551) (4,754) (53,375) 
Balances at December 31 P=332,105 P=126,444 P=19,726 P=10,481 P=488,756 
 
2009 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=215,941  P=76,126 P=21,644  P=7,153  P=320,864 
Current service cost 11,902  5,891  3,147  1,575  22,515 
Interest cost 24,207  7,620 2,210  808  34,845 
Actuarial losses (gains) 46,391  (1,625) (3,499) 348  41,615 
Benefits paid (9,575) (8,998) (4,292) (289) (23,154) 
Balances at December 31 P=288,866 P=79,014 P=19,210 P=9,595 P=396,685 
 

2008 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=256,557 P=68,494 P=23,577 P=5,752 P=354,380 
Current service cost 14,828 6,381 3,471 1,501 26,181 
Interest cost 17,318 4,411 1,924 515 24,168 
Past service cost – 7,021 – – 7,021 
Actuarial losses (gains) (45,009) – (4,436) (2,191) (51,636) 
Experience adjustments – (5,934) (2,892) 1,576 (7,250) 
Benefits paid (27,753) (4,247) – – (32,000) 
Balances at December 31 P=215,941 P=76,126 P=21,644 P=7,153 P=320,864 
 
2007 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=225,268 P=63,723 P=19,256 P=4,593 P=312,840 
Current service cost 13,890 5,995 3,209 1,378 24,472 
Interest cost 13,967 4,053 1,548 378 19,946 
Actuarial losses (gains) 2,702 (259) (435) (535) 1,473 
Experience adjustments 12,561 (2,217) (1) (62) 10,281 
Benefits paid (11,831) (2,801) – – (14,632) 
Balance at December 31 P=256,557 P=68,494 P=23,577 P=5,752 P=354,380 
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2006 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=201,700 P=46,132 P=7,320 P=4,670 P=259,822 
Current service cost 11,133 5,704 3,040 1,509 21,386 
Interest cost 20,170 5,536 878 560 27,144 
Actuarial losses (gains) (1,252) 14,724 8,298 1,782 23,552 
Experience adjustments – (7,675) (280) 1,528 (6,427)
Benefits paid (6,483) (698) – (5,456) (12,637)
Balance at December 31 P=225,268 P=63,723 P=19,256 P=4,593 P=312,840 
 

 

Changes in the Fair Value of Plan Assets 
 
2010 RTN TMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=268,520 P=55,071 P=323,591 
Contributions  35,577 8,000 43,578 
Expected return on plan assets 13,339 4,063 17,403 
Actuarial gains 24,496 1,080 25,576 
Benefits paid (39,028) (2,042) (41,070) 
Balances at December 31 P=302,904 P=66,172 P=369,078 
Actual return on plan assets P=37,836 P=5,143 P=42,979 

 
2009 RTN TMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=211,702  P=56,735  P=268,437 
Contributions  27,459  – 27,459 
Expected return on plan assets 17,652  4,179  21,831 
Actuarial gains 21,282  3,155 24,437 
Benefits paid (9,575) (8,998) (18,573) 
Balances at December 31 P=268,520 P=55,071 P=323,591 
Actual return on plan assets P=38,933 P=7,334 P=46,267 
 
2008 RTN TMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=250,823 P=59,883 P=310,706 
Expected return on plan assets 24,287 4,043 28,330 
Actuarial losses (35,655) (2,944) (38,599) 
Benefits paid (27,753) (4,247) (32,000) 
Balances at December 31 P=211,702 P=56,735 P=268,437 
Actual return on plan assets (P=11,369) P=1,099 (P=10,270) 
 
2007 RTN TMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=238,898 P=59,462 P=298,360 
Expected return on plan assets 19,112 5,946 25,058 
Actuarial gains 4,644 (2,724) 1,920 
Benefits paid (11,831) (2,801) (14,632) 
Balances at December 31 P=250,823 P=59,883 P=310,706 
Actual return on plan assets P=23,756 P=3,222 P=26,978 
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2006  RTN TMC HMC Total 
Balances at January 1 P=218,631 P=55,203 P=4,173 P=278,007 
Expected return on plan 

assets 26,235 5,520 417 32,172 
Actuarial gains 8,910 (563) (417) 7,930 
Contributions 6,791 – 1,283 8,074 
Transfer of funds (15,186) – – (15,186) 
Benefits paid (6,483) (698) (5,456) (12,637) 
Balances at December 31 P=238,898 P=59,462 P=– P=298,360 
Actual return on plan assets P=35,146 P=4,957 P=417 P=40,520 
 
The main categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets follow: 
 

2010 RTN TMC 
Fixed income securities 83.2% 86.7%
Investments in shares of stock 16.8% 7.9%
Others – 5.4%
 100.0% 100.0%

 
2009 RTN TMC 
Fixed income securities 83.5% 87.0%
Investments in shares of stock 16.5% 7.0%
Others – 6.0%
 100.0% 100.0%

 
The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market expectations 
prevailing on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled. 
 
The principal assumptions used in determining the pension asset (liability) for the Group’s plans 
are shown below: 
 

2010 RTN TMC HMC CMC 
Discount rate 8.0% 10.3% 10.8% 7.8% 
Expected rate of return 7.0% 7.0% – – 
Salary increase rate 10.0%  10.0% 10.0% 8.0% 

 
2009 RTN TMC HMC CMC 
Discount rate 10.3% 10.0% 10.8% 10.4% 
Expected rate of return 5.0% 7.0% – – 
Salary increase rate 10.0%  10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 

 
2008 RTN TMC HMC CMC 
Discount rate 7.0% 6.0% 11.3% 10.8% 
Expected rate of return 10.0% 7.0% – – 
Salary increase rate 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 
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Amounts for the current annual and previous annual four periods are as follows: 
 

2010 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 
Plan assets P=369,076 P=323,591 P=268,437 P=310,166 P=298,360 
Defined benefit obligation (488,746) (396,685) (320,864) (325,051) (288,991) 
Net pension liability (P=119,670) (P=73,094) (P=52,427) (P=14,885) P=9,369 
      

 
 The details of the plan per subsidiary level are as follows: 
 

2010 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Plan assets P=302,906 P=66,172 P=– P=– P=369,078 
Defined benefit obligation (332,105) (126,444) (19,726) (10,481) (483,029) 
Net pension liability (P=29,199) (P=60,272) (P=19,726) (P=10,481) (P=113,951) 
Experience adjustments P=– P=34,904 P=– P=– P=34,904 
      

 
2009 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Plan assets P=268,520 P=55,071 P=– P=– P=323,591 
Defined benefit obligation (288,866) (79,014) (19,210) (9,595) (396,685) 
Net pension liability (P=20,346) (P=23,943) (P=19,210) (P=9,595) (P=73,094) 
      

 
2008 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Plan assets P=211,702 P=56,735 P=– P=– P=268,437 
Defined benefit obligation (215,941) (76,126) (21,644) (7,153) (320,864) 
Net pension liability (P=4,239) (P=19,391) (P=21,644) (P=7,153) (P=52,427) 
Experience adjustments P=– (P=5,934) (P=2,892) P=1,576 (P=7,250) 

 
2007 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Plan assets P=250,283 P=59,883 P=– P=– P=310,166 
Defined benefit obligation (256,557) (68,494) (23,577) (5,752) (295,722) 
Net pension liability (P=6,274) (P=8,611) (P=23,577) (P=5,752) (P=14,885) 
Experience adjustments P=12,561 (P=2,217) (P=1) (P=62) P=10,281 

 
2006 RTN TMC CMC HMC Total 
Plan assets P=238,898 P=59,462 P=– P=– P=298,360 
Defined benefit obligation (225,268) (63,723) (19,256) (4,593) (265,142) 
Net pension asset (liability) P=13,630 (P=4,261) (P=19,256) (P=4,593) P=9,369 
Experience adjustments P=– (P=7,675) (P=280) P=1,528 (P=6,427) 
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34. Income Taxes 
 
The provision for current income tax shown in the consolidated statements of income includes: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT)    
 RTN P=632,640 P=215,868 P=542,078 
 TMC 309,676 111,045 347,495 
 CMC 111,830 28,585 83,464 
 HMC 90,965 31,848 – 
 LCSLC 3,441 – – 
 FEI 12 6 – 
 Parent Company – 4,242 – 
Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT)    
 HMC – – 3,922 
 P=1,148,564 P=391,594 P=976,959 
 
The reconciliation between the provisions for income tax computed at the statutory income tax 
rates and the provision for income tax as shown at the effective rates in consolidated statement of 
income follows: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Income tax at statutory rates P=980,729 P=188,932 P=672,691 
Add (deduct) tax effects of:    
 Dividend income exempted from tax (34,439) – – 
 Interest income subjected to final tax (33,881) (35,232) (68,641) 
 Non-deductible expenses 20,911 19,140 36,675 
 Movements in deductible (taxable) 

 temporary differences for which 
 deferred income taxes were 
 recognized 12,484 (35,592) 39,371 

 Equity in net losses of an associate 1,924 – – 
 Pre-merger loss – 32,006 427,632 
 Non-taxable income – – (34,382) 
Effect of change in tax rate – – (11,574) 
Income tax at effective rates P=947,728 P=169,254 P=1,061,772 
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The components of the Group’s net deferred income tax assets and liabilities follow: 
 
 2010 2009 2008 
Deferred income tax assets:    

Net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) P=188,184 P=– P=61,213 
Allowance for:    

Inventory losses 112,777 129,675 129,423 
Impairment losses on trade and other 

receivables 64,250 64,658 50,028 
Impairment losses on property and 

equipment and deferred mine 
exploration costs 2,633 3,201 3,201 

Impairment loss on AFS financial assets – 975 – 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses 42,737 66,333 – 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (28,679) (10,028) (62,990) 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and 

decommissioning 14,964 12,390 10,845 
Pension liability 13,788 15,098 8,180 
Deferred rent income 4,190 – – 
Valuation gain on AFS financial assets  (3,571) (1,781) – 
Pre-operating costs 51 70 – 
Undepleted asset retirement obligation (10) (595) (596) 
Unrealized gain on valuation of financial 

assets at FVPL – (6,946) – 
MCIT – – 3,922  
Others 2,700 – – 

Total P=414,014 P=273,050 P=203,226 

Deferred income tax liabilities:    
Long-term stockpile inventory P=332,463 P=381,123 P=435,977 
Asset revaluation surplus 85,675 75,282 76,166 
Share in cumulative translation adjustments 13,379 – – 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains 9,444 14,620  108,743 
Pension asset 5,925 4,984 (594) 
Allowance for inventory losses (2,518) (2,518) (2,518) 
Unamortized past service costs (3,035) (569) (1,422) 
Provision for mine rehabilitation and 

decommissioning (563) (324) (4,196) 
Deferred income on sale of aircraft – 4,549 8,825 
Valuation gain on AFS financial assets – – 1,619 
Others (44) (44) (871) 

Total P=440,770 P=477,103 P=621,729 
 
Republic Act No. 9337 was enacted into law effective November 1, 2005 amending various 
provisions in the existing 1997 National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC) indicating the decrease in 
the corporate income tax rate from thirty five percent (35%) to thirty percent (30%), consequently, 
decreasing the non-deductible interest expense rate against interest income from forty two percent 
(42%) to thirty three (33%) effective January 1, 2009. 
 
The Parent Company will not be subject to MCIT until 2012.   
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As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from 
future taxable income and income tax payable and MCIT that can be claimed as tax credit, 
respectively, as follows:  

 
    
Year Incurred Year of Expiration NOLCO MCIT 
2008 2011 P=204,044 P=3,922 
2010 2013 627,281 – 
  P=831,325 P=3,922 

 
Movement of NOLCO and excess MCIT for the years ended December 31 follows: 

 
NOLCO 2010 2009 
Balances at January 1 P=– P=204,044 
Additions 627,281 – 
Applications – (204,044) 
Balances at December 31 P=627,281 P=– 

 
MCIT  2009 
Balances at January 1  P=3,922 
Applications  (3,922) 
Balances at December 31  P=– 

 
 

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 
The Group’s main financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at FVPL, 
AFS financial assets and long-term debt.  The main purpose of these financial instruments is to 
raise funds and maintain continuity of funding and financial flexibility for the Group.  The Group 
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, cash held in 
escrow, MRF and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations. 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk.  The BOD reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks and they 
are summarized below. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The Group is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial 
instruments. 
 
The Group trades only with recognized, reputable and creditworthy third parties and/or transacts 
only with institutions and/or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness.  It is the 
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  Except for those impaired 
trade and other receivables, the Group assessed the loans and receivables as collectible and in 
good standing. 
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Since the Group trades only with recognized third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.   
 
Credit Risk Exposure 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of 
statement of financial position. 
 

 Note
 

2010 2009 
Cash and cash equivalents: 4   

Cash with banks  P=1,846,096 P=641,291 
Short-term cash investments  4,958,480 6,136,635 

Financial assets at FVPL: 5   
Structured notes  – 164,543 
Managed funds  – 106,209 
Investment in bonds  – 47,463 

Trade and other receivables: 6   
Trade  221,563 487,934 
Receivable from CBNC  662,561 524,950 
Amounts owed by related parties  2,871 21,772 
Receivable from WAC  – 13,860 
Others  226,260 290,362 

AFS financial assets: 8   
Quoted equity securities  227,271 386,952 
Quoted debt security  295,481 723,362 
Unquoted equity securities  854,385 854,385 

Other noncurrent assets: 14   
Cash held in escrow  297,010 – 
MRF  32,755 33,319 

Total credit risk exposure  P=9,624,733 10,433,037 
 
Aging Analysis of Financial Assets 
The aging analysis of the Group’s financial assets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 are 
summarized in the following tables: 
 

2010 

Neither 
Past Due Nor 

Impaired 
(High) 

Past Due But 
Not Impaired 
(30-180 days) 

Past Due and 
Individually 

Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents: P=6,804,576 P=– P=– P=6,804,576 

Cash with banks 1,846,096 – – 1,846,096 
Short-term cash investments 4,958,480 – – 4,958,480 

Trade and other receivables: 683,313 429,942 214,313 1,327,568 
Trade 182,363 39,200 212,247 433,810 
Receivable from CBNC 277,235 385,326  –  662,561 
Amounts owed by related parties 2,871 – – 2,871 
Others 220,844 5,416 2,066   228,326 

AFS financial assets: P=1,377,137 P=– P=– P=1,377,137 
Quoted equity securities 227,271 – – 227,271 
Quoted debt security 295,481 – – 295,481 
Unquoted equity securities 854,385 – – 854,385 

Other noncurrent assets: 329,765 – – 329,765 
Cash held in escrow 297,010 – – 297,010 
MRF 32,755 – – 32,755 

Total P=9,194,791 P=429,942 P=214,313 P=9,839,046 
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2009 

Neither 
Past Due Nor 

Impaired (High) 

Past Due But 
Not Impaired 
(30-180 days) 

Past Due and 
Individually 

Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents: P=6,777,926 P=– P=– P=6,777,926 

Cash with banks 641,291 – – 641,291 
Short-term cash investments 6,136,635 – – 6,136,635 

Financial assets at FVPL: 318,215 – – 318,215 
Structured notes 164,543 – – 164,543 
Managed funds 106,209 – – 106,209 
Investment in bonds 47,463 – – 47,463 

Trade and other receivables: 838,726 500,152 215,234 1,554,112 
Trade 399,915 88,019 213,168 701,102 
Receivable from CBNC  175,487  349,463   –  524,950 
Amounts owed by related parties – 21,772 – 21,772 
Receivable from WAC 13,860 – – 13,860 
Others 249,464  40,898 2,066  292,428 

AFS financial assets: 1,964,699 – – 1,964,699 
Quoted equity securities 386,952 – – 386,952 
Quoted debt security 723,362 – – 723,362 
Unquoted equity securities 854,385 – – 854,385 

MRF (included in other noncurrent 
 assets) 33,319 – – 33,319 
Total P=9,931,729 P=501,308 P=215,234 P=10,648,271 
 
Credit Quality of Financial Assets 
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using credit ratings and is classified 
into three: High grade, which has no history of default; Standard grade, which pertains to accounts 
with history of one or two defaults; and Substandard grade, which pertains to accounts with 
history of at least three (3) payment defaults. 
 
Accordingly, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the following financial assets classified 
as neither past due nor impaired: 
 
• Cash and cash equivalents, cash held in escrow and MRF are placed in various foreign and 

local banks.  Material amounts are held by various foreign banks having a Standard and Poor’s 
(S&P) credit rating of at least A.  The rest are held by local banks, as approved by the BOD, 
that have good reputation and low probability of insolvency.  Management assesses the quality 
of these assets as high grade. 

• Structured notes, managed funds and investment in bonds are issued by foreign banks with an 
S&P credit rating of at least A.  Management assesses the quality of these assets as high grade. 

• Trade receivables and receivable from CBNC pertain to receivables from customers which 
have good financial capacity and with which the Group has already established a long 
outstanding relationship.  Management assesses the quality of these assets as high grade.  
Trade and other receivables not foreseen to be collected are classified as sub-standard grade. 

• Management assesses the quality of receivable from WAC as high grade since this is already 
deposited in a bank which releases the funds based on a payment schedule. 

• Management assesses the quality of other receivables as high grade since amounts pertain to 
receivables from customers which have good financial capacity and with whom the Group has 
already established a long outstanding relationship.  The other receivables also include 
amounts owed by officers and employees that are operational advances in nature.  These 
operational advances are collected subsequently. 
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• Amounts owed by related parties are advances that are due and demandable.  The related 
parties are operating firms capable of repaying the amount due.  Management assesses the 
quality of these assets as high grade. 

•  AFS financial assets in debt securities and equity securities are investments that can be traded 
and from companies with good financial capacity, making the investment secured and 
realizable.  Management assesses the quality of these assets as high grade. 

 
Credit Concentration Risk 
The Group has concentration of credit risk on structured notes, managed funds and investment in 
bonds since these are being managed by one foreign bank.  However, the risk is mitigated since 
the BOD selects foreign banks having an S&P credit rating of at least A to manage the Group’s 
funds. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties in raising funds 
to meet commitments from financial instruments. 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain sufficient funding to finance its exploration and mining 
activities through internally generated funds and advances from related parties.  The Group 
considers its available funds and its liquidity in managing its long-term financial requirements.  
For its short-term funding, the Group’s policy is to ensure that there are sufficient capital inflows 
to match repayments of short-term debts. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

2010 On Demand 

Less Than 
Three (3) 

Months 

Three (3) to 
Twelve (12) 

Months 

More Than 
One (1) 

Year Total 
Trade and other payables      
 Trade P=37,654 P=185,763 P=459 P=– P=223,876 
 Accrued expenses 253,583 33,385 286,121 – 573,089 
 Others 1,907 16,665 3,389 – 21,961 
Long-term debt – 23,913 62,273 1,458,065 1,544,251 
 P=293,144 P=259,726 P=352,242 P=1,458,065 P=2,363,177 

 

2009 On Demand 

Less Than 
Three (3) 

Months 

Three (3) to 
Twelve (12) 

Months 
More Than 

One (1) Year Total 
Trade and other payables      
 Trade P=87,350 P=16,656  P=836  P=– P=104,842 
 Accrued expenses 264,534  49,827  293,493   – 607,854 
 Others 34,505  12,465  5,562  – 52,532 
Long-term debt – 25,200 25,200 337,477  387,877 
 P=386,389 P=104,148 P=325,091 P=337,477 P=1,153,105 
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The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets used to manage 
liquidity risk of the Group as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
 

2010 On Demand 

Less Than 
Three (3) 

Months 

Three (3) to 
Twelve (12) 

Months 

More Than 
One (1) 

Year Total 
Cash and cash equivalents      

Cash with banks P=1,846,096 P=– P=– P=– P=1,846,096 
Short-term cash 
investments 4,958,480 – – – 4,958,480 

Trade and other receivables      
Trade 182,363 39,200 – 212,247 433,810 
Receivable from CBNC 277,235 93,604 291,722 – 662,561 
Amounts owed by 

related parties 2,871 – – – 2,871 
Others 195,917 28,460 1,883 2,066 228,326 

AFS financial assets   – –  
Quoted equity securities 227,271 – – – 227,271 
Quoted debt security 295,481 – – – 295,481 
Unquoted equity 

securities 854,385 – – – 854,385 
 P=8,840,099 P=161,264 P=293,605 P=214,313 P=9,509,281 
 

2009 On Demand 

Less Than 
Three (3) 

Months 

Three (3) to 
Twelve (12) 

Months 
More Than 

One (1) Year Total 
Cash and cash equivalents      

Cash with banks P=641,291 P=– P=– P=– P=641,291 
Short-term cash 
investments 6,136,635 – – – 6,136,635 

Financial assets at FVPL      
Structured notes 164,543 – – – 164,543 
Managed funds 106,209 – – – 106,209 
Investment in bonds 47,463 – – – 47,463 

Trade and other receivables      
Trade 399,915 88,019 – 213,168 701,102 
Receivable from CBNC  175,487  349,463  – – 524,950 
Amounts owed by related 

parties – 21,772 – – 21,772 
Current portion of 

receivable from WAC 13,860 – – – 13,860 
Others 249,464  40,898 – 2,066 292,428 

 
(Forward) 
      
AFS financial assets   – –  

Quoted equity securities 389,900 – – – 389,900 
Quoted debt security 723,362 – – – 723,362 
Unquoted equity securities 851,437 – – – 851,437 

 P=9,898,410 P=501,308 P=– P=215,234 P=10,614,952 
 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows that may 
result from changes in the price of a financial instrument.  The value of a financial instrument may 
change as a result of changes in foreign currency exchanges rates, commodity prices, interest 
rates, equity prices and other market changes. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 
The Group has transactional currency exposures.  Such exposure arises from cash and cash 
equivalents, financial assets at FVPL, AFS financial assets, derivative transactions and sales of 
beneficiated nickel ore in US$.  For its foreign currency-denominated trade receivables, the Group 
ensures timely follow-up and collection to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. 
 
To mitigate the effects of foreign currency risk, the Group will seek to accelerate the collection of 
foreign currency-denominated receivables and the settlement of foreign currency-denominated 
payables, whenever practicable.  Also, foreign exchange movements are monitored on a daily 
basis. 
 
The Group’s foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities and their Philippine 
peso equivalents as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 
 

 

2010 2009 
US$ 

Amount 
Peso 

Equivalent 
US$ 

Amount 
Peso 

Equivalent 

Financial assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents $91,378 P=4,006,012 $139,596 P=6,449,324 
Financial assets at FVPL     
 Structured notes – – 3,562 164,543 
 Managed funds – – 2,299 106,209 
 Investment in bonds – – 1,027 47,463 
Trade and other receivables 16,609 728,139 19,673 908,892 
AFS financial assets - quoted 

debt security 21,993 964,173 15,657 723,363 
 $129,980 P=5,698,324 $181,814 P=8,399,794 

Financial liabilities:     
Trade and other payables $1,239 P=54,318 $157 P=7,259 
Long-term debt 35,225 1,544,264 8,396 387,877 
 $36,464 P=1,598,582 $8,553 P=395,136 

 
The exchange rates used for conversion of US$1.00 to peso equivalent were P=43.84 and P=46.20 as 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
The sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rate, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s income (loss) before income tax [due to changes in fair value of monetary 
assets and liabilities except foreign currency-linked investments (see discussions on other price 
risks) and structured currency derivatives] as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 follow: 
 

Effect on income before income tax: 
Change in 

exchange rates (in P=) 

Sensitivity of 
income (loss) 

before income tax 
2010  Appreciates by 0.80 (P=74,813) 
 Depreciates by 0.95 88,840 
   
2009 Appreciates by 2 (P=346,522) 
 Depreciates by 1 173,261 
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There is no other impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting consolidated 
statement of income. 
 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rate relates to AFS quoted debt 
and floating-rate long-term debt.   
 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas, fixed interest 
rate instruments expose the Group to fair value risk.  The Group regularly monitors the market 
interest rate movements and manages its interest rate risks by using a mix of fixed and variable 
rates.  
 
The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instrument 
that is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk: 
 

2010 <1 year 1-5 years >5 years Total 
Floating rate (LIBOR plus 2% 

spread) - long-term debt P=86,185 P=597,092 P=860,974 P=1,544,251 
2009     
Floating rate (LIBOR plus 2% 

spread) - long-term debt P=50,400 P=233,989 P=103,488 P=387,877 
 
Management believes that cash generated from operations is sufficient to pay for its obligations 
under the loan agreements as they fall due.  As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the interest on the 
Group’s long-term debt is repriced on a 180-day basis. 
 
The sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rate (in basis points), with all  
other variables held constant, of the Group’s income before income tax and equity as at  
December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 
 

 

Change 
in interest rate 

(in basis points) 

Sensitivity to 
income before 

income tax 
Sensitivity 

to equity 
December 31, 2010    
Long-term debt +100 (P=14,716) P=– 
 -100 14,716 – 
    
AFS financial assets +100 – (14,431) 
 -100 – 15,927 
    
December 31, 2009    
Long-term debt +100 (3,865) – 
 -100 3,865 – 
    
AFS financial assets +100 – (12,316) 
 -100 – 12,956 

 
The above analysis does not include the sensitivity of the interest-linked notes to movements in 
interest rate (see discussions on Other Price Risks). 
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The impact on the Group’s income before income tax is caused by changes in the interest of the 
floating-rate long-term debt while the impact on the Group’s equity is caused by the changes in the 
market value of AFS quoted debt due to interest rate movements.  The impact on the Group’s 
equity excludes the impact on transactions affecting the consolidated statement of income.   
 
Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in stock prices relating to 
its quoted equity securities.  The Group’s exposure to equity price risk relates primarily to its AFS 
financial assets on various stocks of listed companies. 
 
The Group’s policy is to maintain the risk to an acceptable level.  Movement of share price is 
monitored regularly to determine impact on its financial position. 
 
The table below shows the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in equity prices on  
AFS equity instruments as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, except equity-linked investments (see 
discussions on Other Price Risks).  The equity impact is arrived using the reasonably possible 
change of the relevant market indices and the specific adjusted beta of each stock the Group holds.  
Adjusted beta is the forecasted measure of the volatility of a security or a portfolio in comparison 
to the market as a whole. 
 

 

Average change 
in market indices 

(in percentage) 
Sensitivity 

to equity 
2010 22.88% P=17,118 
 -22.88% (17,118) 
   
2009 30.50% P=103,321 
 -30.50% (101,502) 

 
The impact on the Group’s income before income tax when there is a decline of -30.50% in 
market indices is (P=1,819), which pertains to the sensitivity of the Group’s impaired AFS equity 
instruments as at December 31, 2009. 
 
The stocks of the AFS financial assets are traded in the following markets: HSI, LUXX, PSE and 
SPX. 
 
Other Price Risks 
The Group’s exposure to other price risks arise from its outstanding investments designated as at 
FVPL, whose fair value changes because of several market factors such as foreign currency, 
equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates. 
 
The Group manages its risk exposure in FVPL investments by monitoring on a monthly basis the 
fair market valuation of these investments and ensuring that fluctuations in fair market values are 
within acceptable limits. 
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As at December 31, 2010, the Group has no outstanding financial assets at FVPL.  As at 
December 31, 2009, details of the risk exposure of the Group’s designated FVPL investments are 
as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2009 

Market Factors 
US Dollar 

Amount 
Peso 

Equivalent 
Foreign Currency and Commodity 

Price $3,031 P=140,040 
Foreign Currency and Interest Rate 1,558 71,966 
Foreign Currency and Equity Price 2,299 106,209 
Total $6,888 P=318,215 

 
The following table shows the impact on the Group’s income (loss) before income tax as at  
December 31, 2009 of a reasonably possible change in the market prices of the designated FVPL 
investments due to movement of various market factors: 
 

 2009 

Market Factors 

Average change 
in market price 
(in percentage) 

Sensitivity to 
 income 

(loss) before 
income tax 

Foreign Currency and Commodity Price +2.24% P=3,171
 -2.24% (3,171)
  
Foreign Currency and Interest Rate +0.36% 312
 -0.36% (312)
  
Foreign Currency and Equity Price +27.33% 23,631
 -27.33% (23,631)

 
There is no other impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated 
statements of income. 
 
Capital Management 
The Group considers its equity as capital.  Its primary objective in capital management is to 
maintain a strong credit rating in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009. 
 
The Group monitors capital using the debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by 
equity.  The Group’s policy is to keep the debt-to-equity ratio to not more than 1:1.  Total 
liabilities include trade and other payables, income tax payable, derivative liabilitites, long-term 
debt, provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning, deferred tax liabilities - net and 
pension liability.  Equity includes capital stock, additional paid-in capital, cost of share-based 
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payment plan, share in cumulative translation adjustments, net valuation gains (losses) on AFS 
financial assets, asset revaluation surplus, retained earnings and non-controlling interests. 
The table below shows the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio as at December 31, 2010 and  
December 31, 2009. 
 

 2010 2009 
Total liabilities (a) P=3,417,132 P=2,080,103 
Equity (b) 18,093,118 14,276,855 
Debt-to-equity ratio (a/b) 0.19:1 0.15:1

 
 
36. Financial Instruments 

 
Fair Value Information and Categories of Financial Instruments  
Set out below is a comparison by class of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s 
financial instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 Carrying Values Fair Values 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 

FINANCIAL ASSETS     
Loans and Receivables     
 Cash and cash equivalents: P=6,805,968 P=6,779,215 P=6,805,968 P=6,779,215 

Cash on hand and with banks 1,847,488 642,580 1,847,488 642,580 
  Short-term cash investments 4,958,480 6,136,635 4,958,480 6,136,635 
 Trade and other receivables: 1,113,255 1,338,878 1,113,255 1,338,878 
  Trade 221,563 487,934  221,563 487,934  
  Receivable from CBNC 662,561 524,950 662,561 524,950 
 Amounts owed by related 
parties  2,871 21,772 2,871 21,772 
 Receivable from WAC – 13,860 – 13,860 
 Others 226,260 290,362  226,260 290,362  

Other noncurrent assets: P=329,765 P=33,319 P=329,765 P=33,319 
Cash held in escrow 297,010 – 297,010 – 
MRF 32,755 33,319 32,755 33,319 

 8,248,988 8,151,412 8,248,988 8,151,412 

Financial Assets at FVPL     
  Structured notes – 164,543 – 164,543 
  Managed funds – 106,209 – 106,209 
  Investment in bonds – 47,463 – 47,463 
 – 318,215 – 318,215 

AFS financial assets     
  Quoted equity securities 227,271 386,952 227,271 386,952 
  Quoted debt security 295,481 723,362 295,481 723,362 

Unquoted equity securities 854,385 854,385 854,385 854,385 
 1,377,137 1,964,699 1,377,137 1,964,699 
 9,626,125 P=10,434,326 9,626,125 10,434,326 

(Forward) 
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 Carrying Values Fair Values 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     
Other Financial Liabilities     
 Trade and other payables: P=818,927 P=831,387 P=818,927 P=831,387 
  Trade 223,876 104,842 223,876 104,842 
  Accrued expenses 573,089 684,805 573,089 684,805 
  Others 21,962 41,740 21,962 41,740 
 Long-term debt 1,544,251 387,877 1,381,275 391,220 
 P=2,351,320 P=1,219,264 P=2,200,202 P=1,222,607 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of 
financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate such value: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the 
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
 

 

Trade and Other Receivables and Trade and Other Payables 
Similarly, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these accounts. 
 
Cash held in Escrow and MRF 
The carrying amount of cash held in escrow and MRF approximate their fair values since they are 
restricted cash with bank which earns interest based on prevailing market rates repriced monthly. 
 
Structured Notes, Managed Funds and Investment in Bonds 
The fair value of managed funds is based on quoted prices.  The fair values of structured notes, 
investment in bonds and derivative liabilities are based on counterparty valuations. 
 
AFS Financial Assets 
The fair values were determined by reference to market bid quotes as at end of reporting period.  
For unquoted equity securities for which no reliable basis of fair value measurement is available, 
these are carried at cost, less impairment loss. 
Long-term Debt 
The fair values of long-term debt is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted 
using the current rates available for debt with the same maturity profile as at the end of reporting 
period ranging from two and 23/100 percent (2.23%) to two and 75/100 percent (2.75%) and two 
and 17/100 percent (2.17%) to two and 49/100 percent (2.49%) as at December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively. 
 



- 74 - 
 
 

*SGVMC409856* 

Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial Instruments 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the following table presents the level of hierarchy of the 
Company’s financial assets at FVPL, AFS debt and equity instruments and derivative liabilities: 
 
 2010 2009 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2 

FINANCIAL ASSETS     
Financial assets at FVPL:     
  Structured notes P=– P=– P=– P=164,543 
  Managed funds – – 106,209 – 
  Investment in bonds – – 47,463 – 
 – – 153,672 164,543 
AFS financial assets:     
  Equity securities 227,271 – 386,952 – 
  Debt security 295,481 – 723,362 – 
 522,752 – 1,110,314 – 
 P=522,752 P=– P=1,263,986 P=164,543 
 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.  The only 
financial instrument of the Group that is classified under Level 2 is the partially principal-
protected structured notes.  This was classified as such because its fair value corresponds to the 
fair value of its components, which is a combination of options on commodities. 
 
Freestanding Derivative Instruments 
In 2010, the Parent Company entered into commodity collar contracts to manage the commodity 
price risk arising from the sale of nickel of its subsidiaries.  These derivatives are accounted for as 
transactions not designated as accounting hedges.  

 
As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has no outstanding freestanding derivative 
instruments. 
 
The net movements in fair value changes of freestanding derivative transactions as at  
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 
Net mark-to-market gain (loss) on 

derivatives at beginning of year P=– (P=195,525) P=364,277 
Net changes in fair value during the year 

(see Note 29) (46,987) (78,748) (1,417,068) 
 (46,987) (274,273) (1,052,791) 
Fair value of settled instruments 46,987 274,273 857,266 
Net mark-to-market gain (loss) on 

derivatives at end of year P=– P=– (P=195,525) 
 
The net changes in fair value of derivatives not designated as accounting hedges are recognized in 
the consolidated statements of income as ‘Loss on derivative transactions - net’ (see Note 29). 
Derivative contracts settled in 2010 pertains to contracts (i.e., commodity swap, target redemption 
forward and USD/PHP target profit forward with capped loss) entered into in 2010. 
 
There were no contracts terminated prior to maturity for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009. 
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37. Significant Agreements 
 
a. Throughput Agreement with THNC 

On October 4, 2010, TMC and THNC, a Philippine corporation, executed a Throughput 
Agreement wherein TMC will construct the pier facilities within the Taganito Special 
Economic Zone (TSEZ) pursuant to its role as Developer.  The TSEZ is located within the 
Surigao Mineral Reservation, an area declared for mineral development pursuant to 
Proclamation 391, under the supervision of the Department of Environment and Natural 
Resources (DENR) that issued an “Order to Use Offshore Area” dated 
September 20, 2010 to TMC for the use of such portion of the Surigao Mineral Reservation 
for the construction of the pier facilities.  In relation to this, THNC entered into a Registration 
Agreement with the Philippine Export Zone Authority (PEZA) to construct and operate a 
mineral processing plant within the TSEZ as an Ecozone Export Enterprise. 

 
Under the agreement, TMC will make available the pier facilities and provide certain services 
to THNC in consideration for usage fees and service fees to be paid by the latter starting 
April 2011 until 2031, unless terminated earlier.  The usage fee amounted to $1,360,000 for 
each semi-annual period to be paid on or before October 10 and April 10. 

 
THNC also agrees to pay service fee that will be agreed upon by both parties which shall be 
billed on a monthly basis. 
 
Prior to the commencement date, THNC may also request TMC to use any part of the 
constructed Pier Facilities, which is ready for use, upon payment of reasonable compensation 
which shall be mutually agreed by the TMC and THNC. 
 

b. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
On September 14, 2009, the Parent Company and TMC entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with SMM.  Pursuant to the terms thereof, the Parent Company and 
SMM will move ahead on a joint venture basis to build a nickel-cobalt processing plant using 
the HPAL technology to be located within the TMC’s mine in Surigao del Norte, while TMC 
will supply low-grade nickel ore to the plant over the life of the project.  The estimated project 
cost is $1.4 billion over a three-year construction period which started in the last quarter of 
2010.  The plant will have an annual capacity of 51,000 dry metric tons of mixed nickel-cobalt 
sulfide over an estimated 30-year project life.  The MOU provides that the equity share of the 
Parent Company and SMM shall be 20%-25% and 75%-80%, respectively.   
 
Following this agreement is the Taganito HPAL Stockholders Agreement entered into by the 
Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui and Co., Ltd. (Mitsui), on September 15, 2010 stating that 
the project will be undertaken by Taganito HPAL Nickel, a company that will be jointly 
owned by the Parent Company, SMM and Mitsui with equity interest of 22.5%, 62.5% and 
15.0%, respectively.  The said agreement contains the principal terms of an ore supply 
agreement to be entered into between THNC and TMC for the supply of limonite ore. 
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c. Sales Agreements 
 
Nickel Ore Sale Agreement with PAMCO and Sojitz (see Note 32a) 
 
Nickel Ore Supply Agreement with CBNC (see Note 32a) 
 
Nickel Ore Supply Agreements with Chinese customers 
HMC, CMC, RTN and TMC have ore supply agreements with a number of Chinese 
customers, each for a fixed tonnage at specific nickel grades and iron content.  The fixed 
tonnage of ore is generally the volume of expected delivery within a few months.  Sale of ore 
to Chinese customers amounted to P=3.6 billion, P=1.9 billion and P=1.1 billion for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
 

d. Mining Agreements 
 
MPSA 
 
RTN 
On June 4, 1998, the Philippine Government (the Government) approved the conversion of 
RTN’s Mining Lease Contracts under the old mining regime into an MPSA with the 
Government pursuant to the Philippine Mining Act of 1995.  The MPSA allows RTN to 
explore, develop and continue mining operations for nickel ore within the Contract Area 
covering 990 hectares in the Municipality of Bataraza, southern Palawan Island.  Under 
RTN’s Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), however, 144 hectares of the Contract 
Area are excluded from mining operations, being located within an area classified as “core 
zone” where mining is prohibited under current regulations of the Palawan Council for 
Sustainable Development (PCSD).  
 
On April 28, 2005, RTN and the Government entered into a second MPSA covering  
85 hectares in the Municipality of Bataraza, which allows RTN to mine limestone in Sitio 
Gotok.  Limestone being mined by RTN pursuant to this second MPSA is being sold to CBNC 
and used at the Coral Bay HPAL plant. 
 
Under both MPSAs, RTN pays a two percent (2%) excise tax on gross revenues as provided in 
the Philippine NIRC as the Government’s share in its output.  Both MPSAs are valid for 
twenty five (25) years from issuance and renewable for another term of not more than twenty-
five (25) years at the option of RTN, with approval from the Government. 
 
On June 20, 2003, RTN submitted an Application for MPSA covering previously approved 
Mining Lease Contracts over an area of 4,274 hectares within the Municipalities of Bataraza 
and Rizal.  Most of the Contract Area is within the core zone and the Application is pending. 
On May 30, 2008, the PCSD issued a Resolution interposing no objections to the revision by 
the Municipality of Bataraza of its Environmentally Critical Areas Network map that, among  
others, seeks to reclassify the core zone within the Contract Area into a mineral development 
area.  The reclassification was approved by the Municipal Development Council of the 
Municipality of Bataraza on November 18, 2009, and subsequently approved by the Provincial 
Board on January 5, 2010.  The processing of the Application for MPSA by the Mines and 
Geosciences Bureau (MGB) is consequently under way. 
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HMC 
Tagana-an Nickel Project 
On July 25, 2007, the Government approved the conversion of HMC’s Mining Lease Contract 
into an MPSA, which allows HMC to explore, develop and continue mining operations for 
nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 773.77 hectares in the Municipality of Tagana-
an, Surigao del Norte. Under the MPSA, HMC pays the Government a two percent (2%) 
excise tax and a five percent (5%) royalty on gross revenues, as the Contract Area is within 
the Surigao Mineral Reservation.  The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance 
and renewable at the option of HMC, with approval from the Government. 
 
Manicani Nickel Project 
On August 13, 1992, HMC and the Government entered into an MPSA, which allows HMC to 
explore, develop and mine nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 1,165 hectares in 
Manicani Island, Municipality of Guian, Eastern Samar.  Under the MPSA, HMC shall pay 
the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax, a one percent (1%) royalty and ten percent 
(10%) of its net revenues, defined as gross revenues less all cost items that are deductible for 
income tax purposes.  The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and 
renewable at the option of HMC, with approval from the Government. 
 
On August 2, 2004, the Regional Panel of Arbitrators of the MGB recommended the 
cancellation of the MPSA as a result of allegations by third parties against the operations of 
HMC.  On September 4, 2009, the Mines and Adjudication Board of the Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources issued a decision setting aside the decision of the Panel of 
Arbitrators.  Hence, the MPSA remains in effect.  HMC is currently not conducting mining 
operations in Manicani. 
 
TMC 
On July 28, 2008, the Government approved the conversion of TMC’s Operating Lease 
Contract into an MPSA, which allows TMC to explore, develop and continue mining 
operations for nickel ore within the Contract Area covering 4,584.51 hectares in the 
Municipality of Claver, Surigao del Norte.  On June 18, 2009, the MPSA was amended, 
increasing the Contract Area to 4,862.71 hectares.  
 
Under the MPSA, TMC pays the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent 
(5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation.  The MPSA is 
valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and renewable at the option of TMC, with 
approval from the Government. 
 
Operating Agreements 
 
East Coast 
On November 19, 2007, CMC entered into an Operating Agreement with East Coast, the 
holder of an MPSA with Government issued on November 19, 1997 covering a Contract Area 
of 697.05 hectares in the Municipality of Cagdianao, Dinagat Islands.  The Operating 
Agreement allows CMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore and obliges it to comply with 
the terms of the MPSA.  
 
Under the MPSA, CMC pays the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent 
(5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation.  Under the 
Operating Agreement, CMC pays East Coast a royalty of seven percent (7%), net of 
withholding taxes.  
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The Operating Agreement expired on November 19, 2007 and was renewed for a period of ten 
(10) years.  In consideration, East Coast was paid P=100.0 million upon signing of the 
extension, and P=100.0 million as advances against future royalties, repayable over a ten-year 
period at a rate of P=10.0 million per year.  The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from 
issuance and renewable at the option of East Coast, with approval from the Government. 
 
La Salle 
On December 18, 2006, TMC entered into an Operating Agreement with La Salle, the holder 
of an Application for MPSA covering 6,824 hectares in the Municipality of Gigaquit, Surigao 
del Norte.  The Operating Agreement allows TMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore 
and limestone once the MPSA is approved, and obliges it to assist La Salle in obtaining the 
MPSA and to comply with the terms thereof once issued.  
 
The Operating Agreement specifies a royalty to La Salle of five percent (5%) for nickel ore 
and P=10.00 per metric ton for limestone.  Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an 
advance of P=1.0 million and P=0.8 million on the second and third year, each repayable by 
deductions from future royalties at a rate of twenty five percent (25%) per year over a period 
of four (4) years.  As at December 31, 2010, the MPSA remains pending.  
 
Kepha 
On February 14, 2007, TMC entered into an Operating Agreement with Kepha, the holder of 
an Application for MPSA covering 6,980.75 hectares in the Municipality of Claver, Surigao 
del Norte.  The Operating Agreement allows TMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore 
and limestone once the MPSA is approved, and obliges it to comply with the terms of the 
MPSA. 
 
The Operating Agreement specifies a royalty to Kepha of five percent (5%) for nickel ore and 
P=10.00 per metric ton for limestone.  Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an advance 
of $1.0 million and P=6.3 million, repayable by deductions from future royalties at a rate of ten 
percent (10%) per year over a period of ten (10) years.  
 
On June 19, 2009, the MPSA was issued to Kepha.  Under the terms thereof, upon the start of 
mining operations TMC shall pay the Government a two percent (2%) excise tax and a five 
percent (5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the Surigao Mineral Reservation.  The 
MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and renewable at the option of Kepha, 
with approval from the Government. 
 
Ludgoron 
On August 28, 2007, TMC entered into an Operating Agreement with Ludgoron, the holder of 
an MPSA with Government issued on July 27, 2007 covering a Contract Area of 3,248 
hectares in the Municipality of Carrascal, Surigao del Sur.   The Operating Agreement allows 
TMC to explore, develop and mine nickel ore and obliges it to comply with the terms of the 
MPSA.  
 
Under the MPSA, upon the start of mining operations TMC shall pay the Government a two 
percent (2%) excise tax and a five percent (5%) royalty, as the Contract Area is within the 
Surigao Mineral Reservation. The MPSA is valid for twenty-five (25) years from issuance and 
renewable at the option of Ludgoron, with approval from the Government. 
 
Under the Operating Agreement, TMC shall pay Ludgoron a royalty of five percent (5%). 
Upon signing of the Agreement, TMC made an advance of $1.0 million, repayable by 
deductions from future royalties at a rate of ten percent (10%) per year over a period of ten 
(10) years.  In 2009, an additional advance against royalties amounting to P=10.0 million was 
made in order to allow Ludgoron to settle a claims conflict.  
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e. Loan Guarantee Service Fee 
Under a loan guarantee service agreement dated October 22, 2002 between RTN and SMM, 
the latter agreed to satisfy RTN’s CBNC loan obligations in consideration of the payment by 
RTN to SMM of an annual fee equal to one percent (1%) of the relevant outstanding amount.   
 
The fee is payable every February 21 and August 20 of each year.  In case of default, such 
loan guarantee service agreement will be terminated and RTN shall provide loans to CBNC or 
guarantee the repayment of CBNC’s loans payable.  Failure to provide such loans or guarantee 
shall be considered a default under the CBNC Stockholder Agreement.   
 
The loan guarantee service fee amounted to P=2.2 million, P=3.1 million and P=4.6 million in 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 25). 
 

f. Other Agreements 
 
Registration with PEZA 
On December 21, 2009, Presidential Proclamation No. 1966 was issued creating and 
establishing the 680-hectare area situated in Taganito, Municipality of Claver, Province of 
Surigao Del Norte to be known as TSEZ.  TMC is a PEZA-registered operator/developer of 
the economic zone as per Certificate of Registration No. EZ 10-01.  The certificate of 
registration was signed on January 7, 2010. 

 
Pursuant to TMC’s registration with PEZA as an economic zone developer/operator, TMC is 
entitled to certain incentives in accordance with the provisions of RA No. 7916, otherwise 
known as “the Special Economic Zone Act of 1995”, as amended.  The proposed nickel-cobalt 
processing plant using the HPAL technology will be located within the TMC’s mine site in 
Surigao del Norte. 

 
BOI Certification 
On January 20, 2010, TMC and RTN received BOI certifications pursuant to Revenue 
Memorandum Order No. 9-2000 entitled “Tax Treatment of Sales of Goods, Properties and 
Services made by VAT-registered Suppliers to BOI registered Manufacturers-Exporters with 
100% Export Sales”.  The certifications are valid from January 1 to December 31, 2010 and 
renewable annually, unless sooner revoked by the BOI Governing Board.  CMC and HMC 
received the same certifications on February 26, 2010. 
 
Certification for VAT Zero-Rated Status 
On March 3, 2009, TMC received a BOI certification pursuant to Revenue Memorandum 
Order No. 9-2000 entitled “Tax Treatment of Sales of Goods, Properties and Services made by 
VAT-registered Suppliers to BOI registered Manufacturers-Exporters with 100% Export 
Sales”.  The certification is valid from February 23 to December 31, 2009 and renewable 
annually, unless sooner revoked by the BOI Governing Board. 
 
On January 22, 2009, HMC, CMC and RTN received a certification pursuant to Revenue 
Memorandum Order No. 9-2000 entitled “Tax Treatment of Sales of Goods, Properties and 
Services made by VAT-registered Suppliers to BOI registered Manufacturers-Exporters with 
100% Export Sales”.  The certification is valid from January 1 to December 31, 2009 and 
renewable annually, unless sooner revoked by the BOI Governing Board. 
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Lease Agreements 
HMC and CMC entered into operating lease contracts, generally with a one-year period, with 
tenants of its condominium properties owned by them.   
 
Lease Contract with the DENR 
TMC is a party to a lease contract dated April 10, 2003 with the DENR over a tract of 
foreshore land located at the Taganito mine comprising an area of approximately 12,000 
square meters.  The foreshore lease has a term of twenty five (25) years from the date of issue, 
unless terminated earlier.  The DENR may renew the foreshore lease for another twenty five 
(25) years, at its option.  In accordance with the foreshore lease, TMC constructed permanent 
improvements appropriate for the wharf to facilitate the barging of mine ore to customers’ 
vessels.  Under the terms of the lease, if TMC uses or attempts to use the premises for other 
purposes, all rights and interests, including in the improvements, will be forfeited in favor of 
the Government.  Upon the termination of the lease or any extension, all improvements made 
by TMC will become the property of the Government. 
 
Joint Undertaking with National Commission on Indigenous Peoples (NCIP) 
On December 8, 2009, TMC and NCIP entered into a Joint Undertaking, which confirmed that 
a one percent (1%) royalty on annual gross revenues of TMC is payable to the Mamanwa 
Tribe pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement dated July 18, 2006 between TMC, the NCIP 
and the Tribe and a Certificate of Ancestral Domain Title issued to the Tribe, within which 
area TMC’s mining operation is located. 
 
Coral Bay HPAL Facility Expansion 
In January 2008, SMM announced that it was proceeding with an expansion of the Coral Bay 
HPAL facility from the current production capacity of 10,000 to 20,000 tons of contained 
nickel per year at an estimated total cost of US$308.0 million. 
 
RTN participated in the expansion and its share of the cost of the expansion is to be  
US$30.8 million (based on RTN’s current ownership of CBNC).  On February 26, 2008, RTN 
paid US$9.2 million as partial consideration for its share in the Coral Bay HPAL facility 
expansion. 
 
RTN Loan Facility 
On February 20, 2008, SMM agreed to increase the RTN loan facility from US$1.9 million to 
US$10.9 million. 

 
 

38. Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Stock Option Agreements 
On January 3, 2011, the stock option agreements were made and entered between the Parent 
Company and the option grantees.  The stock option agreement provides that the vesting of 
granted option shares shall be four (4) years starting from December 21, 2010. 
 
BOI Certification 
On January 2011, TMC, HMC and CMC received BOI certification pursuant to RMO No. 9-2000 
entitled “Tax Treatment of Sales of Goods, Properties and Services made by VAT-registered 
Suppliers to BOI registered Manufacturers-Exporters with one hundred percent (100%) Export 
Sales”.  The certification is valid from January 1 to December 31, 2011 and renewable annually, 
unless sooner revoked by the BOI Governing Board. 
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TMC Loan 
In January and February 2011, TMC drawn down additional loan of $0.92 million and 
$1.09 million, respectively, from its loan facility with THNC (see Note 16). 
 
Dividends 
On March 25, 2011, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends equivalent to P=0.35 per 
share to stockholders of record as at April 11, 2011.  The dividends will be paid on May 9, 2011.  
 
 

39. Supplemental Disclosure to Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Noncash investing activities in 2010 and 2009 pertain to the following: 
 

 2010 2009 
Increase (decrease) in:   
 Property and equipment P=94,141 P=132,837 
 Trade and other receivables (94,141) 62,830 
 Deferred mine exploration costs – (195,667) 

 
 

40. Business Segment Information 
 
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature 
of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit 
that offers different products and serves different markets. 
 
The mining segment is engaged in the mining and exploration of nickel saprolite and limonite ore. 
 
The services segment is engaged in the chartering out of Landing Craft Transportation, 
construction and rendering of services to CBNC. 
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There are no inter-segment revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. 
 
Financial information on the operation of the various business segments are as follows: 
 

 

December 31, 2010 
Mining Services and Others  

HMC 

CMC TMC RTN 
RTN/ 

LCSLC Others Total 
South 

Dinagat Manicani Taganaan Total 
Revenues (see Note 32) P=– P=– P=1,356,697 P=1,356,697 P=1,225,803 P=2,088,982 P=3,402,816 P=249,310 P=12,430 P=8,336,038 
Cost of sales – – 442,783 442,783 529,749 630,246 1,459,250 – – 3,062,028 
Cost of services – – – – – – – 141,067 – 141,067 
Shipping and loading costs – – 442,416 442,416 113,172 140,007 125,617 – – 821,212 
Excise taxes and royalties – – 94,969 94,969 193,064 167,119 68,056 – – 523,208 
Segment operating earnings P=– P=– P=376,529 P=376,529 P=389,818 P=1,151,610 P=1,749,893 P=108,243 P=12,430 P=3,788,523 

General and administrative P=2,373 P=14,701 P=200 P=17,274 P=41,668 P=102,779 P=91,221 P=4,601 P=218,189 P=475,732 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax  P=– P=– P=103,060 P=103,060 P=115,319 P=298,715 P=570,468 – (P=139,834) P=947,728 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity  
holders of the parent (P=3,813) (P=14,824) P=296,936 P=278,299 P=284,953 P=462,192 P=797,547 – (P=344,121) P=1,478,870 

Segment assets  P=14,878 P=1,304 P=233,244 P=249,426 P=1,112,504 P=4,088,682 P=5,816,936 P=– P=9,824,499 P=21,092,047 
Deferred income tax assets - net – – 145,804 145,804 51,118 28,363 – – 188,729 414,014 
Total assets P=14,878 P=1,304 P=379,048 P=395,230 P=1,163,622 P=4,117,045 P=5,816,936 P=– P=10,013,228 P=21,506,061 

Segment liabilities  P=22,754 P=30,723 P=99,789 P=153,266 P=256,887 P=1,575,291 P=438,674 P=– P=565,624 P=2,989,742 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net – – – – – – 427,391 – 13,379 440,770 
Total liabilities  P=22,754 P=30,723 P=99,789 P=153,266 P=256,887 P=1,575,291 P=866,065 P=– P=579,003 P=3,430,512 
 
Capital expenditures P=– P=– P=67,158 P=67,158 P=26,144 P=1,351,777 P=333,714 P=12,327 P=271,232 P=2,062,352 
 
Depreciation and depletion P=– P=– P=24,778 P=24,778 P=108,748 P=135,502 P=268,526 P=6,432 P=16,184 P=560,170 
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December 31, 2009 
Mining Services and Others 

Total 

HMC 

CMC TMC RTN RTN Others 
South 

Dinagat Manicani Taganaan Total 
Revenues (see Note 32) P=– P=– P=1,212,494 P=1,212,494 P=575,436 P=1,041,437 P=1,503,840 P=343,435 P=10,084 P=4,686,726 
Cost of sales – – 470,032 470,032 351,124 594,337 1,100,796 – – 2,516,289 
Cost of services – – – – – – – 240,899 – 240,899 
Excise taxes and royalties – – 84,874 84,874 90,631 83,315 30,077 – – 288,897 
Shipping and loading costs – – 324,758 324,758 79,634 85,802 61,769 – – 551,963 
Segment operating earnings P=– P=– P=332,830 P=332,830 P=54,047 P=277,983 P=311,198 P=102,536 P=10,084 P=1,088,678 

General and administrative P=13,603 P=5,360 P=1,633 P=20,596 P=39,502 P=136,672 P=90,036 P=– P=169,389 P=456,195 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax  P=– P=– P=63,620  P=63,620 (P=13,508) P=40,746 P=123,286 P=– (P=44,890) P=169,254 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity  
holders of the parent (P=10,498) (P=5,464) P=341,871 P=325,909 (P=3,622) P=82,068 P=185,841 P=– (P=287,309) P=302,887 

Segment assets  P=15,236 P=1,650 P=295,347 P=312,233 P=1,392,021 P=2,962,765 P=4,021,149 P=– P=7,395,740 P=16,083,908 
Deferred income tax assets - net – – 158,897 158,897 54,606 18,151 – – 41,396 273,050 
Total assets P=15,236 P=1,650 P=454,244 P=471,130 P=1,446,627 P=2,980,916 P=4,021,149 P=– P=7,437,136 P=16,356,958 

Segment liabilities  P=17,599 P=29,854 P=38,697 P=86,150 P=338,022 P=251,566 P=817,995 P=– P=109,267 P=1,603,000 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net – – – – – – 477,057 – 46 477,103 
Total liabilities  P=17,599 P=29,854 P=38,697 P=86,150 P=338,022 P=251,566 P=1,295,052 P=– P=109,313 P=2,080,103 

Capital expenditures P=– P=– P=10,117 P=10,117 P=19,142 P=71,762 P=135,888 P=– P=3,139 P=240,048 

Depreciation and depletion P=2,477 P=218 P=9,717 P=12,412 P=119,310 P=136,544 P=189,163 P=– P=12,955 P=470,384 
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December 31, 2008 
Mining Services and Others 

Total 

HMC 

CMC TMC RTN RTN Others 
South 

Dinagat Manicani Taganaan Total 
Revenues (see Note 32) P=56,260 P=– P=566,372 P=622,632 P=773,896 P=2,134,904 P=2,047,915 P=237,126 P=10,604 P=5,827,077 
Cost of sales 474,028 – 146,603 620,631 202,423 492,291 1,003,556 – – 2,318,901 
Cost of services – – – – – – – 121,489 – 121,489 
Excise taxes and royalties 7,453 – 82,703 90,156 121,889 222,329 40,963 – – 475,337 
Shipping and loading costs 12,196 – 122,268 134,464 24,233 82,753 58,210 – – 299,660 
Segment operating earnings (P=437,417) P=– P=214,798 (P=222,619) P=425,351 P=1,337,531 P=945,186 P=115,637 P=10,604 P=2,611,690 

General and administrative P=66,331 P=3,528 P=– 69,859 P=72,777 P=209,366 P=95,532 P=– P=165,577 P=613,111 

Provision for income tax  P=– P=– P=– P=– P=168,046 P=484,795 P=560,685 P=– (P=151,754) P=1,061,772 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (P=527,235) (P=3,241) (P=198,132) (P=728,608) P=390,459 P=951,252 P=986,330 P=– (P=1,420,225) P=179,208 

Segment assets P=19,746 P=2,128 P=584,841 P=606,715 P=2,318,126 P=3,360,619 P=4,539,810 P=– P=5,810,163 P=16,635,433 
Deferred tax assets - net – – 190,713 190,713 12,513 – – – – 203,226 
Total assets  P=19,746 P=2,128 P=775,554 P=797,428 P=2,330,639 P=3,360,619 P=4,539,810 P=– P=5,810,163 P=16,838,659 

Segment liabilities  P=20,708 P=29,562 P=14,321 P=64,591 P=238,783 P=453,597 P=828,257 P=– P=357,820 P=1,943,048 
Deferred tax liabilities - net – – – – – 564,171 57,495 – 63 621,729 
Total liabilities  P=20,708 P=29,562 P=14,321 P=64,591 P=238,783 P=1,017,768 P=885,752 P=– P=357,883 P=2,564,777 

Capital expenditures P=– P=– P=12,287 P=12,287 P=158,739 P=482,306 P=512,929 P=– P=7,270 P=1,173,531 

Depreciation and depletion P=6,129 P=– P=6,808 P=12,937 P=105,900 P=95,428 P=123,793 P=9,950 P=14,190 P=362,198 
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The Group has revenues from external customers as follows: 
 

Country of Domicile 2010 2009 2008 
China P=3,633,670 P=1,862,307 P=1,122,339 
Japan 2,678,550 1,455,947 3,565,318 
Local 2,023,818 1,014,954 891,690 
 P=8,336,038 P=4,333,208 P=5,579,347 

 
The revenue information above is based on the location of the customer. 
 
Revenue from two customers amounted to P=4,766.9 million, P=2,470.1 million and 
P=4,457.0 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, arising from sale of ores. 
 
The Group has non-current assets consisting of property and equipment and investment property 
located in the Parent Company’s country of domicile amounting to P=3,813.5 million and 
P=2,216.7 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
 









NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule A. Marketable Securities - (Current Marketable Equity Securities and Other Short-term Cash Investments)

December 31, 2010

Number of Value Based

Shares or Amount on Market

Principal Shown in the Quotations at Income

Amount of Bonds Statement of End of Reporting Received

and Notes Financial Position Date and Accrued

Short-term Cash Investments

Union Bank Corporation - short-term cash investments P 2,831,520              - P 2,831,520              - P 22,753                    

Security Bank - short-term cash investments 419,515                  - - 419,515                  - - 4,864                      

Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation  - short-term cash investments 1,397                      - - 1,397                      - - 34                            

Bank of the Philippine Islands - short-term cash investments 1,597,140              - - 1,597,140              - - 8,862                      

BNP Paribas - short-term cash investments 108,908                  - - 108,908                  - - 908                          

P 4,958,480              - 4,958,480              37,420                    

Name of Issuing Entity and

Description of Each Issue

EXHIBIT A

(Php - In Thousands)



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule B.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Deductions

Beginning Amount Amount Ending

Name and Designation of Debtor Balance Additions Collected Written-Off Current Non Current Balance

-                          

There are no receivables from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal Stockholders -                          

other than subject to usual terms, for ordinary travel and expense advances, and for other such items -                          

arising in the ordinary course of business, and eliminated in consolidation. -                          

-                          

-                          

P -                          P -                          P -                          P -                          P -                          P -                          P -                          

 Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal 

Stockholders (Other than Affiliates) 

EXHIBIT B



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

ScheduleC. Non-current Marketable Equity Securities, Other Long-term Investments, and Other Investments

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

BEGINNING BALANCE ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS ENDING BALANCE

Number Number

Shares Equity in Shares

of Principal Amount in Earnings (Losses) Distribution of of Principal Amount in

Name of Issuing Entity and Amount of Pesos of Investees Earnings by Amount of Pesos

Description of Investment Bonds and Notes (In Thousands) for the Period Others Investees Others Bonds and Notes (In Thousands)

Investment in an Associate

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation 921,375,000         (6,412)                   4,443,075            133,790               921,375,000        4,570,453            

AFS Investments - Noncurrent

Investment in Coral Bay Nickel Corporation 58,749,999           724,410               -                             58,749,999          724,410               114,750              

Security Land Corporation 3,056,198             126,758               3,056,198            126,758               

Manila Golf and Country Club 1                             18,000                  8,500                    1                            26,500                  

Investment in Fund -                              -                             12,000                  8,709,712            12,000                  

Wack-Wack Golf and Country Club 1                             9,000                    2,000                    1                            11,000                  

Fixed Bond - PLDT 2,386                    (121)                      -                             2,265                    

Security Bank Corporation 23,034                   1,244                    731                       23,034                  1,975                    

Security Bank Corporation 20,250                   1,094                    642                       20,250                  1,736                    

Golf Club Shares 2                             300                       -                             2                            300                       

PLDT 1                             217                       1                            217                       

Subtotal 883,408               - -                             - 23,231                  -  - -                             - 521                       - 907,161               

Total 883,408               - (6,412)                   - 4,466,306            -  - -                             - 134,311               - 5,477,614            

EXHIBIT C

Dividends

Received/

Accrued from

Investments

Not Accounted

for by the

Equity Method

Total 883,408               - (6,412)                   - 4,466,306            -  - -                             - 134,311               - 5,477,614            

Dividends

Received/

Accrued from

Investments

Not Accounted

for by the

Equity Method



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule D. Indebtedness of Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates

December 31, 2010

Related Parties

Coral Bay Nickel Corporation P 524,950                  P 662,561                  

P 524,950                  P 662,561                  

Name of Affiliate

EXHIBIT D

Ending

Balance

Beginning 

Balance



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule E. Intangible Assets - Other Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Deductions

Charged to Charged to Other Changes-

Beginning Additions Costs Other Additions Ending

Description Balance At Cost and Expenses Accounts (Deductions) Balance

Deferred mine exploration costs - net* P 46,971             P 32,305             P -                       P -                       P -                       P 79,276             

-                       

P 46,971             P 32,305             P -                       P -                       P -                       P 79,276             

* Disclosed in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EXHIBIT E



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule F. Long-term Debt

December 31, 2010

Amount Amount Amount

Name of Issuer and Authorized by Shown as Shown as

Type of Obligation Indenture Current Long-term Remarks

Long-term Debt

Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. P 47,825                   P 272,413                 A

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation 30,600                   1,193,413              B

Deferred Rent Income

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation -                              83,799                   C

Total P 78,425                   P 1,549,625              

Remarks:

A Interest rate is based on prevailing 180-day British Banker Association London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus two percent (2%) spread; 

EXHIBIT F

In Thousands 

A Interest rate is based on prevailing 180-day British Banker Association London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus two percent (2%) spread; 

principal is payable in semi-annual installments of $875,000, starting on October 10, 2011 up to April 10, 2031

B Interest rate is based on prevailing 180-day LIBOR plus two percent (2%) spread; principal is payable in semi-annual installments of 

$875,000, payable in semi-annual installments in August and February until February 28,2018.

C The obligation is covered by an Option Agreement which shall terminate upon finalization of lease agreement. The lease agreement has yet to 

be finalized



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule G Indebtedness to Affiliates and Related Parties (Long-term Loans from Related Companies)

December 31, 2010

Long-term Debt

Sumitomo Metal Mining Co. P 387,877                  P 320,238                  

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation -                               1,224,013              

Deferred Rent Income

Taganito HPAL Nickel Corporation -                               83,799                    

P 387,877                  P 1,628,050              

EXHIBIT G

In Thousands

Name of Affiliate

Ending

Balance

Beginning 

Balance



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule H Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

December 31, 2010

Amount Owned by

Total Amount the Company for

Guaranteed and which Statement Nature of

Outstanding is Filed Guarantee

P P

 - Not applicable -

P -                        P -                        

Statement is Filed

Title of Issue

of Each Class

of Securities

Guaranteed

EXHIBIT H

Name of Issuing Entity

of Securities Guaranteed

by the Company for which



NICKEL ASIA CORPORATION

Schedule I Capital Stock

December 31, 2010

Number of

Shares Reserved Number of Shares Held By

Number of for Options,

Number of Shares Issued Warrants, Directors,

Shares and Conversions, and Officers and

Title of Issue Authorized Outstanding Other Rights Affiliates Employees Others

Common Stock 1,585,600,000    1,339,831,828    12,000,000          342,182,047       635,178,023       362,471,758       

Preferred Stock 720,000,000       720,000,000       -                             720,000,000       -                             -                             

Significant changes since the date of the last balance sheet filed:

Common Stock 

1. Increase in authorized capital stock - from  500,000,000 shares  to 1,585,600,000 shares 

EXHIBIT I

1. Increase in authorized capital stock - from  500,000,000 shares  to 1,585,600,000 shares 

2. Reduction of the par value of all common stock from 1.00 to 0.50 per share to effectuate a two-for-one stock split of its shares.  

   The split resulted to an additional 478,811,514 common shares of stock outstanding

3. Declaration of stock dividends amounting to 150,000,000 shares 

4. Issuance of common stock of 232,208,800

Preferred Stock 

1. Creation and issuance of 720.0 million preferred shares with a par value of 0.01 per share
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